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Versant Corporation

55 Shreliue Drive Suite 45U

Redwood City Cahorida 94065 USA

\TERSANT
NOTICE OF 2012 ANNUAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS

You are cordially invited to attend the 2U2Annua1 Meet$ng of Shareholders of Versan Corporation the Company which

will be held at the following date time and location

Date August 24 2012

Time 1000 a.m Pacific Daylight Time

Location Versant U.S Corporate Headquarters

255 Shoreline DriveSuite 450

Redwood City California 94065 USA

Items of business At the meeting we will ask you and our other shareholders to consider and vote on the following

thattth

To elect six directors of the Company each to serve until the next Annual Meeting of Shareholders or

until thk siç9çssors
have been elected The Companys BQard of Directors intends to present Uday

B1laiy Anthony Bettthóotrt Robert BtànuziezWi1liath Henry Delevati i4erbert May and Bernhard

Woebker as nominees $r electiod to thtJoard of Directors

To ratify the selection of Grant Thornton LLP as our independent registered public accounting firm for the

fiscal year ending October 31 2012

To transact such other business as may properly cOme before the meeting or any adjournment of the

meeting

Record Date July 2012 the Record Date

Proxy Voting You may vote on these matters in person or by proxy Whether or not you plan to attend the meeting we

ask that you please complete sign and return the enclosed proxy card promptly in the enclosed addressed

postage-paid envelope so that your shares will be represented and voted at the meeting in accordance

with your wishes

We look forward to seeing you at the meeting

By Order of the Board of Directors

Is Jerry Wong

Jerr Wong

Secretary

July 92012
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VERSANT CORPORATION

PROXY STATEMENT FOR THE 2012 ANNUAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS

The Board of Directors the Board of Directors or the Board of Versant Corporation Versant or the Company is

asking for your proxy for use at the Companys 2012 Annual Meeting of Shareholders the Annual Meeting and at any

adjournment of the Annual Meeting

This proxy statement Proxy Statement and the enclosed Notice of 2012 Annual Meeting of Shareholders form of proxy

card and the Companys Annual Report to Shareholders for the fiscal year ended October 31 2011 were first mailed or

delivered to shareholders on or about July 12 2012

NOTICE OF INTERNET AVAILABILITY OF PROXY MATERIALS

Important Notice Regarding the Availability of Proxy Materials for the Annual Shareholder Meeting to Be Held on

August 24 2012 The Notice of the Annual Meeting this Proxy Statement Versants Annual Report to Shareholders for the

fiscal year ended October 31 2011 and Versants report on Form 10-K as amended by Form 10-KIA for its fiscal
year ended

October 31 2011 are available on the internet at http//shareowner.mobular.æetlshàreowner/vsnt

INFORMATION ABOUT THE ANNUAL MEETING VOTING AND PROXIES

Why am receiving these materials

As shareholder you have been sent the enclosed
proxy materials on behalf of our Board of Directors to solicit your vote at

Versants 2012 Annual Meeting You are invited to attend the Annual Meeting in person or by proxy and are requested to

consider and vote on the matters described in this Proxy Statement

When and where will the Annual Meeting be held

The Annual Meeting will be held at Versants principal executive offices at 255 Shoreline Drive Suite 450 Redwood City

California 94065 USA at 1000 a.m Pacific Daylight Time on Friday August 24 2012 Our telephone number at that

location is 650 232-2400 If you would like directions to attend the Annual Meeting in person please go to http//

www.versant.com/en_US/aboutus/contactinfo or call Investor Relations at 650 232-2416

What information is contained in this Proxy Statement

This Proxy Statement provides an explanation of the proposals to be voted on at the Annual Meeting and information about

the voting process This Proxy Statement also contains information about our Board of Directors our corporate governance

and information about the compensation of our directors and named executive officers

What proposals will be voted on at the Annual Meeting
You will be voting on

The election of directors

proposal to ratify the appointment of Grant Thornton LLP as our independent registered public accounting firm for

the fiscal year ending October 31 2012 and

Any other business that may properly come before the meeting

What are the recommendations of the Board of Directors

Our Board of Directors recommends that you vote your shares at the Annual Meeting

For the election of each of the nominees to the Board of Directors and

For the ratification of the appointment of Grant Thornton LLP as our independent registered public accounting firm

for the fiscal year ending October 31 2012

Which Shareholders are entitled to vole at the Annual Meeting
You will have one vote for each outstanding share of our common stock that you Owned as of the close of business on the

Record Date of July 2012 including shares held directly in yonr name and shares held for you as the beneficial owner in

street name through brokerage firm bank or other nominee



What is the difference between holding shares directly as shareholder of record compared to holding shares as

beneficial owner in street name
Most of our shareholders hold their shares as beneficial owner through brokerage firm bank or other nominee As

summarized below there are some differences between shares held of recotd and those owned beneficially

Shareholder of Record If on the Record Date your shares were registered directly in your name with our transfer

agent Computershare formerly BNY Mellon Shareowner Services then you are considered the shareholder of

record As shareholder of record you may vote in person at the Annual Meeting or vote by proxy

Beneficial Owner If on the Record Date your shares were held on your behalf in an account with brokerage firm

bank or other nominee then you are considered the beneficial owner of those shares held in street name If you are

beneficial owner then these proxy materials are being forwarded to you by the organization that is considered the

shareholder of record of your shares As beneficial owner you have the right to direct the nominee who is the

holder of record of shares you beneficially own on how to vote the shares held in your account Your nominee has

enclosed or provided voting instructions for you to use in directing it on how to vote your shares Please note that as

beneficial owner you may not vote your
shares in

person at the Annual Meeting unless you request and obtain

valid proxy from the organization that holds your shares and is the shareholder of record giving you the right to vote

the shares at the Annual Meeting

How many votes can be cast by all shareholders

At the close of business on July 2012 the Record Date the Company had 2750899 shares of Common Stock

outstanding and entitled to vote Each share is entitled to one vote There is no cumulative voting for the election of

directors

How many shares must be present to conduct business at the Annual Meeting

majority of our common shares outstanding on the Record Date must be represented in person or by proxy at the Annual

Meeting in order to conduct business This majority is called quorum Shareholders are represented at the Annual Meeting

either through attending the Annual Meeting in person or by timely returning their proxy card Shareholders who timely

return proxy but withhold vote or who vote to Abstain on any proposal and broker non-votes described below will

each be counted in determining whether quorum of shareholders is present at the Annual Meeting

How many votes are required to elect directors

The directors are elected by plurality of the votes cast If quorum is present at the Annual Meeting the six nominees for

election to the Board of Directors who receive the highest number of Forvotes of the shares entitled to vote will be

elected to the Board of Directors Votes against nominee and votes withheld will thus not affect this vote

How many votes are required to ratify the appointment of Grant Thornton LLP
The approval of the proposal to ratify the appointment of Grant Thornton LLP as our independent registered public

accounting firm for our 2012 fiscal year requires the affirmative Forvote of majority of the shares entitled to vote and

represented and voting at the Annual Meeting These Forvotes must.also constitute at least majority of the required

quorum If your shares are represented at the Annual Meeting and you abstain from voting on this proposal your shares will

be counted as present for purposes of establishing quorum and the abstention will have the same effect as vote

Against this proposal

What happens if there are not enough shares represented at the Annual Meeting to constitute quorum
In the event that the required vote Forany proposal is not received by the date of the Annual Meeting or if an insufficient

number of shares are represented at the Annual Meeting to constitute quorum we may propose one or more adjournments

of the Annual Meeting to permit further solicitations ofproxies Any adjournment would require the affirmative vote of the

majority of the shares present in
person or represented by proxy at the Annual Meeting and entitled to vote Accordingly

we strongly encourage you to vote your shares before the Annual Meeting by signing and returning your proxy by

mail so that your shares will be represented and voted at the Annual Meeting if you cannot attend in person



How do vote my shares

You may vote by mail by proxy card or by attending the Annual Meeting and voting in person

Voting by mail You may vote by marking signing and dating the enclosed proxy card and returning it in the

provided postage-paid envelope The proxy card should be mailed to Shareowner Services RU Box 3550
South Hackensack NJ 07606-9250

Voting in person You may vote by attending the Annual Meeting and voting in person Please note that if you

hold your shares in street name i.e you are beneficial owner then you must bring proxy from your broker

bank or other nominee who is the holder of record of your shares confirming your beneficial ownership of your

shares and authorizing you to vote them at the Annual Meeting

What if do not provide specific voting instructions

Abstentions from any vote and broker non-votes can have the effect of preventing approval of proposal such as the

proposal to ratii the appointment of Grant Thornton LLP where the number of Forvotes although majority of the

votes cast does not constitute majority of the required quorum

When you are Shareholder of Record If you sign and return valid proxy in the form of the proxy card

accompanying this Proxy Statement but do not provide instructions as to how your shares should be voted then

all your shares will be voted in accordance with the recommendations of the Board of Directors on all the

proposals described in this Proxy Statement If you vote on any specific proposal on your proxy card your
shares will be voted in accordance with your selection on that proposal

When you are Beneficial Owner If you hold your shares in street name and do not give proxy to your

broker or other nominee with instructions as to how to vote your shares then the broker who is the shareholder

of record generally has discretionary authority to vote those shares only in routine matters such as the

ratification of auditors However banks and brokers do not have discretionary authority to vote on their clients

behalf on non-routine proposals such as the election of directors Your broker or other nominee is not able to

vote on your behalf in any director election unless you provide the broker or nominee with specific voting

instructions If you do not give proxy to your broker bank or other nominee with instructions as to how to

vote your shares on non-routine proposal then your shares will be considered broker non-votes which

will be counted as present for purposes of establishing quorum but will not be counted as affirmative votes on

such non-routine proposal

What jf submitted proxy but want to change my vote

You may revoke your proxy prior to the Annual Meeting or at the Annual Meeting prior to the vote You may change

your vote by timely delivering new later dated valid proxy that is received by the Secretary before the vote is

taken Your proxy may be revoked by sending written notice to the Secretary of Versant and stating that the proxy
is revoked or by attending the Annual Meeting and voting in person Please note that if you are beneficial owner

you may not vote your shares in person at the Annual Meeting unless you request and obtain valid proxy from the

organization that holds your shares as the shareholder of record giving you the right to vote the shares at the Annual

Meeting

Any written notice of revocation or of subsequent replacement proxy should be delivered to the following address

Versant Corporation

Attention Secretary

255 Shoreline Drive Suite 450

Redwood City CA 94065

or hand-delivered to the Secretary of Versant at or before the taking of the vote at the Annual Meeting

Where can find the results of the voting at the Annual Meeting
The inspector of elections appointed for the Annual Meeting Computershare formerly BNY Mellon Shareowner Services

will separately tabulate the relevant affirmative and negative votes abstentions and broker non-votes for each proposal

Versant will announce the results of the shareholder votes taken in report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and

Exchange Commission to be filed promptly after the Annual Meeting



Who will pay for the solicitation ofproxies

We will bear the costs of soliciting the proxies for the Annual Meeting Following the original mailing of proxy cards this

Proxy Statement and other soliciting materials we may solicit proxies by mail telephone facsimile email or in person We

will ask brokers nominees and other record holders of our common stock to forward copies of the proxy materials to beneficial

owners and request authority for the exercise of proxies We will reimburse the record holders for their reasonable expenses

upon request We have also engaged proxy solicitation firm to help solicit proxies to be voted at the Annual Meeting for

fee of approximately $8000 plus certain out-of-pocket and variable charges that may be incurred

How do contact Versant transfer agent to update my records or inquire about lost stock certificate

Our transfer agent Computershare formerly BNY Mellon Shareowner Services can be contacted at the following number

877 261-9273 You can find additional information by visiting their website at www.cpushareownerservices.com

You may vote on the matters described in this Proxy Statement in person or by proxy Whether or not you plan to

attend the Annual Meeting in person we ask that you please complete sign and return the enclosed proxy card

promptly in the enclosed addressed postage-paid envelope so that your shares will be represented and voted at the

Annual Meeting in accordance with your wishes

BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Dfrectors Standing for Election

Bernhard Woebker is Versants President and ChiefExecutive Officer member of Versants Board of Directors and the

Managing Director of the Companys subsidiary Versant GmbH He has served as director of the Company since June 2005

and was previously director of the Company from June 1999 until the Companys merger with Poet Holdings Inc in

March 2004 Mr Woebker has been consultant to various investment banking and venture capital firms in Europe and the

United States since late 1999 From January 1999 until July 2001 he served as Executive Vice President of the Company and

from March 1997 until January 1999 he served as the Companys Vice President and General Manager in Europe From 1994 to

March 1997 he was the President of Versant Object Technology GmbH an independently-owned distributorship for Versant

products in Europe which was acquired by Versant in March 1997 From 1976 until 1994 Mr Woebker held variety of

positions in Germany and the United States with Nixdorf Computer AG Nixdorf Computer Engineering Corp and Siemens

Nixdorf Informationssysteme AG all information technology companies including the position of President and CEO of

Nixdorf Computer Engineering Corp in Boston Massachusetts from 1986 to 1989 Mr Woebker has also served as Senior

Vice President of Pyramid Technology Corp in Europe and as Vice President of NeXT Computer Inc in Europe From March

2010 to September 2010 Mr Woebker served on the board of directors of Intershop Communications AG publicly held

German company listed in Germany that provides software solutions for ecommerce applications Mr Woebker received

Masters of Science degree in Mathematics and Computer Science from the University of Hannover

Uday Bellary has served as director of Versant since July 2003 From February 2010 to the present Mr Bellary has served as

the Chief Financial Officer of Green Volts Inc privately held company that develops and commercializes concentrating

photovoltaic CPV technology for solar energy applications From May 2007 to December 2009 Mr Bellary served as

President Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer of Wortal Inc and currently serves as member of its Board of

Directors and its Secretary Wortal Inc is privately-held company that provided consumers with value-added information on

consumer and community-related topics through community-oriented portals accessible from the Internet and mobile

platforms Wortal sold its intellectual property assets to corporate acquirer in December 2011 and thereupon ceased active

business operations He also previously served as the Chief Financial Officer of Atrica Inc privately held optical Ethernet

company on full-time basis from November 2005 to January 2008 when Atrica was sold to Nokia Siemens Networks and on

part-time basis between April 2005 and October 2005 Mr Bellary also served as part time Executive Vice President

Finance Administration and Operations and ChiefFinancial Officer of VL Inc privately held VoIP services company and as

member of its board of directors from September 2003 to November 2005 and remained an advisor until 2007 From

February 2000 to August 2003 he served as the Senior Vice President Finance Administration and Chief Financial Officer

of Metro Optix Inc privately held provider of optical networking equipment which to satisfy its liabilities disposed of its

intellectual property and other assets to Xtera Communications and ceased operations in August of 2003 Since July 2004

Mr Bellary has also been member of the board of directors of Backweb Technologies Ltd publicly held provider of

software that enables mobile workers to access web-based applications that is no longer reporting company under the

Securities Exchange Act of 1934 Mr Bellary received B.S degree in Finance Accounting and Economics from Kamatak

University and DMA degree in Finance from the University of Bombay India Mr Bellary is Certified Public Accountant

and Chartered Accountant

Anthony Bettencourt joined the Board of Directors on January 2012 From November 2010 to the present Mr Bettencourt

has served as the President Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board of Coverity Inc privately held company that

develops and markets development testing solutions that assist software developers in detecting and fixing quality and security



problems Prior to joining Coverity in 2010 Mr Bettencourt served as the Chief Executive Officer of Verity Inc leader in

enterprise search and led the company through its acquisition by Autonomy Corporation plc in 2005 After Veritys acquisition

by Autonomy Mr Bettencourt served as Senior Vice President of Special Projects at Autonomy from 2006 to 2009 during

which time he also served successively as CEO of several Autonomy subsidiaries Mr Bettencourt currently serves as the non-

executive chairman of the board of directors of Blinkx Inc an Internet video search engine company whose stock trades on

the AIM market of the London Stock Exchange and also serves as member of the board of directors of Proofpoint Inc

security-as-a-service company listed on the Nasdaq stock market Mr Bettencourt also serves on the board of directors of

several privately held companies Mr Bettencourt holds B.A in English from Santa Clara University

Robert Brammer joined the Board of Directors on November 28 2011 He is the President and CEO of Brammer Technology

LLC consulting firm From July 2004 to July 2011 Dr Brammer was employed by Northrop Grumman Information

Systems division of Northrop Grumman Corporation that provides advanced information enterprise solutions to government

and civilian customers where he most recently served as Vice-President for Advanced Technology and CTO Previous to that

Dr Brammer was Vice President and ChiefTechnology Officer at TASC Inc privately held company formerly subsidiary

of Northrop Grumman that provides advanced systems engineering integration and decision-support services to agencies of

the federal government Dr Brammer received Ph.D in Mathematics from the University of Maryland College Park and

B.S in Mathematics from the University of Michigan

William Henry Delevati has been the Chairman of the Bonrd since June 2005 and has served as director of the Company
since October 1999 Mr Delevati has also served as consultant to various companies located in the Silicon Valleyarea since

April 2000 From October 1999 to April 2000 Mr Delevati served as the Senior Vice President Information Technology and

Chief Information Officer of Aspect Communications Corporation provider of customer call center solutions From

November 1995 to April 1999 he served as Vice President of Worldwide Information Services for Quantum Corporation

storage device company From April 1995 to November 1995 he was the Chief Information Officer Senior Vice President of

MIS for Conner Peripherals storage device company From September 1994 to April 1995 he was the ChiefInformation

Officer Vice President of Worldwide MIS for Borland Corporation software tOols company From September 1993 to

September 1994 he was the Chief Information Officer Vice President of Worldwide MIS for Logitech computer peripheral

device company From December 1987 to September 1993 he was the Director of Application Development and Global

Information Resources for Sun Microsystems Inc Mr Delevati received Bachelor of Science degree in Computer Science

from UC Berkeley and an MBA from Arizona State University

Dr Herbert May has served as director of the Company since March 2004 From November 2000 to March 2004 he served

as Chairman of the board of directors of Poet Holdings Inc company that merged with Versant in March 2004 In addition

Dr May served as member of both the Audit and Compensation Committees of Poet Holdings Inc Dr May has held several

leading positions at Alcatel in both Stuttgart and Paris His last position at Alcatel was Head of the Office of Communication

Division From February 1994 to September 1995 Dr May took leading role as CEO in establishing DeTeSystems German

wholly owned subsidiary of Deutsche Telekom AG that provides system solutions for telecommunications services to

significant accounts in Germany In 1995 he was appointed to the Board of Management of Deutsche Telekom AG where he

was responsible for large business customers multimedia and systems solutions until May 1998 Currently Dr May manages

his own consulting and investment company and is member of the advisory boards of several IT and multimedia companies

From June 2000 to December 2008 he served on the board of directors of InfoVista publicly held French company that

provides software products that monitor and analyze the performance of telecommunications and IT infrastructures Since

October 2010 Dr May has also served as chairman of the Supervisory Board of Intershop Communications AG publicly held

German company listed in Germany that provides software solutions for ecommerce applications

Board Leadership Structure

Versants Board of Directors is currently composed of six directors five Outside Directors and Bernhard Woebker the

Companys President and Chief Executive Officer William Henry Delevati an Outside Director serves as Chairman of the

Board of Directors In addition the Chairman of each Versant Board Committee that has chairperson is also an Outside

Director and different Outside Directors currently serve as chairmen of the Audit Compensation and Nominating Committees

of the Board Mr Woebker does not serve on the Audit or Compensation Committees of the Board nor does he chair any Board

Committee The Board believes that the existing leadership structure of the Board and its Committees is appropriate based on

the size of the Board and the Companys current circumstances The Board takes an active role in its oversight function and

periodically holds executive sessions of Board and Board committee meetings to enable and encourage candid discussions of

issues The Board administers its oversight function in part by having key authority roles on various Board committees held

by different Outside Directors and the Board believes that this shared leadership practice encourages greater interest and

participation in risk oversight by all members of the Board



Board of Directors Meetings and Committees

During fiscal 2011 the Board held eleven meetings including telephonic meetings The Board has established an Audit

Committee Compensation Committee Nominating Committee an Employee Option Committee Stock Buy-Back

Committee and Strategic Directions Committee The Committees are responsible to the full Board No director attended

fewer than 75% of the aggregate of the total number of meetings of the Board and the total number of meetings held by all

committees of the Board on which he served during the periods that he served The Company strongly encourages the

members of the Board to attend the Companys Annual Meeting Bernhard Woebker our Chief Executive Officer attended our

2011 Annual Meeting of Shareholders

The table below provides the membership for each of the Committees and the number of meetings held during the fiscal year

Strategic
Audit Compensation Nominating Directions

Committee Committee Committee Committee

Bernhard Woebker1

Uday Bellary

Anthony Bettencourt2

Robert Brammer3

William Henry Delevati5

HerbertMay

Number of Meetings in Fiscal 2011

Chair of the Committee

Mr Woebker resigned from the audit committee when he became CEO in March 2011

Mr Bettencourt joined the Board of Directors January 2012 and was appointed to the Strategic Directions Committee on

February 21 2012

Dr Brammer joined the Board of Directors November 28 2011

The Strategic Directions Committee was formed in July 2011

Mr Delevati resigned from the Strategic Directions Committee on February 21 2012

The Employee Option Committee and Stock Buy-Back Committee did not meet in fiscal 2011

Audit Committee Messrs Bellary Delevati and May are the current members of the Audit Committee Messrs Bellary

Delevati and May served as such throughout fiscal 2011 and Mr Woebker who joined the committee in May 2010 resigned

from the committee when he became CEO of the Company Mr Bellary serves as the Chairman of the Audit Committee and

was appointed to that position in July 2003 The Board has determined that Mr Bellary is the audit committee financial

expert as defined by the rules of the United States Securities and Exchange Commission the SEC The Audit Committee

met eight times during fiscal 2011 including telephonic meetings The principal responsibilities of the AUdit Committee are

to monitor the periodic reviews of the adequacy of the accounting and financial reporting processes and systems of

internal control that are conducted by the Companys independent auditors and the Companys financial and senior

management

to facilitate communication among the Companys independent registered public accounting firmthe Companys

financial and senior management and the Board

to oversee the Companys accounting and financial reporting processes and the audit of the Companys financial

statements and

to oversee the Companys relationship with its independent registered public accounting firm and evaluate that firms

independence and performance

The Board has adopted written charter for the Audit Committee The Audit Committees charter is available on the Investor

Relations section of our website at http//www.versant.comlcompany/Investor Relations.aspx Each current member of the

Audit Committee meets the independence and other requirements to serve on our Audit Committee under applicable securities

laws and the rules of the SEC and listing standards of The NASDAQ Stock Market



Compensation Committee Messrs Bellary Delevati and May are the current members of the Compensation Committee and

served as such throughout fiscal 2011 Dr May serves as the Chairman of the Compensation Committee and was appointed to

that position in March 2005 Each member of the Compensation Committee is an outside director as defined under Section

162m of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 as amended the Code and non-employee director as defined in

Rule 6b-3 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended During fiscal 2011 the Compensation Committee met

seven times including telephonic meetings The principal responsibilities of the Compensation Committee are

to review the performance of the Companys executive officers including its Chief Executive Officer and other

executive officers and determine or recommend to the Board their compensation including salary bonus awards and

major perquisites

to review and approve compensation ranges for non-officer employees

to review and submit to the Board for its approval any major compensation and benefits programs and plans such as

stock option restricted stock unit stock purchase 401k and bonus plans and amendments thereto

to administer the Companys 2005 Equity Incentive Plan and approve and authorize option grants and restricted stock

unit awards pursuant thereto though the Board of Directors also administers such plans with respect to awards to

personnel other than executive officers and administer outstanding options granted under the Companys now-

expired 1996 Equity Incentive Plan and

to administer the Companys 2005 Employee Stock Purchase Plan

The Compensation Committee does not currently have written charter

Nominating Committee Messrs Bellary Delevati and May are the current members of the Nominating Committee and

served as such throughout fiscal 2011 Mr Delevati serves as the Chairman of the Nominating Committee and was appointed

to that position in March 2005 The Nominating Committee met four times including telephonic meetings in fiscal 2011 The

principal responsibilities of the Nominating Committee are as follows

making recommendations to the Board regarding the structure and composition of the Board and its committees and

identifying considering and recommending candidates for membership on the Board

The Nominating Committee does not currently have written charter

Employee Option Committee Mr Delevati is the sole current member of the Employee Option Committee which was

established in March 2006 and has served on the committee since its inception The Employee Option Committee did not meet

or act by written consent during fiscal 2011 The principal responsibilities of the Employee Option Committee are as follows

making awards of stock options under the 2005 Equity Incentive Plan on standard plan terms to employees who are

not executive officers of the Company and to consultants of the Company provided the option grant does not exceed

maximum of 2000 shares per award and

reporting option grants that it makes to the Board

The Employee Option Committee does not currently have written charter

Stock Buy-Back Committee Messrs Bellary and May are the current members of the Stock Buy-Back Committee which was

established on December 2008 and have served on the committee since its inception The Stock Buy-Back Committee was

formed after the close of fiscal 2008 and did not meet or act by written consent during fiscal 2011 The principal

responsibilities of the Stock Buy-Back Committee were to establish pricing and other parameters of Common Stock repurchase

programs approved by the Board of Directors

The Stock Buy-Back Committee does not have formal charter

The Strategic Directions Committee Messrs Bellary Bettencourt and May are the current members of the Strategic Directions

Committee which was established in July 2011 Mr Delevati served on the committee from its inception through February 21

2012 when he resigned and Mr Bettencourt joined the committee The principal responsibilities of the Strategic Directions

Committee are to evaluate and make recommendations to the Board with respect to strategic directions for the Company and

any material or strategic transactions associated with any such new strategic directions If the Board or the Strategic Directions

Committee determines that such transaction involves material economic conflict of interest for director the Strategic

Directions Committee may also supervise and be required to approve such transaction The Strategic Directions Committee met

once in fiscal 2011

The Strategic Directions Committee does not currently have formal charter



Compensation of Directors

The following table sets forth compensation earned by the Companys Outside Directors as defined below during fiscal year

2011

Summary Compensation Table Directors

Fees Earned or Option

Name Paid in Cash Awards Total

Bernhard Woebker6 8967 28104 37071

UdayBellary 25000 30021 55021

Anthony Bettencourt2

Robert Brammer3

William Henry Delevati 25000 30021 55021

HerbertMay 25000 30021 55021

JochenWitte56 12592 12592

Mr Woebker served as an Outside Director until March 10 2011 when he became Chief Executive Officer of the Company
These fees represent the compensation he received as an Outside Director in fiscal 2011 The share-based compensation

expense relates to those option awards granted from the 2005 Directors Stock Option Plan he received as an outside

director As stated in note below Mr Woebkers compensation for his services as an employee are set forth elsewhere in

this Proxy Statement under the heading Executive Compensation

Mr Bettencourt joined the Board of Directors in January 2012 and received no compensation in fiscal 2011

Dr Brammer joined the Board of Directors in November 2011 and received no compensation in fiscal 2011

Amounts reflect the share-based compensation expense recognized in fiscal 2011 by the Company for financial statement

reporting purposes For discussion of valuation assumptions see Note to the consolidated financial statements included

in Versants annual report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended October 31 2011 filed with the SEC on January 30
2012 under the heading Share Based Compensation

In fiscal 2011 Jochen Witte served as an Outside Director from March 10 2011 when he resigned as CEO until November

28 2011 during which time he received directors fees As stated in note below Mr Wittes compensation for his services

in the capacity of an employee are set forth elsewhere in this Proxy Statement under the heading Executive

Compensation Mr Witte was granted no option awards under the 2005 Directors Stock Option Plan

Compensation for Messrs Woebker and Witte Directors who also served as Executive Officers in fiscal year 2011 is also

included in the Summary of Compensation Executive Officers table under the heading Executive Compensation in this

Proxy Statement

Our directors who are not employees of Versant or any of its parents subsidiaries or affiliates Outside Directors receive

combination of stock options and cash compensation in the form of director fees for serving on our Board Any director who is

also Company employee does not receive board fees or equity for his Board service In fiscal 2011 Mr Woebker served as an

Outside Director until March 2011 when he became CEO of the Company Mr Woebker received cash compensation for his

services as an Outside Director through March 2011 Mr Witte served as the Companys CEO until March 2011 when he

resigned from that position Mr Witte remained on the Board of Directors until November 28 2011 and received cash

compensation for his services as director from March 2011 through November 2011 but was not granted any stock options

under the 2005 Directors Stock Option Plan

Cash Compensation In fiscal 2011 Versant paid its Outside Directors cash compensation for their services as directors at

rate of $25000 per year The amount of compensation paid by Versant to its Outside Directors is determined by Versants

Board or committee of the Board authorized to make such determination

Equity Compensation Outside Directors have previously been granted stock options under Versants 1996 Directors Stock

Option Plan the 1996 Directors Plan and since August 2005 have received stock options under Versants 2005 Directors

Stock Option Plan the 2005 Directors Plan which replaced the 1996 Directors Plan as of August 22 2005 The purpose of

the 2005 Directors Plan is to align the Outside Directors interests with the interests of the Companys shareholders and to

provide Outside Directors an opportunity to purchase shares of Versant Common Stock
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Under the terms of the 2005 Directors Plan each Outside Director who first becomes member of the Board after August 22

2005 receives an option to purchase 4000 shares of Versant Common Stock upon initially joining the Board an Initial

Grant and ii for so long as he or she continues to serve on the Board as an Outside Director on each successive August 22

thereafter each such August 22 Succeeding Grant Date he or she will receive an additional option to purchase 4000

shares of Versant Common Stock Succeeding Grant except that if such Outside Director has not been member of the

Board for the entire one-year period immediately preceding such Succeeding Grant Date then the number of shares subject to

the Succeeding Grant received by the Outside Director on that Succeeding Grant Date are reduced and prorated in proportion to

the time during which such Otitside Director served on the Board during such one-year period

The following stock option grants have been made under the 2005 Directors Plan as of October 31 2011

Number of Shares Grant Date Exercise

Granted to Outside Fair Value Priee

Directors as Group per share per share

Date of Grants

August 22 2005 3784 2.86 4.10

August22 2006 8000 5.23 6.13

August 22 2007 15716 18.11 22.00

August 22 2008 16000 22.19 30.50

August 22 2009 16000 9.73 15.06

August222010 16000 6.19 10.58

August 22 20114 12000 5.01 10.20

____________________________________________________________________
87500

Except as noted in footnotes and below the number of options granted to each Outside Director was equal in each year indicated

in the table The Outside Directors group includes Uday Bellaiy William Delevati Herbert May and until March 2011 Bernhard

Woebker Jochen Witte received no option grants in his role as Director

In 2005 immediately after the shareholder approval of the 2005 Directors Plan each Outside Director was granted Succeeding
Grant which was prorated to account for any grant made to the Outside Director in the preceding twelve months Each Outside

Director received grant ranging from 131 to 1671 shares on August 22 2005 As explained in Note below prior to 2007 the

amount of Succeeding Grant was initially 2000 shares

In 2007 the 2005 Directors Plan was amended to increase the Succeeding Grant from 2000 shares to 4000 shares Despite this

amendment the Succeeding Grants made on August 22 2007 were reduced to 3929 shares per Outside Director because there were

then insufficient shares available under the 2005 Directors Plan to enable such Succeeding Grant to be 4000 shares on that date so

the remaining available options were prorated among the Outside Directors

On August 22 2011 Bernhard Woebker was serving as CEO of the Company and did not receive succeeding grant

Options granted under the 2005 Directors Plan are immediately exercisable in full However the options granted under the 2005

Directors Plan are subject to vesting provisions pursuant to which 50% of the shares vest free of potential repurchase option

of the Company on each of the first two anniversaries of the date of grant of the option so long as the optione continuously

remains member of the Board or consultant to the Company If an Outside Directors service with the Company as

director or consultant terminates then any shares purchased by such Outside Director under an option granted under the 2005

Directors Plan that are unvested on the termination date are subject to repurchase by the Company at the option exercise price

paid for such shares In the event of certain corporate transactions including certain change of control transactions involving

the Company the vesting of all unvested shares subject to options granted under the 2005 Directors Plan may be accelerated
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The Outside Directors aggregate holdings of stock options at the end of fiscal year 2011 were as follows

Name Number of Shares

Uday Bellary 30060

William Henry Delevati 31100

Herbert May 25529

Bernhard Woebker was no longer an Outside Director as of March 10 2011 when he began to serve as CEO of the Company Mr
Woebkers aggregate holding of stock options is found elsewhere in this Proxy Statement under the heading Executive Compensation

Jochen Wittes aggregate holding of stock options is found elsewhere in this Proxy Statement under the heatling Executive

Compensation

Vote Required

The nominees for election to the Board of Directors receiving the highest number of affirmative votes of the shares entitled to

be voted for them at the Annual Meeting up to the number of directors to be elected i.e directors will be elected to the

Board of Directors Abstentions and broker non-votes will not be taken into account in determining the outcome of the election

of directors

Director Nomination Process

Consideration of Director Nominees The selection of nominees for election or appointment to the Board is the responsibility

of the Companys Board of Directors The Nominating Committee evaluates and recommends candidates for election or

appointment to the Board and the Board considers the recommendations of the Nominating Committee The Nominating

Committee considers candidates for election to the Board who are suggested by members of the Board by the Companys

executive officers by Company shareholders and others Dr Robert Brammer and Mr Anthony Bettencourt who joined the

Board of Directors on November 28 2011 and January 22012 respectively were recommended to the nominating committee

by the Companys Chief Executive Officer Mr Bernhard Woebker If and when it deems appropriate the Nominating

Committee may also retain third-party recruiters to assist the Nominating Committee in identifying and evaluating candidates

The Nominating Committee did not retain any third-party recruiter or consultant in fiscal 2G1 or in cOnnection with the

nomination for directors for election at the Annual Meeting and no fee was paid to any third party to identify or evaluate any

nominee for election to the Board at the Annual Meeting

Evaluation and Qua fication of Directors The Nominating Committee will assess each candidates experience and skills

against the qualifications described below the then-current composition and size of the Board and the Nominating Committees

determination of the Companys needs The Nominating Committee has not established any specific minimum qualifications

for Nominating Committee-nominated candidates but believes that nominees for the Board must possess strong personal

ethics an appreciation of directors responsibilities business skills experience in exercising judgment and the ability and

willingness to devote adequate time to service on the Board The Nominating Committee will review various factors in

assessing candidates including but not limited to the candidates integrity independence business experience judgment

demonstrated leadership skills technical background familiarity with the Companys industry and knowledge of accounting

and financial matters and may but need not consider diversity factors in evaluating potential nominees The Nominating

Committee will also consider candidates other commitments and the extent to which the candidate possesses specific skills

that are complementary to those of other directors In evaluating potential candidates the Nominating Committee will review

candidates background in manner and to the extent it deems appropriate The Nominating Committee will also conduct and

arrange for interviews of the candidate by members of the Board whose opinions will be considered by the Nominating

Committee Potential nominees suggested by shareholders who comply with the procedures described below under

Shareholder Recommendations will be evaluated by the Nominating Committee on the same basis as other potential

nominees In fiscal 2011 the Company did not receive any recommendations for nominees for election to the Board from

shareholders

Shareholder Recommendations The Nominating Committee will consider suggestions of nominees that are timely submitted

by shareholders who accompany their suggestion with delivery of the written materials described below These

recommendations and written materials must be delivered to the Company and addressed to the Nominating Committee at the

Companys principal offices as provided below To be timely these written materials must be submitted to the Company within

the time permitted for submission of shareholder proposal for inclusion in the Companys Proxy Statement for its annual

meeting of shareholders The written materials that shareholder must submit to recommend or suggest nominee are the

names and addresses of the shareholders making the recommendation and the amount of the Companys securities which
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are owned beneficially and of record by such shareholders appropriate biographical information about the recommended

nominee including business address and telephone number and statement as to the recommended individuals

qualifications with focus on the criteria described above and any material interest of the submitting shareholders in the

nomination or any affiliation or relationship of the submitting shareholders to the nominees

Any shareholders proposals for nominations will be considered by the Nominating Committee and should be addressed as

follows

Versant Corporation

Attention The Chairman of the Nominating Committee do Secretary

255 Shoreline Drive Suite 450

Redwood City CA 94065 USA

Director Independence

The Board has determined that directors Mr Uday Bellary Mr Anthony Bettencourt Dr Robert Brammer Mr William Henry

Delevati and Dr Herbert May qualify as independent directors under the rules of The NASDAQ Stock Market The NASDAQ
independence definition includes series of objective tests including that director may not be Company employee and that

the director has not engaged in various types of business dealings with the Company In addition as further required by the

NASDAQ rules the Board of Directors has made subjective determination as to each independent director that no

relationship exists which in the opinion of the Board of Directors would interfere with the exercise of such directors

independent judgment in carrying out the responsibilities of director

Shareholder Communications to the Board of Directors

Shareholders of the Company may communicate with the Companys Board of Directors or any individual director through the

Companys Secretary by sending an email to directors@versant.com or by writing to the following address

Versant Corporation

Attention Board of Directors do Secretary

255 Shoreline Drive Suite 450

Redwood City CA 94065 USA

The Companys Secretary will forward the correspondence to the Board or any indicated individual director except for spam

junk mail mass mailings product complaints or inquiries job inquiries surveys business solicitations or advertisements or

patently offensive or otherwise inappropriate material The Companys Secretary may forward certain correspondence such as

product-related inquiries to the appropriate destinations within the Company for review and possible response

Code of Conduct and Ethics

The Board has adopted Code of Conduct and Ethics that applies to the Companys Board of Directors principal executive

officer principal financial officer and all other employees of the Company The Code of Conduct and Ethics is intended to

provide our employees officers and directors with an understanding of how Versant does business The Code of Conduct and

Ethics is posted on the Investor Relations section of our website at http//www.versant.comlpdf/

vsnt_code_ofconduct_rev2008.pdf The Company intends to satisfy the disclosure requirement under Item 5.05 of Form 8-K

regarding any amendment to or waiver from provision of this Code of Conduct and Ethics by posting such information on

our website at http//www.versant.com/company/Investor_ReIations.aspx
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SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT

Our only class of voting securities is our Common Stock The following table presents information regarding the beneficial

ownership of our Common Stock which includes certain securities exercisable for or convertible into Common Stock as

of June 22 2012 by

each shareholder known by us to be the beneficial owner of more than 5% of our Common Stock

each of our directors and nominees

each Named Executive Officer as definedbelow under Executive Compensation Versants Named Executive

Officers and

all current directors nominees and executive officers as group

The percentage of beneficial ownership for the following table is based on 2762591 shares of Common Stock outstanding as

of June 22 2012 Unless otherwise indicated below the persons and entities named in the table have sole voting and sole

investment power with respect to all shares beneficially owned subject to community property laws where applicable Shares

issuable upon the exercise of options and warrants within 60 days of June 22 2012 that is August 20 2012 are deemed to be

outstanding and to be beneficially owned by the person holding such options or warrants for the purpose of computing the

number of shares beneficially owned and the percentage ownership of Common Stock of such person but are not deemed to be

outstanding and to be beneficially owned for the purpose of computing the percentage ownership of Common Stock of any

other person Unless otherwise indicated each beneficial owner listed below maintains mailing address of do Versant

Corporation 255 Shoreline Drive Suite 450 Redwood City California 94065

Shares of Common Stock Beneficially

Owned

Number Percentage of

Name of Beneficial Owner of Shares Shares Outstanding

5% Shareholders

Nantahala Capital Management LLC 339784 12.3%

100 First Stamford Plaza Second Floor

Stamford Connecticut 06902

Renaissance Technologies LLC 189200 6.8%

800 Third Avenue 33rd Floor

New York New York 10022

Andalusian Capital Partners LP3 182385 6.6%

Two Greenwich Office Park Suite 300

Greenwich CT 06831

Punch Associates Investment Management Inc 160070 5.8%

3601 West 76th Street Suite 225

Edina Minnesota 55435

Skellig Capital Management LLC 157722 5.7%

117 East 55th Street

New York NY 10022
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Beneficial Ownership Continued

Shares of Common Stock Beneficially

Owned

Number Percentageof

Name of Beneficial Owner of Shares Shares Outstanding

Directors and Executive Officers

Bernhard Woebker 60655 2.1%

Jerry Wong7 72156 2.4%

Paul McCullugh

Jocheri Witte

Uday Bellary 30060 1.0%

Anthony Bettencourt9 4000

Robert Brammer 4000

William Henry Delevati 29600 1.0%

Herbert May 25529

All dIrectors and executive officers as group persons 226000 7.6%

Based solely on information contained in Form 3F filed by Nantahala Capital Management LLC with the Securities and

Exchange Commission on May 15 2012

Based solely on informationcbhtained in Form 3F filed by Renaissance Technologies LLC with the Securities and Exchange

Commission on May 14 2012

Based solely on information contained in Schedule 3D/A filed by Andalusian Capital Partners LP with the Securities and

Exchange Commission on September22 2011

Based solely on information contained in Form 3F filed by Punch Associates Investment Management Inc with the Securities

and Exchange Commission on April 19 2012

Based solely on information contained in Schedule 3G filed by Skellig Capital Management LLC with the Securities and

Exchange Commission on February 13 2012

Includes 40115 shares of Common Stock subject to options exercisable within 60 days of June 22 2012

Includes 61798 shares of Common Stock subject to options exercisable within 60 days of June 22 2012

Includes 30060 shares of Common Stock subject to options exercisable within 60 days of June 22 2012

Includes 4000 shares of Common Stock subject to options exercisable within 60 days of June 22 2012

10 Includes 4000 shares of Common Stock subject to options exercisable within 60 days of June 22 2012

11 Includes 28600 shares of Common Stock subject to options exercisable within 60 days of June 22 2012

12 Includes 25529 shares of Common Stock subject to options exercisable within 60 days of June 22 2012
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SECURITIES AUTHORIZED FOR ISSUANCE UNDER EQUITY COMPENSATION PLANS

The following table sets forth certain information as of October 31 2011 with respect to compensation plans under which our

equity securities are authorized for issuance

Number of securities

Number of securities Weighted-average remaining available for

to be issued upon exercise price of future issuance under
exercise of outstanding equity compensation plans

outstanding options options warrants excluding securities

warrants and rights and rights reflected in column

Plan category

Equity compensation plans

approved by security holders 650465 15.20 375163

Equity compensation plans

not approved by security holders

Total 650465 15.20 375163

SECTION 16a BENEFICIAL OWNERSHIP REPORTING COMPLIANCE

Section 16 of the Exchange Act requires Versants directors and officers and
persons

who own more than 10% of registered

class of Versants equity securities to file initial reports of ownership and reports of changes in ownership with the SEC Such

persons are required by SEC regulations to furnish Versant with copies of all Section 16a forms they file Based solely on the

review of the copies of such forms furnished to Versant and written representations from the executive officers and directors of

the Company Versant believes that all Section 16a filing requirements were met during fiscal 201 iwith the exception of

Form for Mr Woebker filed on June 2011 reporting the purchase of 1100 shares of common stock purchased on June

2011 and 2900 shares of common stock purchased on June 32011

CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS

Related Party Transactions Policy and Procedures

Excluding compensation whether cash equity or otherwise any related party transaction involving Company director or

executive officer must be reviewed and approved by the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors Any member of the Audit

Committee who is related party with respect to transaction under review may not participate in the deliberations or vote on

the approval or ratification of the transaction Related parties include any director or executive officer any nominee for election

to the Board certain shareholders and any of their immediate family members as defined by SEC regulations To identify

any related party transaction the Company requires each director and executive officer to complete each year questionnaire

requiring disclosure of any transaction in which the director executive officer or any immediate family member might have an

interest In addition the Board of Directors determines annually which directors are independent under the rules of the

NASDAQ Stock Market and reviews any director relationship that would potentially interfere with his or her exercise of

independent judgment in carrying out the responsibilities of director

Certain Related Party Transactions

The Companys Articles of Incorporation and Bylaws contain provisions that limit the liability of directors and require the

Company to indemnify directors and executive officers against expenses judgments fines settlements and other amounts

actually and reasonably incurred in connection with any proceedings arising out of their services to the Company Under those

Articles of Incorporation to the extent permitted under the California General Corporation Law directors are not liable to the

Company or its shareholders for monetary damages arising from breach of their fiduciary duty of care as directors In

addition the Company has entered into an indemnity agreement with each director and executive officer and certain other

managers that provides for indemnification of the directors and executive officers against certain liabilities that may arise by

reason of their status or service as director or executive officer The Company purchases insurance to cover claims or

portion of any claims made against its directors and executive officers These provisions and
arrangements do not however

affect liability for any breach of directors duty of loyalty to the Company or its shareholders liability for acts or omissions

not in good faith or involving intentional misconduct or knowing violations of law liability for transactions in which the
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director derived an improper personal benefit or liability for the payment of dividend or distribution in violation of California

law Such limitation of liability also does not limit directors liability for violation of or otherwise relieve our directors or

executive officers from the necessity of complying with federal and state securities laws or affect the availability of equitable

remedies such as injunctive relief or rescission In addition certain executive officers of the Company have certain employment

and/or retention incentive agreements with the Company which are summarized below under Executive Compensation

Employment Contracts Termination of Employment and Change-in-Control Arrangements

Other than these indemnification arrangements and the compensation of directors and Named Executive Officers as described

elsewhere in this Proxy Statement to the Companys knowledge there has not been since the beginning of fiscal year 2011 and

there is not currently proposed any transaction in which the Company was or is to be participant in which the amount

involved exceeds $120000 or one percent of the average of Versants total assets at year end for the last two completed fiscal

years and in which any director executive officer 5% shareholder or any of their immediate family members as defined by

SEC regulations had or will have direct or indirect material interest

EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Role of the Compensation Committee and Processes

The Compensation Committee has the exclusive authority to establish the level of base salary payable to Versants executive

officers and also has the responsibility for approving the individual bonus programs for Versants Chief Executive Officer and

its other executive officers for each fiscal year and to determine at the end of the fiscal year the extent to which the bonus has

been earned The Compensation Committee also reviews and makes recommendations to the Companys Board of Directors to

ensure that other aspects of Versants compensation and benefit programs are consistent with Versants compensation

philosophy

Versants Chief Executive Officer has historically annually reviewed the performance of each of Versants other executive

officers The conclusions reached by the Chief Executive Officer and his recommendations based on these reviews including

his recommendations with respect to base salary target annual bonus levels and performance targets and target annual long-

term incentive option award values have typically been presented by the Chief Executive Officer to the Compensation

Committee which may modify or supplement any recommendation made by the Chief Executive Officer in its discretion and

the Compensation Committee has historically made adjustments and additions modifying the ChiefExecutive Officers

recommendations and/or adopted compensation terms devised by the Compensation Committee The Compensation Committee

makes all final compensation decisions for each of Versants Named Executive Officers as defined below Compensation

Committee meetings typically have included for all or portion of each meeting not only the Compensation Committee

members but also Versants ChiefExecutive Officer and ChiefFinancial Officer although these officers do not attend those

portions of the Compensation Committee meetings in which their personal compensation program is determined by the

Compensation Committee

The Compensation Committee has the authority to engage the services of outside advisors However historically including for

fiscal 2011 the Committee has not done so given the Companys size the relatively small number of the Companys executive

officers the relative lack of complexity of the Companys compensation programs and the costs associated with retaining such

an advisor In fiscal 2011 management did not engage any compensation consultants to provide advice or recommendations on

the amount or form of executive and director compensation

Named Executive Officers

SEC regulations define Named Executive Officers of the Company as the individuals who served as the Companys Chief

Executive Officer during fiscal 2011 ii the Companys two most highly compensated executive officers other than the Chief

Executive Officer who were serving as executive officers at the end of fiscal 2011 if any and iii up to two other persons who

would have come within the description of other highly compensated officers in clause ii but for the fact that they were not

serving as an executive officer of the Company at the end of fiscal 2011 if any

Mr Woebker and Mr Wong currently serve as Versants President and Chief Executive Officer and Versants Vice President

Finance ChiefFinancial Officer and Secretary respectively and Mr Wittes employment with Versant terminated effective as

of March 10 2011 Messrs Woebker Wong and Witte are together referred to in this Proxy Statement as the Named

Executive Officers
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In June 2012 Mr Paul McCullugh joined the Company as Executive Vice President Sales and Marketing Versant has no other

executive officers as of the date of this Proxy Statement and except for Messrs Woebker Witte and Wong had no other

executive officers during fiscal 2011

Mr Woebker Mr Wong and Mr McCullugh currently serve in the positions indicated for them in the following table

Biographical information for Mr Woebker is found in this Proxy Statement under Board of Directors and Corporate

Governance Directors Standing for Election and biographical information for Messrs Wong McCullugh and Witte is set

forth immediately below the following table

Name of Officer Title

Bernhard Woebker 62 President and Chief Executive Officer

Jochen Witte 51 Former President and ChiefExecutive Officer

Vice President Finance Chief Financial Officer

Jerry Wong 60 and Secretary

Paul MeCullugh 49 Executive Vice President Sales and Marketing

Jerry Wong has been Versants Vice President Finance Chief Financial Officer and Secretary since June 2006 Prior to his

appointment to these positions with Versant from March 2003 to December 2005 Mr Wong served as Chief Financial Officer

and consultant for Companion Worlds Inc privately held company that provided technology enabling instructional content

for mobile digital devices From March 2004 to June 2006 Mr Wong also served as financial consultant for Vega Vista Inc

privately held company developing solutions for accessing and interacting with rich content on small displays such as those on

handheld devices From January 2000 to November 2008 Mr Wong served as an independent trustee for Firsthand Mutual

Funds and also served for four
years as chairperson of the Firsthand Mutual Funds audit committee From 1995 to

October 2002 Mr Wong was Vice President of Finance for Poet Software Corporation and Poet Holdings Inc and from 2000

to October 2002 he was Executive Vice President of U.S Operations for Poet Software Corporation an affiliate of Poet

Holdings Inc Poet Holdings Inc was provider of object-oriented database and e-catalog solutions that merged with Versant

in March 2004 Mr Wong holds B.S degree in Business Administration from the University of San Francisco

Paul McCullugh joined Versant as its Executive Vice President Sales and Marketing in June 2012 Prior to joining Versant

Mr McCullugh served as Senior Sales Director Cloud Services of Oracle Corporation from September 2011 to June 2012 and

held other sales positions with Oracle Corporation from March 2006 to September 2011 Mr McCullugh received degree in

Business Administration and Finance from Western Washington University

Jochen Witte served as Versants President and Chief Executive Officer from June 2005 until March 10 2011 and as member

of Versants Board of Directors from March 2004 until November 28 2011 Mr Witte served as the Companys Chief Financial

Officer and Secretary from June 2005 to June 2006 From March 2004 to June 2005 he served as President European

Operations of Versant Prior to joining Versant Mr Witte was CEO of Poet Holdings Inc company that merged with Versant

in 2004 and which he co-founded in 1993 He initially worked as Poets Managing Director of Germany and became Poets

ChiefFinancial Officer in 1999 when Poet went public Mr Witte received degree in Business Administration from the Berlin

Technical University and also attended the University of Wales as an exchange student
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Executive Compensation Summaiy

Provided in the tables and narrative below is certain information regarding compensation earned by our Named Executive Officers

for fiscal years 2011 and 2010

Summary Compensation Table Executives

Non-Equity

tncentiye Plan
Fiscal Option Compeation

All Other

Name and Principal Position Year Salary Awards Compensation Total

Director 2010 25000 57534 82534

Director 2011 8967 28104 37071

President and Chief Executive Officer 2011 197597 81667 16000 8419 303683

Fiscal 2011 total Mr WOebker 206564 109771 16000 8419 340754

Jerry Wong

Vice President Finance Secretary CFO 2010 190000 96968 78532 365500

Vice President Finance Secretary CFO 2011 190000 83709 75000 348709

Jochen Witte

Former President and CEO 2010 291034 141383 62798 12552 507767

FornierPresjdentandCEO 2011 152922 120218 154285 318289 745714

2011 12592 12592

2011 165514 120218 54285 318289 758306

Amounts reflect the share-based compensation expense recognized by the Company for financial statement reporting purposes For

discussion of valuation assumptions see Note to the consolidated financial statements included in Versants annual report ozi Form 0-K

for the fiscal year ended October 31 201 filed with the SEC on January 30 2012 under the heading Share Based Compensation See

the Plan Based Awards table below for information on fiscal 201 stock option grants

Mr Woebkers salary was paid by Versant GmbH in euros and translated each month at the exchange rate used for inclusion in the

Companys financial statements For fiscal 2011 Mr Woebker was paid 138522 which translated to approximately $197597 at an

average exchange rate of 1.4265 dollars per euro

Mr Woebkers compensation for his service as Director prior to the date he become Versants Chief Executive Officer and President

is included in this table and also included in the Summary Compensation Table Directors under the heading Compensation of

Directors in this Proxy Statement

Mr Witte salary was paid by Versant GmbH in euros and translated each month at the exchange rate used for inclusion in the

Companys financial statements For fiscal 2011 Mr Witte was paid 1130 whichtranslated to approximately $152922 at an average

exchange rate of 1.3761 dollars per euro For fiscal 2010 Mr Witte was paid 216000 which translated to approximately $291034 at an

average exchange rate of 1.3474 dollars per euro

Mr Wittes compensation for his service as Director is included in this table and also included in the Summary Compensation Table

Directors under the heading Compensation of Directors in this Proxy Statement

Incentive compensation for fiscal 2010 was payable in the first quarter following the fiscal year in which it was earned

All Other Compensation includes amounts paid by the Company for life insurance premiums and auto lease payments

Incentive compensation payable in the first quarter following the fiscal quarter or fiscal year in which it is earned

On March 10 2011 Versant Corporation and Jochen Witte the Companys then President and Chief Executive Officer agreed to Mr
Wittes resignation and entered into separation agreement Under this separation agreement Mr Witte continued to serve as part-

time employee at salary of 9000 per month and assisted in transitioning his responsibilities until June 30 2011 when Mr Wittes

employment terminated

The terms of Mr Wittes separation agreement provided that in exchange for general release of claims he received the following

severance payment consisting of 216000 equivalent to approximately $309658 and reflected in All Other Compensation above

plus bonus of approximately 65768 equivalent to approximately $94285 and reflected in Non-Equity Incentive Plan

Compensation above

The terms of Mr Wittes separation agreement also provided that the vesting of Mr Wittes Versant stock options was accelerated by

12 months of vesting and his then outstanding vested Versant stock options will continue to be exercisable until March 31 2012 The

additional share-based compensation expense recognized by the Company as result of these stock option modifications is included in

Option Awards above

Bernhard Woebker 23

Director

Fiscal 2011 total Mr Witte
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Mr Woebker Mr Woebker who is based in Germany and whose base salary is paid inEuros had anannual base salary in

fiscal 2011 of 216000 per year He was also eligible for discretionary bonuses to be determined by the Compensation

Committee of the Board of Directors

Mr Wong Mr Wongs annual base salary rate for fiscal 2010 and fiscal 2011 was $190000 Mr Wongs fiscal 2011 bonus

program had the following principal terms bonus based on Fiscal 2011 Income from Operations equal to ten percent

0% of that portion of the Companys 2011 Income from Operations that exceeded target level of 2011 Income from

Operations which he did not earn and discretionary bonus of up to $60000 by achieving certain operational objectives in

Fiscal 2011 as determined by Versants Chief Executive Officer under which he earned $60000 In addition Mr Wong
received discretionary bonus from the Board of Directors of $15000

For his fiscal 2010 bonus program Mr Wong was entitled to receive cash bonuses based on two separate components

bonus based on the amount of the Companys Income from Operations for fiscal 2010 under which he earned $8532 and

bonus based on achievement by Mr Wong of certain operational objectives determined by Versants Chief Executive Officer

under which he earned $70000

Mr Witte In September 2009 the Compensation Committee approved an employment agreement for Mr Witte who was

based in Germany and whose base salary was paid in Euros which continued his base salary at the annual rate of 216000 For

fiscal 2011 and 2010 Mr Wittes annual base salary rate was 216000

On March 10 2011 the Company and Jochen Witte the Companys former President and Chief Executive Officer and the

managing director of its Versant GmbR subsidiary agreed to Mr Wittes resignation from these positions and entered into

separation agreement Under this separation agreement Mr Witte continued to serve as part-time employee at salary of

9000 per
month to assist in transitioning his responsibilities until June 30 2011 when Mr Wittes employment terminated

Mr Witte continued to serve on Versants Board of Directors until November 28 2011 The terms of Mr Wittes separation

payment provided that upon his termination in exchange for general release of claims he received the following separation

benefits severance payment consisting of 216000 equivalent to approximately $3b9658 plus bonus of approximately

65768 equivalent to approximately $94285 ii the vesting of Mr Wittes Versant stock options were accelerated by 12

months of vesting and iiihis outstanding vested Versant stock options continued to be exercisable until March 31 2012

Pursuant to the separation agreement Versant also repurchased approximately 62545 shares of Versant common stock owned

by Mr Witte including 15120 shares owned by his spouse at price of $13.50 per share which price reflected recent market

trading prices of Versants common stock as of the date of the separation agreement

For fiscal 2010 Mr Wittes bonus program entitled him to earn cash bonuses based on three separate components bonus

based on the amount of the Companys Income from Operations for fiscal 2010 under which he earned $12798 bonus

based on the Companys revenues for fiscal year 2010 which he did not earn and discretionary bonus of $50000 based

on strategic progress
in Versants business as determined in the discretion of the Compensation Committee

Employment Contracts Termination of Employment and ChangØ-in-ControlArrangements

Chief Executive Officers Employment Arrangementsd Mr Woebker does not have an employment agreement with the

Company

Chief Financial Officers Employment Arrangements On September 2009 Versant entered into Retention Incentive

Agreement with Mr Wong which provides him with severance benefits upon his termination of employment following certain

change of control transactions involving the Company The agreement provides thatif Mr Wongs employment is terminated

without cause or is terminated by him for good reason within 12 months of change of control transaction involving the

Company then the vesting of Mr Wongs then outstanding unvested stock options or other unvested equity awards of the

Company may be accelerated for up to maximum of 36 months of vesting with the extent of vesting based on Mr Wongs
tenure with the Company and ii Mr Wong would be entitled to be paid cash severance in an amount not to exceed 50% of his

annual target compensation with the actual amount payable determined in part on Mr Wongs tenure with the Company in

each case subject to Mr Wong signing release

Executive Vice President Sales and Marketings EmploymentArrangements Mr McCullugh does not have an employment

agreement with the Company

20



Grants of Plan-BasedAwards Fiscal Year 2011

The following table shows all plan-based awards granted to our Named Executive Officers during fiscal year 2011 Certain of

the stock option awards shown in this table those granted in fiscal year 2011 are also reported in the Outstanding Equity

Awards at Fiscal Year End table below

Option Option

Awards Awards Grant Date

Number of Number of Fair Value of

Underlying Underlying Stock and

Options Options Option Awards

Name Grant Date $/Sh

Bernhard Woebker3 5/23/2011 20000 12.83 127652

Jerry Wong2 11/29/2010 15000 11.81 67071

Jochen Witte
24

11/29/2010 20000 11.81 89428

These amounts do not reflect compensation actually received Rather they reflect the share based compensation valuation for financial

reporting purposes The assumptions used to calculate the value of these stock option grants are set forth in Note 11 of the Notes to the

Consolidated Financial Statements included in this Form 10-K for fiscal year 2011

These options first vest and become exercisable with respect to 25% of the shares subject to the option nine months after the grant date

and thereafter vest and become exercisable with respect to 2.78% of the shares subject to the option each month thereafter subject to the

option holders continued employment or service relationship with the Company The options are subject to potential acceleration under

Mr Wongs Retention Incentive Agreement with Versant

These options were granted from the 2005 Equity Incentive Plan and vested ratably over the twelve months beginning March 11 2011

subject to Mr Woebkers continued employment or service relationship with the Company

These options were modified by the separation agreement between Jochen Witte and the Company to accelerate 12 months of vesting as

of Mr Wittes termination date June 30 2011

Equity-Based Long Term Incentive Compensation

We do not have any program plan or practice that requires us to grant stock options to Versants executive officers on specified

dates however we generally but not exclusively consider stock option grants to Versants executives on an annual basis

typically following fiscal year end when preliminary results for the preceding fiscal year are available for review by the

Compensation Committee and forecasts for the following fiscal year are presented by management for review by the Board of

Directors

On May 23 2011 the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors approved the grant to Bernhard Woebker Versants

Chief Executive Officer and President of stock option pursuant to the Companys 2005 Equity Incentive Plan in order to

provide Mr Woebker with an appropriate equity incentive The option entitled Mr Woebker to potentially purchase up to

20000 shares of Versant Common Stock at an exercise price of $12.83 per share which price is equal to 100% of the fair

market value of share of Versant common stock on the date of grant The option vested and became exercisable ratably on

monthly basis over the twelve month period beginning March 10 2011 the date of Mr Woebkers appointment as Chief

Executive Officer and President and will generally expire on the earlier of ten years after the date of grant or ii seven

months after Mr Woebker ceases to be employed by the Company or an affiliate of the Company The vesting schedule of

this option reflected in part that when the option was granted it was unclear whether Mr Woebker would serve as Chief

Executive Officer and President on an interim or longer-term basis
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Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year-End Fiscal Year 2011

The following table shows all outstanding equity awards held by our Named Executive Officers at the end of fiscal year 2011

including Jochen Witte who remained on the Board of Directors as of October 31 2011 Certain of the stock option awards

shown in this table those granted in fiscal year 2011 are also reported in the Grants of Plan-Based Awards Fiscal Year 2011

table above

Option Awards

No of securities Equity incentive plan

underlying awards Number of

unexercised options securities underlying Option Option

at October 31 2011 unexercised Exercise Expiration

Name Exercisable unearned options Price Date

Bernhard Woebker 186 4.10 8/22/2015

2000 3.00 6/15/2015

2000 6.13 8/22/2016

3929 22.00 8/22/2017

4000 30.50 8/22/2018

4000 15.06 8/22/2019

2000 2000 10.58 8/22/2020

11666 8334 12.83 5/23/2021

Total 29781 10334

Jerry Wong 7800 6.80 6/27/2016

6500 1818 2/26/2017

10000 20.98 11/29/2017

14583 417 1247 11/25/2018

9582 5418 1880 11/30/2019

3750 11250 11.81 11/29/2020

Total 52215 17085

Jochen Witte 2800 10.50 1/24/2012

875 3.50 3/31/2012

4200 2750 3/31/2012

500 3.69 3/31/2012

20000 10.37 3/31/2012

20000 20.98 3/31/2012

20000 1247 3/31/2012

17222 18.80 3/31/2012

10555 11.81 3/31/2012

Total 96152

These options were granted from the 2005 Directors Stock Option Plan when Mr Woebker was an Outside Director and vest 50% on

each of the first two anniversaries of the date of the grant These options are fully exercisable on the date of grant but the unvested

shares are subject to repurchase by the Company if the optionee ceases service

These options were granted from the 2005 Equity Incentive Plan and vested ratably over the twelve months beginning 3/11/11

subject to the option holders continued employment or service relationship with the Company

These options first vest and become exercisable with respect to 25% of the shares subject to the option nine months after the grant

date and thereafter vest and become exercisable with respect to 2.78% of the shares subject to the option each month thereafter

subject to the option holders continued employment or service relationship with the Company These options are subject to potential

acceleration under Mr Wongs Retention Incentive Agreement with Versant

On March 10 2011 Versant Corporation and Jochen Witte the Companys then President and Chief Executive Officer agreed to

Mr Wittes resignation and entered into separation agreement Pursuant to the terms of Mr Wittes separation agreement the

vesting of Mr Wittes Versant stock options was accelerated by 12 months and his then outstanding vested Versant stock options

continued to be exercisable until March 31 2012

Mr Witte resigned as President and CEO of the Company as of March 10 2011 but remained part time employee until June 30
2011 and Board Member until November 28 2011
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REPORT OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee is composed of three independent directors and operates under written charter approved by the Audit

Committee and adopted by the Board copy of which is available for viewing on the Investor Relations section of our website

at www.versant.com Uday Bellary William Henry Delevati and Dr Herbert May are the current members of the Audit

Committee All members of the Audit Committee were members of the Audit Committee during the entire fiscal year ended

October 31 2011 Mr Woebker who joined the committee in May 2010 resigned from the committee when he became CEO of

the Company in March 2011 The Audit Committee recommended to the Board the selection of Grant Thornton LLP as the

Companys independent registered public accounting firm for fiscal 2011

Management is responsible for the Companys internal controls and the financial reporting process Grant Thornton LLP is

responsible for performing an independent audit of the Companys consolidated financial statements in accordance with

generally accepted auditing standards and issuing report thereon The Audit Committees responsibility is to mQnitor and

oversee these processes including by engaging in discussions with management and Grant Thornton LLR

In this context the Audit Committee has reviewed and discussed the Companys audited financial statements for fiscal 2011

with Versants management and with Grant Thornton LLP As part of this discussion management has confirmed to the Audit

Committee that the Companys consolidated financial statements were prepared in accordance with generally accepted

accounting principles During the fiscal year ended October 31 2011 the Audit Committee also reviewed and discussed with

Versants management and Grant Thornton LLP the Companys independent auditor the Companys quarterly earnings

announcements consolidated financial statements and related periodic reports filed with the SEC

The Audit Committee also has discussed with Grant Thornton LLP the matters required to be discussed by Statement on

Auditing Standards No 61 Communication with Audit Committees The Audit Committee has received the written disclosures

and the letter from Grant Thornton LLP required by Independence Standards Board Standard No Independence Discussions

with Audit Committees The Audit Committee also has discussed with Grant Thornton LLP that firms independence Based on

the review and discussions described in this report and subject to the limitations on the role and responsibilities of the Audit

Committee referred to in this report and its charter the Audit Committee recommended to the Board of Directors that the

Companys audited consolidated financial statements be included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K and Form 10-K/A for the

Companys fiscal year ended October 31 2011

The preceding report of the Audit Committee of the Companys Board of Directors is required by the SEC and shall not be

deemed to be incorporated by reference into any filing under the Securities Act or under the Exchange Act by any general

statement incorporating by reference this Proxy Statement and shall only be incorporated into other filings to the extent that

the Company specifically incorporates this information by reference and shall not be deemed soliciting material or filed under

the Securities Act or Exchange Act

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Uday Bellary

William Henry Delevati

Dr Herbert May
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PROPOSAL NO.1

ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

Nominees

At the Annual Meeting shareholders will elect six directors to the Board of Directors each to hold office until his or her

successor is elected and qualified or until his or her earlier death resignation or removal Shares represented by the

accompanying proxy will be voted For the election of the six nominees recommended by the Board of Directors who are

named in the following table unless the proxy is marked in such manner as to withhold authority to so vote Each of the

nominees is currently director of Versant

Versant has no reason to believe that the nominees for election will not be available to serve their prescribed terms If any

nominee for any reason is unable to serve or will not serve however the proxy may be voted for such substitute nominee as the

persons appointed in the proxy may in their discretion determine

The following table sets forth certain information concerning the nominees which information is based on data furnished to

Versant by the nominees

Versant Board

Name of Director Age Principal Occupation Member Since

Bernhard Woebker 62 President ChiefExecutive Officer of Versant 2005

Uday Bellary 57 ChiefFinancial Officer of Greenvolts Inc 2003

President Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of

Anthony Bettencourt 51 the Board of Coverity Inc January 2012

President ChiefExecutive Officer of Brammer

Robert Brammer 66 Technology LLC November 28 2011

William Henry Delevati 63 Chairman of the Board of Versant 1999

Herbert May 62 Consultant 2004

For details regarding Board qualifications and the specific experiences qualifications and skills of each of our director

nominees please see Board of Directors and Corporate Governance Directors Standing for Election included elsewhere

in this Proxy Statement

Vote Required

The nominees for election to the Board of Directors receiving the highest number of affirmative votes of the shares entitled to

be voted for them at the Annual Meeting up to the number of directors to be elected i.e directors will be elected to the

Board of Directors Abstentions and broker non-votes will not be taken into account in determining the outcome of the election

of directors

The Board of Directors has unanimously approved the foregoing slate of nominees for election to

the Companys Board of Directors and recommends that shareholders vote FOR the election of each

of the nominees named above
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PROPOSAL NO.2

RATIFICATION OF APPOINTMENT OF INDEPENDENT

REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Audit Committee of the Board has selected Grant Thornton LLP an independent registered public accounting firm to audit

the financial statements of Versant for the current fiscal year ending October 31 2012 Grant Thornton LLP has served as the

Companys independent registered public accounting firm since June 2003 The Company expects that representatives of Grant

Thornton LLP will be present at the Annual Meeting will be available to answer any appropriate questions and will have the

opportunity to make statement if they desire to do so

If our shareholders fail to ratify the appointment the Audit Committee will reconsider its appointment of Grant Thornton LLP

as our independent registered public accounting firm for our fiscal year ending October 31 2012 but reserves the right to elect

to retain Grant Thornton LLP as the Companys independent registered public accounting firm Even if this appointment is

ratified the Audit Committee in its discretion may direct the appointment of different independent registered public

accounting firm at any time during the year if the Audit Committee determines that such change would be in the best interests

of the Company and its shareholders

Princ4pal Accountant Fees and Services

The independent registered public accounting firm of Grant Thornton LLP was selected to serve as the Companys independent

registered public accountant to perform the audit of the Companys financial statements for the fiscal years ended October 31
2011 and 2010

The table below sets forth the aggregate audit fees audit-related fees tax fees and all other fees billed for services rendered by

the Companys principal accountant in our fiscal years ended October 31 2011 and 2010

Fiscal 2011 Fiscal 2010

Audit Fees 392225 399907

Audit-Related Fees

Tax Fees

All Other Fees

Total All Fees 392225 399907

Audit Fees These amounts include aggregate fees billed for professional services rendered in connection with Grant Thornton

LLPs audit of Versants annual consolidated financial statements for fiscal 2010 and fiscal 2011 the reviews of Versants

consolidated financial statements included in its Quarterly Reports on Forms 10-Q for each of those fiscal years and the

attestation services for the statutory audits of international subsidiaries

Audit-Related Fees These amounts include professional services rendered in connection with certain regulatory filing made

by the Company

Tax Fees We did not incur any Tax Fees during these periods

All Other Fees We did not incur any Other Fees during these periods
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Policy on Audit Committee Pre-Approval of Services Performed by the Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Audit Committees policy is to pre-approve at the beginning of each fiscal year all audit and permissible non-audit services

to be provided by the independent registered public accounting firm during that fiscal year The Audit Committee pre-approves

these services by authorizing specific projects within the categories of service outlined above In addition the Audit Committee

may also pre-approve particular services on case-by-case basis

The Audit Committee considered the services listed above to be compatible with maintaining Grant Thornton LLPs

independence

Vote Required and Board of Directors Recommendation

The vote required to approve this proposal is the affirmative vote of majority of the outstanding shares of the Companys
Common Stock entitled to vote the holders of which are present in person or represented by proxy at the Annual Meeting and

voting on this proposal which affirmative vote must also include the affirmative vote of at least majority of the required

quorum Neither an abstention nor broker non-vote will be counted as vote Foror Against this proposal provided

however that abstentions and broker non-votes can have the effect of preventing approval of proposal where the number of

affirmative votes although majority of the votes cast does not constitute majority of the required quorum

The Board of Directors has unanimously approved this proposal and recommends that shareholders

vote FOR the ratification of the appointment of Grant Thornton LLP as the Companys

independent registered public accounting firm for fiscal year 2012
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SHAREIjOLDER PROPOSALS

Shareholders are entitled to present proposals for consideration at forthcoming shareholder meetings provided they comply

with the proxy rules promulgated by the SEC and our bylaws Proposals Of shareholders intended to be presented at the

Companys Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be held in 2013 for its fiscal year ended October 31 2012 or 2013 Annual

Meeting must be received by the Company at its principal executive offices by no later than 120 days prior to July 2013

that is March 11 2013 the Deadline Date in order to be included in the Companys proxy materials for the 2013 Annual

Meeting If shareholder wishes to present proposal for consideration at the 2013 Annual Meeting not to be included in the

Companys proxy materials for that meeting then under SEC Rule 4a-4c proxies solicited by the Company for the 2013

Annual Meeting may be voted by the Companys proxy holders in their discretion with respect to that proposal unless the

Company receives wntten notice of the proposal by no later than the close of business on May 25 2013 the Discretionary

Deadline Date Even if such proposaf is received by the Company by the Discretionary Deadline Date in certain

circumstances under the SEC rules the proxy holdets designated by the Company will retain the right to vote on such proposal

in their discretion The dates listed äbov aresubject to change if the date of the 2013 Annual Meeting is more than thirty 30
days before or after August 24 2013

OTHER MATTERS

The Board does not presently intendto bring any other matters before the Annual Meeting not described in this Poxy

Statement and so far as is known to the Board no matters are to be brought before the Annual Meeting except as specified in

the Notice of the Annual Meeting As to any business that may properly come before the Annual Meeting however it is

intended that the proxies in the form enclosed will be voted in respect of any such other matters in accordance with the

judgment and discretion of the persons voting such proxies

It is important that your shares be represented at the Annual Meeting regardless of the number of shares you hold You are

therefore urged to mark sign date and return the accompanying proxy card as promptly as possible in the postage-prepaid

envelope enclosed for that purpose

Availability ofAnnual Report

copy of the Companys Annual Report on Form 10-K and Form 10-K/A for its fiscal year ended October 31 2011 as

ified with the SEC is available free of charge upon written request to Versant Corporation Attn Investor Relations

255 Shoreline Drive Suite 450 Redwood City California 94065 USA or call 650 232-2400

27



United States Securities and Exchange Commission
Washington D.C 20549

Form 10-K/A

Annual Report pursuant to Section 13 or 15d of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934

For the fiscal year ended October 31 2011 or

Transition Report pursuant to Section 13 or 15d of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934

for The transition period fr om to

Commission File Number 000-28540

VERSANT CORPORATION
Exact name of Registrant as specified in its charter

California 94-3079392

State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization I.R.S Employer Identification No
255 Shoreline Drive Suite 450 Redwood City California 94065

Address of principal executive offices Zip code

650 232-2400

Registrants telephone number including area code

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12b of the Act

Title of each class Name of each exchange on which registered

Common Stock no par value NASDAQ Capital Market

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12g of the Act None

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is well-known seasoned issuer as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities Act Yes No ll

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is not required to file reports under Section 13 or 15d of the Exchange Act Yes No IEI

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15d of the Securities Exchange

Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months or for such shorter period that the Registrant was required to file such reports and has been

subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days Yes lJ No

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically and posted on its corporate Web site if any every Interactive Data

File required to be submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T 232.405 of this chapter during the preceding 12 months

or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit and post such files Yes l1 No

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K 229.405 of this chapter is not contained

herein and will not be contained to the best of registrants knowledge in definitive proxy or information statements incorporated by reference

in Part III of this Form 10-K or any amendment to this Form 10-K

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is large accelerated filer an accelerated filer non-accelerated filer or smaller reporting

company See the definitions of large accelerated filer accelerated filer and smaller reporting company in Rule 2b-2 of the Exchange

Act Check one

Large Accelerated Filer Accelerated Filer

Non-Accelerated Filer Smaller reporting company El

Do not check if smaller reporting company

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is shell company as defined in Rule 2b-2 of the Exchange Act Yes No

The aggregate market value of the voting and non-voting common equity held by non-affiliates assuming for purposes of this

calculation only that the registrants directors executive officers and greater than 10% shareholders are affiliates of the

registrant computed by reference to the price at which the common equity was last sold or the average bid and asked price of

such common equity as of April 30 2011 the last business day of the registrants most recently completed second fiscal

quarter $39903000

As of January 25 2012 there were outstanding 2925400 shares of the Registrants common stock no par value
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EXPLANATORY NOTE

This Amendment No on Form 10-K/A this Amendment amends our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year

ended October 31 2011 that was filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission SEC on January 30 2012 the

Original Filing We are filing this Amendment to inclu4e the information required by Part III and not included in the

Original Filing as we will not file definitive proxy statement involving an election of directors within 120 days of the end of

our fiscal year ended October 31 2011 The reference on the cover of the Original Filing to the incorporation by reference of

our definitive proxy statement into Part III of the Original Filing is hereby deleted

Except as set forth in Part III below no other changes are made to the Original Filing The Original Filing continues to speak as

of the date of the Original Filing Unless expressly stated this Amendment does not reflect events occurring after the filing of

the Original Filing nor does it modify or update in any way the disclosures contained in the Original Filing

29



VERSANT CORPORATION
ANNUAL REPORT ON FORM 10-K/A

For the Fiscal Year Ended October 31 2011

Table of Contents

Item no Name of Item

PART

Item Business 32

Item 1A Risk Factors 41

Item lB Unresolved Staff Comments 49

Item Properties 49

Item Legal Proceedings 49

Item Mine Safety Disclosures 49

PART II

Item Market for Registrants Common Equity Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer

Purchases of Equity Securities

Item Selected Financial Data 53

Item Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of

Operations
54

Item 7A Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk 78

Item Financial Statements and Supplementary Data 78

Item Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial

Disclosure 107

Item 9A Controls and Procedures 107

Item 9B Other Information 107

PART III

Item 10 Directors Executive Officers and Corporate Governance 108

Item 11 Executive Compensation 112

Item 12 Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related

Stockholder Matters
119

Item 13 Certain Relationships and Related Transactions and Director Independence

121

Item 14 Principal Accountant Fees and Services 122

PART IV

Item 15 Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules 122

Signatures 123

30



Without limitation Versant Object Database Versant FastObjects db4o db4objects and other Versant product names referred

to herein are trademarks of Versant in the United States and/or other countries All other corporate or trade names or service

marks referred to in this report are the names or marks of their respective owners in the United States and/or other countries

CAUTION REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Form 10-K contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934

and Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933 These forward-looking statements include among other things statements

regarding the Company expectedfuture financial performance assets liquidity and trends anticipated for the Company
business These statements are based on the Companys current expectations assumptions estimates andprojections about the

Company business the Company industry and the marketfor the Companys goods and services which are based on

information that is reasonably available to the Company as of the date of this report Forward-looking statements may include

words such as believes anticipates expectsintends plans will may houlcL estimates predicts

forecasts guidance potential continue or the negative ofsuch terms other variants of such terms or other similar

expressions

We caution investors that forward-looking statements are only predictions forecasts or estimates based upon our current

expectations about future events The forward-looking statements are not guarantees or assurances ofour future performance

and are subject to signfIcant risks and uncertainties that are inherently dfJIcult to assess and predict particularly in light of

the continuing recessionary environment in the United States and the global economy Consequently our actual future results

and performance may differ materially from the results and performance anticipated by any forward-looking statements due to

these risks and uncertainties Some of the important risks andfactors that could cause our results and performance to differ

from results or performance anticipated by this report are discussed in Item JA of this report Risk Factors which you

should read carefully We undertake no obligation to revise or update any forward-looking statements in order to reflect events

or circumstances that may arise or occur after the date of this report or for any other reason Readers are urged to carefully

review and consider the various disclosures made by Versant in this report and in our other reports filed with the Securities and

Exchange Commission that attempt to advise interested parties of risks and factors that may affect our business
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PART

Item Business

Overview of the Company

We are leading provider of object-oriented
data management software that forms critical component of the infrastructure of

enterprise computing We design develop market and support object-oriented
database management system products that

companies use to solve complex data management and data integration problems We also provide related product support

training and consulting services to assist users of our products in developing and deploying
software applications based on our

products In December 2011 we announced new strategic product roadmap in which we have outlined our plans to create

database software designed to address very large data problems This new strategy is intended to extend Versants proven ability

to provide data solutions for large distributed systems to emerging so-called Big Data and near real-time analytical

application opportunities We operate our business within single operating segment that we refer to as Data Management

Historically our mission has been to be preferred vendor of core data management solutions to world-class enterprises whose

businesses require
the successful management of large and complex bodies of data We believe that to fulfill this mission we

must pursue general strategy of developing and offering powerful scalable and highly reliable data management solutions

capable
of handling wide array of challenging applications In order to carry out this objective in world in which it is

becoming increasingly important for enterprises to source and manage voluminous amounts of unstructured real-time andlor

distributed data we plan to augment our existing product offerings by pursuing our new strategy to focus on emerging Big Data

and near real-time analytical applications
Driven by the growing ubiquity of mobile devices and smart sensors the

commoditization of computing power and storage and the exponential growth in raw data opportunities are emerging for

enterprises to harness vast stores of information and become highly agile data-driven organizations We believe that it is

critical for Versant to develop data management solutions designed to respond to these new computing challenges

Consequently Versant plans to make significant investments in new product developments in order to provide data

management software that enables the development of analytical applications
for this new era of the intelligent real-time

enterprise This strategic initiative will include efforts to develop application programming interfaces and server technologies

specifically geared
toward enhancing an enterprises ability to ingest and manage vast amounts of structured and unstructured

data and analyze very large data sets with near real-time capabilities and may also involve co-development of technology with

other parties and/or licensing of third party intellectual property
We will continue to market our products to companies in the

telecommunications and defense industries as well as to customers in several vertical markets including technology financial

services transportation
and health care Our software has historically been used in strategic distributed applications such as

network modeling and management fault diagnosis
fraud prevention

service activation and assurance and customer billing

scheduling and other applications

Versants strategic roadmap currently includes plans to develop the following technology components in 2012 and future years

real-time data ingestion framework enabling developers to connect large incoming data streams directly with the

database server reducing unwanted network I/O overhead and allowing higher ingestion rates and data transformation

in to the database

flexible server side framework to integrate analytical tools and software with the database to allow processes
such

as analytical algorithms or graph analysis to be executed as close as possible to the stored data and to only transfer

results back to client process Running these algorithms close to the data is particularly
critical for achieving near

real-time performance with large data sets

highly scalable storage engine optimized for multi-core server architectures and horizontal scale-out capabilities on

commodity server hardware Most traditional database systems today support
either horizontal or vertical scale-out

architecture but not both Versant believes that combining the two models will create an architecture that can take

advantage of massive multi-core servers and allow enterprises to do more with less hardware

An industry standard-compliant client API based on the Java Persistence API JPA The Versant Java Persistence API

Versant JPA is so-called pure
Java client for the Versant Database Seryr which serves as the storage tier for these

emerging Big Data and analytical applications code preview of Versant JPA is available for download in the

Versant Developer Community community.versant.com Supporting
the JPA industry standard allows developers to

use existing programming skills learned from object-to-relational mapping tools such as Eclipse Link or Hibernate
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Our planned new products will make use of the existing Versant Database technology an enterprise class data management

solution and build on its current capabilities to enable the development of analytical applications to address Big-Data

problems The technology extensions of the core database will independently address an enterprise class NoSQL data

management market and be capable of running in modern cloud computing environments

1-lowever as with any new software development effort there can be no assurance that we will succeed in developing any or all

of these currently planned technology components complete them in the chronological order in which we currently plan to

develop them or develop them on timely basis necessary to attract adequate customer interest Likewise we cannot offer any

assurance that any of these planned technology components will not be changed or be replaced by other new and/or different

components that any such technology components will perform as we intend or not experience technical deficiencies or that

any of these components will achieve any meaningful market acceptance or produce meaningful revenues or profit

We were incorporated in California in August 1988 under the name Object Sciences Corporation and completed the initial

public offering of our common stock under the name of Versant Object Technology Company in July 1996 The name of the

company was changed to Versant Corporation on July 15 1998 In March 2004 we acquired Poet Holdings Inc Poet through

merger Prior to that merger Poet was provider of object-oriented data management software headquartered in the United

States whose stock was publicly traded on the Frankfurt Stock Exchange In June 2004 we acquired the JDO Genie product

line and its customers from JDO Genie PTY Ltd privately held South African company and in July 2004 we acquired

FastObjects Inc private company that held North American distribution rights with respect to Poets FastObjects database

management product In August 2005 we effected 1-for- 10 reverse split of our outstanding common stock In February 2006

we sold our WebSphere consulting business On December 2008 we acquired the assets of the database software business of

privately-held Servo Software Inc formerly named db4objects Inc which included an open source object database software

solution targeting the embedded device market Our principal executive offices are located at 255 Shoreline Drive Suite 450

Redwood City California 94065 and our telephone number is 650 232-2400

Our website URL is www.versant.com Except as otherwise expressly set forth in this annual report on Form 10-K the

information contained in or referred to on our website is not part of this report

We conduct most of our administrative operations from our U.S headquarters in Redwood City California and the offices of

our German subsidiary Versant GmbH in Hamburg Germany Our research and development activities are primarily

conducted by our German subsidiary Versant GmbH In September 2009 restructuring plan was undertaken to consolidate

the Companys research and development efforts into one location in Germany and to close facility in India This restructuring

plan was substantially completed as of April 30 2010

Industiy Background

Computerized data management has evolved significantly over the past few decades As business computing became more

sophisticated network and hierarchical databases emerged in the l970s to serve growing business data requirements In the

1980s these types of databases were largely superseded by relational database technology which continues to be widely

prevalent database technology today The mid to late l980s saw the emergence of object-oriented software programming In

object-oriented programming smaller software building blocks called objects which can perform specific functions are

aggregated with other objects in order to create larger software systems With the advent of object-oriented software

programming it became possible to incorporate the unique features and advantages of object-based software into database

management solutions Our principal products are object-based database management software solutions which we believe

have advantages over relational database technology In particular we believe that object-based database management solutions

are especially well suited for successfully addressing the complex and challenging data management and analytical

requirements of companies who need to rapidly source update analyze and use very large changing bodies of complex data for

wide variety of business applications

Certain Industry Terms

For reference purposes we have listed below certain well-known technical terms often used in our data management industry to

assist readers in better understanding the information provided in this report

API means application program interface software source code interface that an operating system provides to

enable other software programs to use and access the functionality of that operating system

Application Server deployment software used to build and deploy Internet applications including commercial
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websites internal company websites and applications requiring higher degree of scalability than is typically

deployed in support of solutions for smaller user populations

Big Data The collection of technologies that handle data volumes well beyond the inflection point when traditional

data management systems fail because requirements for processors memory and disks escalate as data volume grows

Data sets grow in size and complexity because they are increasingly being gathered by ubiquitous information-sensing

mobile devices aerial sensory technologies and wireless sensor networks

Cache performance enhancing software that works with servers to improve their response times and throughput

Cores multicore chip i.e computer chip that contains more than one central processing unit allowing for highly

efficient increases in computing power on single chip in contrast to chip containing one single central processing

unit

Data Integration broad term for variety of techniques that enable the data from one software system to be

transferred and/or used in other software systems

Disk mirroring technique using specialized software and often specialized hardware to get the same data on two

storage disks for the purpose of increasing the reliability or making quick snapshot duplicate backup of database

Fault tolerant server server that offers higher reliability through the use of duplicated hardware and specialized

software so that in the event of failure of one system the surviving duplicated system takes over without any

significant service interruption

Java software programming language originally developed by Sun Microsystems

J2EE-based an application or software component that is deployed in Java Enterprise Edition J2EE software

environment

JDO Java Data Objects standard-based Java API for Versant

JDBC Java Database Connectivity standard in the relational database world for embedding SQL statements into

Java application programs

JPA Java programming language framework managing relational data in applications using Java Platform Standard

Edition and Java Platform Enterprise Edition

JVI Java Versant Interface proprietary-based Java API for the Versant Database Server

Object-Oriented object-oriented software uses smaller building blocks called objects to create larger software

systems

ODBC Open Database Connectivity standard in the relational database world for embedding SQL statements into

computer language

Relational Database data management software that stores data as tables and columns and can be accessed using

SQL

Replication range of technical approaches that enable multiple databases to be approximately synchronized and to

eventually contain the same data

SNMP is an Internet-standard protocol for managing devices on IP networks Devices that typically support SNMP
include routers switches servers workstations printers modem racks and more SNMP is used mostly in network

management systems to monitor network-attached devices for conditions that warrant administrative attention

SQL an industry standard data definition data manipulation and query language used to retrieve and manage large

data sets typically used in relational database management systems

Versant JPA Versants implementation of the JPA standard as pure Java client for the Versant Database Server
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XML standard format used to exchange data information between multiple software systems

Overview of Our Products and Services

We provide sophisticated data management solutions designed to address complex data management needs Our Versant Object

Database product is used primarily by larger enterprises which have significant large-scale data management requirements

such as technology providers telecommunications carriers government defense agencies defense contractors healthcare

companies and companies in the financial services and transportation industries Since the incorporation of Poets FastObjects

solution into our product line in March 2004 we expanded the scope of our solutions to also address the data management

needs of smaller systems With our acquisition of db4o in December 2008 we added database solution for the embedded

space which for example includes database solutions for platforms such as mobile smart phones and media tablets which

we plan to continue to develop and support In 2012 and future years our new product roadmap includes plans for the

development of application programming interfaces and server technologies specifically geared toward enhancing the ability of

enterprises to ingest manage and analyze very large data sets at near real-time

The data management needs of our customers usually involve many business functions ranging from
usage

and management

of the customers internal data to the processing of externally originated information such as customer enrollment billing and

payment transaction data Our solutions have also been used to solve complex data management and analysis problems such as

fraud detection risk analysis yield management and host of other problems that require an application specific data

management solution

In addition to our product offerings to assist users in their development and deployment of applications based on the Versant

Object Database FastObjects and db4o we offer variety of related professional services including consulting training and

technical support services We also provide customers with maintenance and support services with respect to our products

Benefits of Versant Solutions

Our products provide customers the following benefits for specialized data management

High Performance Our object-based architecture provides direct access or navigation to stored objects The balanced

client-server architecture of Versant products enhances performance by efficiently distributing processing burdens

between clients and servers to leverage the processing power of networked computers

Highly Scalable Support for Distributed Computing Our products can work in various environments ranging from

small workgroup operations to operations involving thousands of users over the Internet or wide area networks This

scalability can be achieved through object-level operations and other design features

Reliability Availability and Serviceability Our Versant Object Database product offers number of features designed

to permit continuous operation including features providing online backup and recovery and online modification of

the database system system utilities that can operate while the system is running and replication and disk mirroring

provided by Fault Tolerant Server

Language-Independent Support for Object-Oriented Programming Our products provide native support for the

leading object-oriented software development languages of Microsoft .NET and Java This facilitates rapid and

flexible application development by our customers and the maintenance and evolution of complex and dynamic

applications that closely model real-world systems and processes

Support for Component Architectures The Versant Object Database client integrates with leading J2EE application

servers including IBM WebSphere BEA Weblogic and Red Hat JBoss application servers These application servers

enable users to build and deploy J2EE-based applications that will work compatibly and directly with the Versant

Object Database in order to gain our productivity and performance advantages

Support of Major Operating Systems Versant products operate on wide range of server platforms including UNIX

platforms from Sun Microsystems Hewlett-Packard and IBM Linux platforms from Red Hat and Microsoft

Windows platforms

Support of Major Embedded Operating Systems Selected versions of Versants products operate on wide
range

of

handheld platforms including J2ME Microsoft Compact Framework and Googles Android
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Products

Versant Object Database VOD

VOD an eighth generation object database management system is Versants flagship product and is designed to support multi-

user commercial applications in distributed computing environments VOD enables users to store manage and distribute

information that often cannot be administered effectively through traditional database technologies including the following

types of information

real-time data graphics images video audio and unstructured text

dynamic graph-oriented data such as network management data and advanced financial instruments and

meta-data data aiding integration of diverse systems and workflow information which together

enable the construction of applications that integrate diverse systems and add new functionality often making this

functionality available over the Internet

The object-oriented balanced client-server architecture of VOD provides the basis for high-performance scalable distributed

applications We believe that VODs performance is superior compared to relational database management systems

particularly for complex data applications for which VOD has the capability of processing wide variety of abstract data types

in highly concurrent high performance manner We also believe that the use of VOD allows our customers to reduce the time

they need to develop applications for their data management systems and improves their system performance

VOD implements variety of enterprise database features including two-phase commitment for distributed transaction

integrity and database triggers to monitor changing events and data and to notif users and applications when specified

events occur In addition on-line management utilities enable routine maintenance to be performed while the database is

running These include utilities to perform backup operations manage log files dynamically evolve database schema add
delete and compress volumes on disk storage and related functions These utilities provide multiple levels of administrative

access and application security

Version 8.0 of VOD includes our core object database management system and Java language interfaces proprietary JVI

and standards-based JDO and XML for import and export of data into the database By bundling these components with

VOD we believe we are enhancing the solution that we are offering thereby making it easier for customers to deploy

applications requiring these components

As part of the VOD family of solutions we also offer
range

of add-on options that customer can use in situations requiring

advanced capabilities including the following

Versant FTS Fault Tolerant Server provides highly reliable operations in mission-critical environments This product

provides transparent failure recovery by connecting database clients to synchronized copies of the database stored on

physically separate servers If one of the servers fails due to operating system failure hardware breakdown or any

other form of interruption the other server continues operation without application interruption When the failed

server is restored the two servers automatically resynchronize and resume normal operations without any interruption

in application processing

Versant Management Center is an add-on tool for the monitoring of Versant Object Databases following the standard

managing console/remote agent paradigm The remote agent resides on the Versant server system while the managing

console is graphical interface running on Versant client system to display the ongoing activity of the monitored

database The tool also
supports industry standard formats for monitoring known as SNMP and can be integrated with

other third party SNMP enabled monitoring tools

Versant synch Server supports both master-slave and peer-to-peer asynchronous replication between multiple Versant

Object Database servers This can be used to replicate data to distributed recovery site or to replicate data between

multiple local servers for increased performance and reliability

Versant Compact allows the online compaction of production database data volumes required for special categories of

applications that are performing heavy data deletions This option allows customers to ensure continuous operations

at required performance levels by eliminating performance degradation due to fragmentation common problem for

databases in this application category

36



Versant SQL provides JDBC/ODBC driver connectivity allowing the use of standard SQL enabled tooling to access

VOD This is especially useful for customers who use industry standard reporting tools such as Crystal Reports and

Microsoft Access

Versant HA Backup High Availability Backup enables VOD to use the mirroring and backup features of other

enterprise storage systems to take an online backup of very large data volumes within seconds without impacting

transaction response
times

FastObjects

FastObjects is an object database management system designed to provide minimal administration and to work natively with

the customers product The primary target application for our FastObjects product line is for use as an embedded data

management system to be integrated in customers products FastObjects is used in vast range of applications including

medical devices vending machines telecom equipment and defense systems The majority of FastObjects installations are

now running under the Microsoft Windows Operating System

db4o

db4o is an open source object database that enables Java and NET developers to store and retrieve any application object with

only one line of code eliminating the need to predefine or maintain separate rigid data model The db4o product targets

embedded applications and embedded operating system deployments

Services

We derived approximately 45% of our revenues from services in fiscal 2011 predominantly from maintenance services Our

services include maintenance and support programs for our data management products consulting services and the

development of customer-specific extensions to our products

Maintenance Services We provide maintenance and technical support services for our products that are generally available at

an annual fee that varies depending on the type and level of support the customer requires Maintenance and support contracts

which typically have twelve-month terms are offered concurrently with the initial license of our product and entitle customer

to telephone support product upgrades and documentation updates For additional fees customers may purchase special

support package that provides dedicated support engineers and telephone support available for 24 hours per day and seven days

week Maintenance contracts are typically renewable annually and typically are paid for in advance for all products but in

some instances maintenance and support fees are paid in arrears For the support of older versions of our products we offer

specific obsolescence support options

Professional Services We also provide variety of training and consulting services to assist customers in the design

development training and management of applications that are built based on our core products Training services are offered

for variety of Versant-specific and other object-related technologies and range from beginning to advanced levels Consulting

services are available for analysis and design assistance mentoring and technical information transfer application coding

design reviews and performance analysis In addition we provide custom development services to customers that request

unique or proprietary product extensions

Our Customers

We categorize our customers into two broad groups End-Users and Value Added Resellers VARs End-Users are

companies who use our products internally and do not redistribute our products outside their corporate organizations VAR

customers on the other hand include traditional Value Added Resellers Systems Integrators OEMs and other vendors who

redistribute Versant products to third party customers either individually or as part of an integrated product

We license our data management products through two types of perpetual and time-based licenses development licenses and

deployment licenses Development licenses typically licensed on per seat basis authorize customer to develop an

application program that uses our software product Under deployment license customer is permitted to deploy an

application that it has developed under development license from us End-Users generally purchase deployment licenses

based on the number of central processing units CPUs or Cores accessing the server that will run the application using our

database management system For certain applications we offer deployment licenses priced on per user basis Pricing of

Versant Object Database and FastObjects varies according to several factors including the number of CPUs/Cores per server

on which the applications run and the number of users that are able to access the server at any particular time Pricing of db4o
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also varies according to several factors including the number of users that are able to access the server at any particular

time However due to the open source nature of the db4o product for db4o at this time We only offer use/deployment licenses

and not development licenses

VARs license development software from us on per seat basis and on terms similar to those of development licenses that we

license directly to End-Users VARs are authorized to sublicense directly to the End-User deployment copies of our data

management products which are either bundled or embedded in the VARs applications VARs are required to report the

distribution of our software to us and are charged royalty that is based either on the number of copies of the application

software that are distributed or computed as percentage of the selling price charged by the VAR to its end-user customers

These royalties may be prepaid in full or paid upon deployment

Frequently significant portion of our total revenues has been derived from limited number of large organizations who tend

to change from year to year In fiscal year 2011 one customer accounted for 10% of our total revenues in the first quarter two

customers accounted for 15% and 14% respectively of our total revenues in the second quarter two customers accounted for

11% and 11% respectively of our total revenues in the third quarter and one customer accounted for 15% of our total revenues

in the fourth quarter One customer accounted for 12% of our total revenues for the fiscal
year

ended October 31 2011

In fiscal year 2010 one customer accounted for 13% of our total revenues for the first quarter two customers accounted for

12% and 17% respectively of our total revenues for the second quarter one customer accounted for 15% of our total revenues

for the third quarter and two customers accounted for 12% and 13% respectively of our total revenues in the fourth quarter

One customer accounted for 12% of our total revenues for the fiscal year ended October 31 2010 In fiscal year 2009 no one

customer accounted for 10% or more of our total revenues for the fiscal year or in any fiscal quarter as we experienced smaller

average license transactions in fiscal 2009

Our Vertical Markets

Versant Object Database and FastObjects are licensed for development or deployment or both and db4o is licensed only for

deployment in wide range of application categories substantial amount of our sales is for applications in the

telecommunications technology healthcare defense transportation financial services and media sectors Many of our

customers have licensed multiple copies of our products for use in different applications

Our future performance will depend in significant part on achieving increased usage and sales of the Versant Object Database

and FastObjects in telecommunications technology healthcare government and defense transportation financial market

applications media and online gaming the continued acceptance of our products within these industries and achieving use and

acceptance of our products in other industries such as the energy sector Our performance will also be affected by the success of

our planned development of new product offerings and the adoption of those products to solve the Big Data problems of our

current and future vertical markets

Sales and Marketing

Sales Channels We market and sell our products principally through our direct sales force and through value-added resellers

systems integrators and distributors

Direct Sales Our direct sales organization is based in our corporate offices in Redwood City California and Hamburg

Germany and in other offices in the U.S and Europe The direct sales organization includes field sales personnel who are

responsible for account management and systems engineers who answer technical questions and assist customers in running

benchmarks against competitive products and in developing prototype applications

Indirect Sales Part of our sales strategy is to further develop indirect distribution channels such as value-added resellers and

systems integrators who address new markets or industries Systems integrators may integrate our products with their own

products or those of other vendors in order to provide complete solution to their customers Under their agreements with

Versant value-added resellers and systems integrators are typically not subject to any minimum purchase or resale

requirements and can cease marketing our products at any time Some of our value-added resellers and systems integrators

offer products they produced by themselves or by other vendors which may in some cases compete with our products In

addition we distribute our products in certain markets through distributors who resell our products without integrating them in

other solutions

Marketing The primary objective of our marketing efforts is to build increased visibility for Versant and its products and to

generate sales leads for our business Our marketing programs have included our efforts at cultivating media and analyst
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relations fostering valuable investor communications speakers programs online marketing partner-marketing programs

sponsoring database technology scholarship programs at the university level participation in conferences and tradeshows and

in some cases preparation of white papers or other marketing advertising initiatives targeting discrete industry or market

Sales Process The cycle for complete sale of our products to new and large enterprise customers can often exceed six

months and may extend to year or beyond For existing customers with successfully deployed applications sales cycles for

new applications of our core products are generally shorter During the sales cycle meetings involving both Versant technical

and management staff are conducted frequently at the prospective customers site and at our offices As part of their product

selection process our prospective customers typically perfonn detailed technical evaluation or benchmark of our object-based

technologies often directly comparing them to competitive products Upon completion of the evaluation customer that

chooses our solution may license one or more development licenses which entitle the customer to develop applications that use

Versant software product The number of development licenses customer may acquire depends upon the number of

programmers who will develop and build the customers application Additionally customer may purchase technical support

training courses and consulting services Our customers may also purchase deployment licenses from us that enable them to

sell and market product applications developed under Versant development license In some cases our customers purchase

deployment licenses at the same time they acquire development licenses In other cases customers may instead defer their

purchase of deployment licenses and related maintenance until they complete the application development under their

development license process that typically takes at least six months and can exceed one year

Shipping and Backlog Our software may be either physically or electronically delivered to .the customer If physically

delivered our software product is shipped from either our Redwood City or Hamburg facilities and is delivered to the customer

upon receipt of an approved order and signed license agreement We typically do not have material backlog of unfilled

license orders at any given time and we do not consider backlog to be meaningful indicator of our future performance

International Sales and Marketing Our international sales are primarily recorded by our subsidiary in Germany which sells

our products through distributors and value-added resellers as well as directly to end-users In fiscal 2009 we partnered with

distributor in China and in 2011 with distributor in India to access potential long-term growth opportunities in those

geographic regions For fiscal 2011 our international revenues derived from customers outside North America made up

approximately 60% of our total revenues compared to 60% for fiscal 2010 and 62% for fiscal 2009 Risks particularly

associated with our international sales are discussed below in Item lAunder the risk factor captioned International Operations

pose unique risks

Competition

Our software products compete with products of companies offering object and relational database management systems Our

competitors especially Oracle and Progress Software have longer operating histories significantly greater financial technical

marketing service and other resources significantly greater name recognition broader product offerings larger and more

established distribution channels and larger installed base of customers than does Versant In addition many of our

competitors have well-established relationships with our current and potential customers and may offer broader suites of

products with wide
array

of complementary applications which may incentivize customers to purchase these competitors data

management products We will encounter competition from new sources such as Ogen IBM EMC HP and Teradata as the

implementation of our new Big Data strategy brings us into new marketplaces We may not be able to compete successfully

against current or future competitors and competitive pressures could have material adverse effect on the business pricing

operating results and financial condition of the company

Research and Development

Currently our research and development activities are conducted primarily in Hamburg Germany and consist primarily of the

development of enhancements of and improvements to our existing product line quality assurance engineering and

development of add-on option solutions used with our principal products Our new Big Data strategic initiative will require

significant investment in research and development to develop analytics software application programming interfaces and

server technologies to manage Big Data sets Consequently in order to pursue this initiative Versant expects to increase its

research and development expenses
from 2011 levels by approximately 40% in 2012 In fiscal 2011 fiscal 2010 and fiscal

2009 our research and development expenses were $3.9 million $3.8 million and $4.0 million respectively Our research and

development expenses consist primarily of personnel and related expenses including payroll and employee benefits expenses

for facilities and payments made to outside software development contractors and to lesser degree depreciation of capital

equipment
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Intellectual Property and Other Proprietary Rights

We consider our products to be proprietary We attempt to protect our technology by relying primarily on combination of

copyright and trademark laws trade secrets confidentiality procedures and contractual provisions to protect our proprietary

technology For example we license our software pursuant to signed license agreements and to lesser extent shrink-wrap

licenses displayed in evaluation downloads and in software installation screens which impose certain restrictions on the

licensees ability to utilize our software In addition we take steps to avoid disclosure of our trade secrets such as requiring

persOns with access to our proprietary information to execute non-disclosure agreements and we restrict access to our software

source code We seek to protect our software documentation and other written materials under trade secret and copyright laws

which afford only limited protection We were awarded United States patent Not 5822759 for our proprietary cache

system used within our product suites which expires in 2015 We also have certain trademarks and service marks for certain of

our products and services

Employees

As of October 31 2011 we and our subsidiaries had total of 65 full time employees of whom 24 were based in the United

States and 41 in Europe As of October 31 2011 33 employees were engaged in engineering and technical services 18 were

engaged in sales and marketing and the remaining 14 were engaged in general administration and finance To the best of our

knowledge none of our employees is represented by labor union We have not experienced any organized work stoppage to

date and believe that our relationship with our employees is generally good

Our future performance depends mostly upon the continued service of our key technical sales and senior management

personnel The loss of the services of one or more of our key employees could have material adverse effect on our business

operating results and financial condition

Restructuring

In September 2009 restructuring plan was undertaken to consolidate the Companys research and development efforts into

one location in Germany in order to streamline operations create management efficiencies and increase productivity The

Company committed to closing its research and development facility in Pune India and .winding down the affairs of its

subsidiary Versant India Private Limited The restructuring was substantially completed during the second fiscal quarter ended

April 30 2010 See Note 12 of our Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in Item of this report for more information

regarding this transaction

Investor Information

We are subject to the informational requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 or the Exchange Act pursuant to

which we file our periodic reports on Forms lO-Q 10-K 8-K proxy statements and other information with the Securities and

Exchange Commission or the SEC These reports proxy statements and otherinformationmay be obtained by visiting the

Public Reference Room of the SEC at 100 Street NE Room 1580 Washington DC 20549 Information on the operation of

the SECs Public Reference Room may be obtained by calling the SEC at 1800 SEC-0330 In addition the SEC maintains an

Internet site at http//www.sec.gov that contains reports proxy and information statements and other information regarding

issuers that file electronically

Information regarding our revenues net income total assets and other financial information for our fiscal years ended

October 31 2011 2010 and 2009 can be found in Item of this report on Form 10-K which is incorporated here by reference

Financial and other information about Versant can also be accessed at our Investor Relations website The address of Versants

website is www.versant.com We make available free of charge copies of our annual reports annual reports on Forms 10-K

quarterly reports on Forms l0-Q current reports on Form 8-K and amendments to those reports filed or furnished pursuant to

Section 13a or 15d of the Exchange Act as soon as reasonably practicable after filing such materials with the SEC
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Item 1A Risk Factors

This annual report on Form 10-K contains forward-looking statements regarding the Company that involve risks and

uncertainties including but not limited to those set forth below in this Item IA that could cause our actual results of

operations and financial condition to materially from those contemplated in theforward-looking statements The risks

and uncertainties set forth below should be carefully considered when evaluating our business and prospects

Current economic conditions may harm our business and results of operations Global economic conditions and financial

markets have continued to be challenging to the enterprise software market as many economies and financial markets continue

to experience deep recession stemming from multitude of factors including adverse credit conditions slower economic

activity concerns about the debt levels and financial viability of certain European countries and the instability of financial

institutions and other businesses inflation and deflation continuing high rates of unemployment reduced
corporate capital

spending adverse business conditions and liquidity concerns and other factors Recovery of economic growth in the U.S and

many other countries has remained
very

slow and the length of time these adverse economic conditions may persist are

unknown During challenging economic times and in tight credit markets many prospective customers delay or reduce

technology purchases This has resulted and could continue to result in reductions in sales of our products and services longer

sales cycles smaller sales levels difficulties in collection of accounts receivable slower adoption of new technologies and

increased price competition Continued softness in corporate information technology spending would have direct adverse

impact on our business and any of the events described above in this paragraph would likely materially harm our business

including by decreasing our revenues decreasing cash provided by operating activities and negatively impacting our liquidity

We cannot predict the duration of these economic conditions or the impact they will have on our customers or business

Efforts to expand and diversify our product line may adversely affect our operating results and may not result in the

development of successful new products In 2012 and future years we plan to develop new products in order to expand and

diversify our product offerings beyond our existing core products VOD FastObjects and db4o The new software that we

propose to develop will require substantial research and development marketing and sales expenditures and in some cases

product acquisition and technology licensing costs with no assurance that we will receive incremental additional revenue from

such new products Developing successful new products will require us to incur significant marketing expenditures to

determine the viability of such new products and applications and target customers as well as substantial research and

development expenditures and additional sales expense associated with selling new products significant portion of such

expenses would likely be incurred well in advance of our recognition of any revenues from such new products and thus are

likely to adversely affect our results of operations and cash flows for certain fiscal periods In addition there can be no

assurance that any new products will be successfully developed accepted in the marketplace or generate meaningful amounts

of revenue or net income Failure to develop successful new products may adversely affect our reputation and our ability to

successfully market other products and our future revenues Consequently the Company must act carefully when making

product or technology development decisions In December 2008 we acquired the db4o database assets of Servo Software with

the objective of giving us new product as well as access to new customers and additional revenue opportunities However

the financial costs of this acquisition and associated operational costs have adversely affected our results of operations for fiscal

years 2011 2010 and 2009 and may continue to do so

We are dependent on limited number ofproducts especially Versant Object Database or VOD Most of our license

revenues to date have been derived from our VOD product its predecessors and related products that add to or extend the

capabilities of VOD Consequently if our ability to generate revenues from VOD were negatively impacted our business cash

flows and results of operations would be materially and adversely affected Many factors could negatively impact our ability to

generate revenues from Versant Object Database including without limitation softness in demand in the North American or

European markets for enterprise software the current instability in the global economy and any slowness in the U.S or

European economies or in key industries we serve such as the telecommunications and information technology industries the

success of competitive products of other vendors reduction in the prices we can obtain for our products due to competitive or

economic factors the adoption of new technologies or standards that make our products technologically obsolete and customer

reluctance to invest in object-oriented technologies Althoughwe have taken steps to diversif our product line through our

2004 acquisition of Poet and its FastObjects data management product and our December 2008 acquisition of db4o we still

expect that sales of VOD will continue to be very critical to our revenues for the foreseeable future Accordingly any

significant reduction in revenue levels from our VOD product can be expected to have material negative impact on our

business and results of operation It is possible that our efforts to develop and market our proposed new products for Big Data

applications could divert attention from our continued development sales and marketing efforts for VOD and any failure by

the Company to devote sufficient effort to VOD development sales and marketing efforts could have an adverse impact on

VOD sales and the Companys overall revenues and financial condition
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We depend on successful technology development We believe it will be necessary for us to increase significantly our research

and development expenditures in order for us to develop the new products outlined in our strategic roadmap While we believe

our research and development expenditures will result in new salable product because of the uncertainty of software

development projects and risks posed by the current economic downturn these expenditures will not necessarily result in

successful product introductions or sustained or increased revenue levels Uncertainties affecting the success of software

development project introductions include risks of technical difficulties delays in the introductions of new products potential

product errors market conditions competitive products and customer acceptance of and demand for new products and the

operating systems they run on We also face certain challenges in integrating third-party technology embedded in our products

These challenges include the technological challenges of integration which may result in development delays and uncertainty

regarding the economic terms of our relationship with our third-party technology providers which may result in delays of the

commercial release of new products In addition if we are required to adopt cost-conservation measures we may be compelled

to reduce the amount of our investment in research and development activities which could adversely affect our ability to

maintain the competitiveness of our existing products our ability to develop new products including without limitation the

new proposed products outlined in our strategic roadmap and our future research and development capabilities Failure to

continue to timely develop technologies and products necessary
for us to remain competitive is likely to have material and

adverse effect on our business

Reduced demand for our products and services may prevent us from achieving targeted revenues and profitability Our

revenues and our ability to achieve and sustain profitability depend on continuing or increasing the level of overall demand for

the software products and services we offer Demand for our product line may be reduced due to alternative technologies

offered by competitors negative customer perception of our object-oriented technology or other causes including economic

conditions that adversely affect the industries of our most significant customers such as the defense and telecommunications

industries In addition we have experienced continued hesitancy on the part of our existing and potential customers to commit

to additional products or services from us particularly in our North American markets Any significant reduction in the

demand for our products or services would have material adverse effect on our business and results of operations

Our products face significant competition from larger competitors Our VOD FastObjects and db4o products compete with

products of other companies that offer database management systems We face substantial competition from substantially larger

and well-established relational database management companies including Oracle Computer Associates Sybase IBM and

Microsoft We also face competition from object database companies including Progress Software Corporation and Objectivity

Additionally some of our prospective customers might attempt to build specialized data storage capability themselves using

their own internal engineering resources sometimes starting with low level operating system functionality and other times

utilizing lower level data storage routines that are commercially available such as Oracle Berkeley DB simplified database

without query processing capability Many of our competitors have longer operating histories significantly greater financial

technical marketing service and other resources better and wider name recognition broader suites of product offerings

stronger sales and distribution channels and much larger installed base of customers than ours In addition many of our

competitors have well-established relationships with our current and potential customers Our competitors may be able to

devote greater resources to the development promotion and sale of their products They may also have more direct access to

corporate decision-makers of key customers based on their previous relationships with these customers Our competitors may
also be able to respond more quickly to new or emerging technologies and changes in customer requirements and may have the

competitive advantage of being able to sell products competitive to ours through package sales of suite of variety of

products for different applications that we do not offer We may not be able to compete successfully against our current or

future competitors and competitive pressures could cause us to lose revenues or lower the prices for our products to increase or

maintain our sales revenues or to take other market-responsive actions any of which could have material adverse effect on

our business operating results and financial condition

Our customer concentration increases the potential volatility of our operating results Due to the nature of our products

significant portion of our total revenues has been and we believe will continue to be derived from limited number of

significant orders placed by large organizations For example in fiscal year 2011 one customer accounted for 10% of our

revenues in the first quarter two customers accounted for 15% and 14% respectively of our total revenues in the second

quarter two customers accounted for 11% and 11% respectively of our total revenues in the third quarter one customer

accounted for 15% of our total revenues in the fourth quarter and one customer accounted for 12% of our total revenues for the

fiscal year ended October 31 2011 Similarly in fiscal year 2010 one particular customer accounted for 13% 12% 15% and

9% of our total revenues in the first second third and fourth fiscal quarters of that fiscal year respectively and 12% of total

revenues for that fiscal year different customer accounted for 17% of our total revenues in the second fiscal quarter of 2010

and two other customers accounted for 12% and 13% respectively of our total revenues in our fourth fiscal quarter of 2010

The timing of large orders and their fulfillment has caused and in the future is likely to cause material fluctuations in our

operating results particularly on quarterly basis In addition our major customers tend to change from year to year The loss

of any one or more of our major customers or our inability to replace customer making declining purchases with new
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customer of comparable significance could each have material adverse effect on our business

Our quarterly revenue levels and operating results are not predictable and have resulted in volatility in our stock price Our

revenues and in some cases our operating results have fluctuated in some cases significantly on quarterly basis and we

expect this trend to continue For example in fiscal 2011 our quarterly revenues fluctuated from high of $4.6 million in the

first quarter of 2011 to low of $3.5 millionin the second quarter of 2011 These quarterly fluctuations can result in volatility

in our stock price and result from number of factors including but not limited to the following

delays by our customers including customers who are resellers in signing revenue-bearing contracts that were

expected to be entered into in particular fiscal quarter and in particular the timing of any significant sales

transactions

the status of the market for enterprise software and general macroeconomic factors that impact our potential

customers capital purchasing decisions for information technology or IT solutions such as our products which

may result in fewer licenses or smaller license transactions

the lengthy sales cycle associated with our products which complicates our ability to accurately forecast the timing of

our revenues

changes in customer purchasing patterns such as customers selecting lower levels of maintenance and support

services

fluctuations in domestic and foreign demand for our products and services particularly in the telecommunications and

defense markets

customer and market perceptions of the value and currency of objectoriented software technology

uncertainty regarding the timing and scope of our customers deployment of VOD-based applications where our

revenues are contingent upon the customers deployment of our product

any failure by us to timely develop and launch successful new products

the impact of new product introductions both by us and by our competitors

our unwillingness to lower our prices significantly to meet reduced prices set by our competitors or to successfully

meet other competitive market conditions

the effect of the publication by industry writers or others of their opinions about us our products our competitors and

our competitors products

customer deferrals of orders for our products or services in anticipation of our product enhancements or the pending

release of new product versions or new product offerings by us or our competitors

the extent to which we do or do not complete tasks under contracts for consulting projects which must be completed in

order for us to recognize certain revenues under such contracts

failure to transition db4o customers to other Versant products and

potential customers unwillingness to invest in our products given our size and assets

We have previously experienced revenues and earnings results that were significantly below levels expected by investors

which have had an immediate and significant adverse effect on the trading price of our common stock This may occur again in

the future Additionally as significant portion of our revenues are often realized late in fiscal quarter we may not be aware

of any revenue shortfall until late in fiscal quarter and an unanticipated announcement of such revenue shortfall could result

in an even more immediate and adverse effect on the trading price of our common stock

Our future revenues are substantially dependent upon our installed customers continuing to license Versant products and

renew their maintenance agreements for our products Ourfutureprofrssional services and maintenance revenues are

dependent on future sales of our software products We depend heavily on our installed customer base for future revenues

from licenses of additional products or upgrades of existing products and from related fees for the renewal of maintenance and

support agreements If our existing custoiners do not purchase additional products upgrade existing products or renew their

maintenance and support agreements with us this could materially and adversely affect our business and revenues and our

future quarterly and annual operating results The terms of our standard license arrangements provide for one-time license fee

and prepayment of one year of software maintenance and support fees Our maintenance agreements are generally renewable

annually at the option of the customer and there are no minimum payment obligations or obligations to license additional

software Therefore our current customers may not necessarily generate significant maintenance revenues in future periods if
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they choose not to renew ourmaintenance services or renew them at lower service levels that generate lower revenues This

risk may be increased in the case of long-term customers who have not upgraded our products which they license In addition

our customers may choose not to purchase additional products upgrades or professional services Our professional services and

maintenance revenues are also dependent upon the continued use of our products by our installed customer base Consequently

any downturn in our software license revenues would likely have corresponding negative impact on the growth of our

professional service and maintenance revenues

We plan to substantially increase our research and development and sales and marketing efforts and related expenses in

fiscal 2012 which is likely to adversely affect our operating results in fiscal 2012 and may continue to adversely affect our

operating results thereafter if these efforts are unsuccessful As part of our 2012 strategic new product initiative we expect

to develop database software related to very large data problems and plan to make significant investments in research and

development in order to execute on this initiative Specifically we currently have plans to increase our research and

development spending levels by approximately 40% in fiscal 2012 compared to the prior fiscal year In addition as we did in

fiscal 2011 in fiscal 2012 we again anticipate increasing our sales and marketing efforts and associated sales and marketing

expense in order to enter into the Big Data market attract new customers and to find new applications for our products with

existing customers We currently have plans to increase our sales and marketing spending levels by approximately 30% in

fiscal 2012 compared to fiscal 2011 While we anticipate receiving benefits from these additional research and development

and sales and marketing investments over the medium term we do not expect to generate meaningful revenues from our new

product initiative in fiscal 2012 and we currently expect that our total revenues in fiscal year 2012 will remain at

approximately 2011 levels Consequently as result of these planned investments we currently estimate that we will

experience net loss of approximately $1.7 to $1.9 million for the fiscal year ending October 31 2012 and we expect our net

cash from operating activities for fiscal year 2012 to be minimal If our enhanced research and development and sales and

marketing activities do not result in additional revenues and new customers the related increased research and development

and sales and marketing expenses
associated with these efforts would likely adversely affect our results of operations over the

medium to longer term Further even if our increased research and development and sales and marketing efforts are successful

we do not expect to recognize revenue from our new strategic product initiative until sometime in fiscal 2013 and due to the

relatively long sales cycle of our products the benefit of these efforts likely will not be meaningfully realized until future fiscal

periods so that such increased research and development and sales and marketing expenses will still be likely to adversely

affect our results of operations in the fiscal periods in which they are incurred Without limitation the estimates forecasts and

other statements in this paragraph are forward-looking statements

Our products have lengthy sales cycle The sales cycle for our VOD FastObjects and db4o products varies substantially

from customer to customer and similar long sales cycles can be expected for new products developed pursuant to our new Big

Data product initiative This sale cycle often exceeds six months and can sometimes extend to year or more especially for

sales to defense sector customers Due in part to the critical and strategic nature of our products and the level of expenditures

associated with their purchase our potential customers are typically very cautious in making decisions to acquire our products

In order for us to influence our customers decision to license our products we often must provide significant level of

education to prospective customers regarding the uses and benefits of our products and we frequently commit to provide that

education without any charge or reimbursement Generally pre-sales support efforts such as assistance in performing

benchmarking and application prototype development are also conducted with no charge to customers Because of the lengthy

sales cycle for our products and the relatively large average dollar size of our individual licenses lost or delayed sales

transaction could potentially have significant negative impact on our operating results for particular fiscal period

We may not be able to manage our costs effectively given the unpredictability of our revenues We expect to continue to

maintain relatively high percentage of fixed expenses We expect our research and development and our sales and marketing

expenses to increase substantially as we invest in efforts to develop new products and expand our customer base Consequently

if our forecasted revenue does not materialize our business financial condition and results of operations will be materially

harmed

We rely on revenues from the telecommunications and to lesser degree certain other industries and these industries are

characterized by complexity intense competition and changes inpurchasing cycles Historically we have been highly

dependent upon the telecommunications industry and more recently we are also becoming increasingly dependent upon the

information technology medical transportation and finance industries for sales of VOD Our success in these markets

depends to large extent on general economic conditions affecting these industries our ability to successfully compete with

other technology providers of solutions that directly compete with or provide alternatives to our products our ability to

develop products that can successfully interoperate in different computing environments and the continued belief by our

existing and potential customers that we have the expertise and financial stability necessary to provide effective solutions and

support in these markets on an ongoing basis If any of these conditions among others are not satisfied we may not be

successful in generating additional opportunities in these markets As previously noted the current global economy is in
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recession and in the past general economic downturns have also adversely affected our ability to generate revenues from

customers in the telecommunications and other industries In addition the types of applications and commercial products

needed by the telecommunications industry and other markets we address are continuing to develop and are rapidly changing

and these markets are characterized by an increasing number of new entrants whose products may compete with ours As

result we cannot predict the future growth of or whether there will be future growth in these markets and demand for object-

oriented databases applications in these markets may not develop or be sustainable We also may not be successful in attaining

significant share of these markets due to competition and other factors such as our limited size and working capital

Moreover potential customers in these markets generally develop sophisticated and complex applications that require

substantial consulting expertise to implement and optimize There can be no assurance that we can hire and retain adequate

skilled personnel to provide such ongoing consulting services

We rely on substantial portion of our revenues being generated through our international operations and will continue to

do so in the future large portion of our revenues is derived from customers located outside North America and it is critical

for us to maintain these international revenues Following our 2004 acquisition of Poet which had strong European presence

international revenues have represented larger percentage of our total revenues than they had prior to that time Consequently

we maintain significant portion of our workforce in Germany and must conduct our operations internationally and maintain

significant presence in international markets In each of fiscal 2011 and fiscal 2010 international revenues derived from

customers outside North America made up approximately 60% of our total revenues for each such fiscal year and international

revenues comprised 62% of our total revenues in fiscal 2009 Most of our non-North American revenues are derived from

Europe but we have taken initial steps to develop new distribution channels in China and India in an effort to expand our

customer base and future revenues We have substantially less experience in the sale and marketing of our products and

services in Asia and India and there can be no assurance that our efforts to develop new customers there will be successful or

will not result in increased sales and marketing costs that may not generate corresponding revenue which would adversely

affect our operating results We expect international revenues to continue to be critical to our operations and cash flows

International Operations pose unique risks Our international operations are subject to number of unique risks in addition to

the risks faced by our domestic operations These risks include but are not limited to the following areas

fluctuations in foreign exchange rates

longer receivable collection periods

adverse changes in regulatory requirements

dependence on independent resellers

compliance with multiple and conflicting laws regulations and technology standards in different jurisdictions some of

which are more burdensome and restrictive than U.S laws

costs and difficulties in adapting and translating product documentation and materials to meet local market

requirements

import and export restrictions tariffs local taxes and other regulatory restrictions

difficulties in and increased costs of staffing and managing foreign operations

potentially adverse tax consequences arising from international operations and inter-company transactions

the burdens of complying with variety of foreign laws including more protective employment laws affecting our

sizable workforce in Germany

limited ability to enforce agreements intellectual property rights and other rights in some foreign countries and

the impact of business cycles economic and political instability and potential hostilities outside the United States

In addition in light of increasing concerns about global security and terrorism and the extended global economic downturn

there may be additional risks of disruption to our international sales activities Any prolonged disruption in the markets in

which we derive significant revenues may potentially have material adverse impact on our revenues and results of operations

In order to be successful Versant must attract retain and motivate key employees for whom competition is intense and

failure to do so could seriously harm the Company particularly given the smaller size of our executive management team

In order to effectively execute our business strategy we must attract retain and motivate our executives and other key

employees including those in managerial sales and technical positions Our future performance depends in significant part

upon the continued service of our key technical sales and senior management personnel The loss of the services of one or

more of our key employees could have material adverse effect on our business particularly so given the relatively smaller
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size of our executive management team which currently consists of Bernhard Woebker our President and Chief Executive

Officer and Jerry Wong our Vice President Finance Chief Financial Officer and Secretary Our future success also depends on

our continuing ability to attract train and motivate highly qualified technical sales and managerial personnel Constraints on

our ability to offer compensation at levels that may be offered by larger competitors and other circumstances may adversely

affect our ability to attract and retain key management in the future We must continue to motivate our employees and keep

them focused on the achievement of our strategies and goals We now employ sizable German workforce subject to German

employment law which generally provides greater financial protection to terminated employees than does United States law

Consequently failure to retain our German employees may cause us to incur significant severance costs which could adversely

affect our operating results and financial condition

Our personnel management team and operations are located in different countries and as result we may experience

difficulty in coordinating our activities and successfully implementing Company goals Following our 2004 merger with

Poet we acquired significant operations and personnel in Europe and now have approximately 41 employees based in Europe

whose activities must be well coordinated with those ofour U.S workforce and our other employees The significant

geographic dispersion of our management team and our workforce may make it more difficult for us to successfully manage

our long-term objectives coordinate activity across the Company and integrate our operations and business plans and causes

us to incur certain additional travel and other expenses to maintain communications between our various offices

An impairment loss could have material adverse impact on our financial condition and results of operations The

continued global economic instability resulting in among other things lower demand for our offerings and disruption of

capital and credit markets could significantly affect our stock price and market capitalization It is possible that further

sustained declines in our stock price would result in goodwill impairment loss that could have material adverse impact on

our financial condition and results of operations

We are subject to litigation and the risk offuture litigation Litigation can be expensive to defend can consume significant

amounts of management time and can result in judgments or settlements that could have adverse effects on our results of

operations financial condition and cash reserves We are subject to potential litigation claims and the resulting costs and

distraction For example during fiscal 2006 we settled litigation that commenced in the last quarter of fiscal 2004 when we

were sued by Systems America Inc privately held company in an action which alleged that prior to our acquisition of

smaller privately-held company in November 2002 persons
associated with that company misappropriated trade secrets and

confidential information of Systems America unfairly competed with Systems America with respect to its customer

relaXionships and infringed Systems Americas trademarks and trade names Additionally during fiscal 2008 we settled another

related litigation in which prior customer was seeking indemnification from us for costs the customer had incurred in

defending suit brought against it by Systems America Inc which alleged that Versant product that was discontinued in 2004

infringed Systems Americats intellectual property Such settlements can adversely affect our operating results and reduce our

cash reserves

Our ability to use our net operating loss carry forwards and certain other tax attributes may be limited Under Section 382 of

the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 as amended if corporation undergoes an ownership change generally defined as

greater than 50% change by value in its equity ownership over three year period the corporations ability to use its pre

change net operating loss carry forwards and other pre-change tax attributes such as research tax credits to offset its post-

change income may be limited We may experience ownership changes in the future as result of shifts in our stock ownership

which are beyond our control As result if we earn net taxable income our ability to use our pre-change net operating loss

carry
forwards to offset United States federal.taxable income may be subject to limitations which could potentially result in

increased tax liability to us in the future In addition the State of California has in certain cases suspended the ability to utilize

net operating loss carry forwards in the current and certain past tax years and could do so again in the future

Although we believe our internal control over financial reporting is effective there remain risks that our controls may
become inadequate Since we are required to assess our internal control over financial reporting on an annual basis any

future adverse results from such an assessment could result in loss of investor confidence in our financial reports and

have an adverse effect on our stock price Pursuant to Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 SOX 404 and the

rules and regulations promulgated by the SEC to implement SOX 404 we are required to furnish an annual report in our

Form 10-K regarding the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting The reports assessment of our internal

control over financial reporting as of the end of our fiscal
year must include disclosure of any material weaknesses in our

internal control over financial reporting identified by management Managements assessment of internal control over financial

reporting requires management to make subjective judgments and therefore we may have difficulties in accurately assessing

the effectiveness of our internal controls In addition if we are unable to assert that our internal control over financial reporting

is effective we could lose investor confidence in the accuracy and completeness of our financial reports which would have an

adverse effect on our stock price
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Adoption and application of accounting regulations and related interpretations and policies regarding revenue recognition

could cause us to defer recognition of revenue or recognize lower revenues and profits Although we use standardized license

agreements designed to meet current revenue recognition criteria under generally accepted accounting principles we must

often negotiate and revise terms and conditions of these standardized agreements particularly withnew customers and in multi-

element or multi-year transactions Negotiation of mutually acceptable terms and conditions with our customers can extend the

sales cycle for our products and in certain situations may require us to defer recognition of revenue on such licenses We

believe that we are in compliance with ASC 985-605 Software Revenue Recognition however these future more complex

multi-element multi-year license transactions which may require additional accounting analysis to account for them

accurately could lead to unanticipated changes in our current revenue accounting practices and may contain terms affecting the

timing of our revenue recognition

Failure to adequately proteci our intellectual property could impair our ability to successfully compete Despite our efforts to

protect our proprietary rights third parties may attempt to misappropriate or copy aspects of our products or our technologies

obtain or wrongfully use information we regard as proprietary or use or make unauthorized copies of our products or

technologies in violation of license agreements Policing unauthorized use of our products is difficult and enforcing our

proprietary rights is potentially expensive In addition we conduct substantial portion of our business outside the United

States and the laws of many jurisdictions do not protect our proprietary rights to as great an extent as do the laws of the United

States Shrink-wrap licenses may be wholly or partially unenforceable under the laws of certain jurisdictions and copyright and

trade secret protection for software may be unavailable or very difficult to effectively enforce in certain foreign countries Our

means of protecting our proprietary rights may not be adequate and our competitors may independently develop similar

technologies which they could then market and sell to our customers which could have an adverse impact on our revenues

We may be subject to claims of intellectual property infringement Developers of software such as the Company are

frequently subject to intellectual property infringement claims as the number of products competitors and patents in our

industry sector grows Intellectual property infringement litigation can also arise when we acquire businesses or assets For

example in 2004 we were the subject of suit alleging that company we purchased misappropriated intellectual property and

the plaintiff in that litigation also brought an action against one of our customers on related facts which resulted in that

customer making claim for indemnification against us Although these suits were settled any claim of this type whether

meritorious or not could be time-consuming could result in significant litigation expenses could cause product shipment

delays and require us to enter into royalty or licensing agreements or pay amounts in settlement of the claims or pursuant to

judgments which could adversely affect our results of operations If any of our products or technologies were found to infringe

third-party rights royalty or licensing agreements to use such third-party rights might not be available on terms acceptable to

us or at all and we might be enjoined from marketing an infringing product or technology each of which circumstances could

have material adverse effect on our business operating results and financial condition

Our use of open source software could negatively impact our ability to sell our products The products services or

technologies we acquire license provide or develop may incorporate or use open source software We monitor our use of open

source software in an effort to avoid unintended consequences such as reciprocal license grants patent retaliation clauses and

the requirement to license our products at no cost There is relatively little or no legal precedent for interpreting the terms of

these open source licenses whose terms may be difficult to interpret or apply therefore we may be subject to unanticipated

obligations regarding our products that incorporate open source software In addition disclosing the content of our source code

could limit the intellectual property protection we can obtain or maintain for that source code or the products containing that

source code and could facilitate intellectual property infringement claims against us

We may engage in future acquisitions of businesses or assets that could dilute our shareholders and cause us to incur debt

or assume contingent liabilities As part of our strategy we may from time to time review opportunities to buy other

businesses or technologies that would complement our current products expand the breadth of our markets or enhance our

technical capabilities or that may otherwise offer us growth opportunities In the event of any future acquisitions we

potentially might take any or all of the following actions

pay amounts of cash to acquire assets or businesses

issue stock that would dilute current shareholders percentage ownership

incur debt and/or

assume liabilities
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Such acquisitionsalso involve numerous risks including the following

problems combining the acquired operations technologies or products or integration of new personnel

the incurrenc.e of substantial transaction costs to effect such acquisitions

the incurrence of unanticipated costs in completing such acquisitions or in inheriting unforeseen liabilities and

expenses of acquired businesses

diversion of managements attention from our core business

adverse effects on existing business relationships with suppliers and customers

risks associated with entering markets in which we have no or limited prior experience and

potential loss of key employees of purchased organizations

For example in December 2008 we acquired for cash from privately-held Servo Software Inc assets associated with Servo

Softwares db4o open source database solution for the embedded device market We acquired these assets with the objective of

expanding our product line and obtaining access to new customers and additional revenue opportunities However this

acquisition continues to be subject to many of the risks of acquisitions outlined above including the fact that this product may
generate losses for future fiscal periods and adversely affect our results of operations

There can be no assurance that we will be able to successfully integrate the db4o business or any other businesses products or

technologies that we might purchase in the future

Charges to earnings resulting fram our acquisition of businesses or assets may adversely affect the market value of our

common stock In accordance with U.S generally accepted accounting principles we account for our merger with Poet our

acquisition of FastObjects Inc and our fiscal 2009 acquisition of the db4o assets of Servo Software using the purchase method

of accounting which result in charges to earnings that could have material adverse effect on the market value of our common
stock Under the purchase method of accounting we have allocated the total estimated purchase price of Poet FastObjects and

db4o to net tangible assets and amortizable intangible assets based on their fair values as of the respective dates of the closing

of these acquisitions and recorded the excess of the purchase price over those fair values as goodwill We will incur additional

amortization
expense over the useful lives of certain intangible assets acquired in connection with db4o which will extend into

future fiscal
years In addition to the extent the value of goodwill or intangible assets is impaired we may be required to incur

material charges relating to the impairment of those assets Such amortization and potential impairment charges could have

material impact on our results of operations

Our common stock is listed on the NASDAQ Capital Market The listing of our common stock on The NASDAQ Capital

Market may be perceived as negative by investors and may adversely affect the liquidity and trading price of our common
stock We may be unable to list our common stock on The NASDAQ Global Market System or NGMS

The nature of the trading market for our stock makes our stock price volatile We have relatively smaller number of holders

of our stock and the market for our common stock is characterized by relatively small sales volumes which contributes to the

volatility of our stock price and its sensitivity to larger trades of stock During fiscal years 2009 2010 and 2011 our Board of

Directors approved annual stock repurchase programs under which the Company repurchased an aggregate total of

approximately $10.5 million worth of our outstanding common shares and in November 2011 our Board of Directors

approved new stock repurchase program pursuant to which the Company is authorized to potentially repurchase up to $5.0

million of its common stock in fiscal 2012 Repurchases of our shares will reduce the number of our outstanding common
shares and might incrementally increase the potential for volatility in our stock by reducing the potential volumes at which our

common shares may trade in the public markets

The Company may face risks associated with the trend of increased shareholder activism Publicly traded companies have

increasingly become subject to campaigns by investors seeking to increase short-term shareholder value by advocating

corporate actions such as financial restructuring increased borrowing special dividends stock repurchases or even sales of

assets or the entire company Given the Companys market capitalization and other factors it is possible that shareholders may
in the future attempt to effect such changes or acquire control over the Company Responding to proxy contests and other

actions by activist shareholders would be costly and time-consuming disrupting our operations and diverting the attention of

our Board of Directors and senior management from the pursuit of business strategies which could adversely affect the

Companys results of operations and financial condition
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Business disruptions could seriously harm our future revenue and financial condition and increase our costs and expenses

Our worldwide operations could be subject to natural disasters and other business disruptions which could seriously harm our

revenue and financial condition and increase our costs and expenses Our corporate headquarters in Redwood City California

is located near major earthquake faults The ultimate impact on us and our general infrastructure of being located near major

earthquake faults is unknown but our revenue profitability and financial condition could suffer in the event of major

earthquake or other natural disaster Losses in and interruptions of our business as well as of our customers businesses could

also be caused by earthquakes power shortages telecommunications failures water shortages floods fires extreme weather

conditions medical epidemics and other natural or manmade disasters

Item lB Unresolved Staff Comments

None

Item Properties

Our principal administrative sales and marketing operations are headquartered at an approximately 6800 square foot office

facility we lease that is located at 255 Shoreline Drive Suite 450 Redwood City California 94065 Our current lease of.this

facility expires in May 2013 In November 2011 we leased an additional 2500 square feet in the same facility through May
2014 and in January 2012 we leased approximately 1600 square feet in an office building in Cupertino California for the

twelve months ending January 2013

Our international subsidiary in Hamburg Germany entered into lease which commenced in December 2009 for term of 60

months ending in November 2014 Our prior Hamburg office lease expired by its terms on December 31 2009 In January

2011 we entered into thirty-six month lease for approximately 300 square feet of office space in Munich Germany

We believe that all of our current facilities are in reasonably good operating condition and will be adequate for our

requirements for the next several years Based on current commercial real estate market conditions we believe that we will be

able to lease alternative comparable facilities in Germany or in the U.S if required to do so

Item Legal Proceedings

We may from time to time be subject to legal proceedings in the ordinary course of business Currently we are not subject to

any material legal proceedings required to be disclosed under this Item

Item Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable
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PART II

Item Market for Registrants Common Equity Related Stockholder Matters and

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

Price Range of Common Stock

Our common stock is listed on the Nasdaq Capital Market formerly the Nasdaq SmaliCap Market under the symbol VSNT
Our common stock commenced trading on the Nasdaq National Market on July 18 1996 From July 19 1999 until March

2000 our common stock was traded on the Nasdaq SmaliCap Market From March 2000 until September 30 2002 our

common stock was traded on the Nasdaq National Market Our common stock has been traded on the Nasdaq Capital Market

since October 2002 We requested that listing of our common stock be transferred to the Nasdaq Capital Market as of

October 2002 since at that time it seemed unlikely that in the near term we would continue to be able to satisf the then-

applicable listing criteria of the Nasdaq National Market System

The following table lists the high and low selling price of our common stock based on the last daily sale reported on the

Nasdaq Capital Market for the periods indicated during the last two fiscal years

High Low

Fiscal year ended October 31 2011

Fourth quarter 12.22 9.97

Third quarter 13.06 11.38

Secondquarter 13.84 12.80

First quarter 13.97 11.07

Fiscal year ended October 31 2010

Fourth quarter 11.94 10.58

Third quarter 15.05 10.63

Secondquarter 15.58 14.35

First quarter 19.31 14.70

Shareholders

There were approximately 63 holders of record of our common stock as of January 25 2012 We believe that significant

number of beneficial owners of our common stock hold their shares in street name

Dividend policy

We have neither declared nor paid any cash dividends on our common stock in the past We currently intend to retain future

earnings if any to fund development and growth of our business and therefore do not at this time anticipate that we will

declare or pay cash dividends on our common stock in the foreseeable future

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities

Versant made no issuances of unregistered securities in fiscal 2011

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

On December 2008 Versants Board of Directors approved stock repurchase program authorizing Versant to repurchase up

to $5.0 million worth of its outstanding common shares from time to time on the open market in block trades or otherwise

That stock repurchase program expired by its terms on October 31 2009 Versant acquired 222688 common shares on the open

market for approximately $3.2 million at an average purchase price of $14.52 per share under this stock repurchase program
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On November 30 2009 our Board of Directors approved new stock repurchase program authorizing Versant to repurchase up

to $5.0 million worth of its outstanding common shares from time to time on the open market in block trades or otherwise the

fiscal 2010 stock repurchase program which expired by its terms on October 31 2010 Pursuant to the fiscal 2010 stock

repurchase program Versant acquired 356104 common shares on the open market and in block trades for approximately $4.3

million at an average purchase price of $12.06 per
share

On November 29 2010 our Board of Directors approved new stock repurchase program authorizing Versant to repurchase up

to $5.0 million worth of its outstanding common shares from time to time on the open market in block trades or otherwise the

fiscal 2011 stock repurchase program which expired by its terms on October 31 2011 Pursuant to this fiscal 2011 stock

repurchase program Versant acquired 240629 common shares on the open market and in block trades for approximately $3.0

million at an average purchase price of$12.23 per share

The stock repurchase activity under our stock repurchase program during the three months and fiscal
year

ended October 31
2011 is summarized in the following table

Maximum

Approximate
Dollar Value of

Total Total Number of Shares that May
Number of Shares Purchased Yet Be

Shares Average Price as Part of Publicly Purchased

Purchased Paid Per Share Announced Plan or Under the Plan

Program or Program

Period

August -August31 2011 3104 10.11 3104 2238081

September 1- September 30 2011 5128 11.20 5128 2180672

October -October31 2011 10910 11.22 10910 2058286

Three months ended October 31 2011 19142 11.03 19142

November 30 2010- July31 2011 284032 12.59 221487

Fiscal year ended October 31 2011 303174 12.49 240629

Average price paid per share is calculated on settlement basis and excludes commission

On March 28 2011 the Company repurchased 62545 shares of its common stock at $13.50 pursuant to the Separation

Agreement with its former CEO

Except as noted in footnote regarding repurchase of stock from Versants former CEO all repurchases reflected

in the above table were made pursuant to the Companys fiscal 2011 stock repurchase program which authorizes the

repurchase of up to $5000000 of common stock This repurchase program was approved on November 29 2010 and

announced on December 2010 and expired by its own terms on October 31 2011

On November 28 2011 our Board of Directors approved new stock repurchase program announced on December

2011 and pursuant to which the Company is authorized to repurchase up to $5.0 million of its common stock in fiscal

year 2012 The stock repurchase program is currently scheduled to expire upon the earlier of October 31 2012 or

such time as Versant has expended $5.0 million to repurchase outstanding common shares under the program

however the program may be suspended discontinued terminated or extended at any time by the Company
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Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans

The following table sets forth certain information as of October 31 2011 with respect to compensation plans under which our

equity securities are authorized for issuance

Stock Price Performance Graph and Cumulative Total Return

Number of securities

to be issued upon
exercise of

outstanding options

warrants and rights

The graph below compares the cumulative total shareholder return on Versant common stock with the cumulative total return

on the Nasdaq Composite Index and the Nasdaq Computer and Data Processing Index for each of the last five fiscal years

ended October 31 2011 assuming an investment of $100 at the beginning of such period and the reinvestment of any

dividends The comparisons in the graphs below are based upon historical data and are not indicative of nor intended to

forecast future performance of our common stock

COMPARISON OF YEAR CUMULATiVE TO1L RETURN
Among Varsant Corporation the N.ASOAQ Composite Index

and the NASOAQ Couter Data Processing index

-a-VeaCo a--NASOAQCcinposh

10111

$100 invested on 10/31/06 in stock or index including reinvestment of dividends

Fiscal year ending October 31

Weighted-average
exercise price of

outstanding

options warrants

and rights

Number of securities

remaining available for

future issuance under

equity compensation plans

excluding securities

reflected in column

Plan category

Equity compensation plans

approved by security holders 650465 15.20 375163

Equity compensation plans

not approved by security holders

Total 650465 15.20 375163

Please see Note 10 of our Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in Item of this report for description of

our equity compensation plans
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Item Selected Financial Data

The following selected consolidated financial data are qualified by reference to and should be read in conjunction with

Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations contained in Item of this report

and the Consolidated Financial Statements and related Notes of Versant included in Item of this report The selected

consolidated balance sheet data as of October 31 2011 and 2010 and selected consolidated statements of income data for the

years ended October 31 2011 2010 and 2009 are derived from our audited consolidated financial statements included

elsewhere in this report The selected consolidated balance sheet data as of October 31 2009 2008 and 2007 and the selected

consolidated statements of income data for the years ended October 31 2008 and 2007 were derived from audited consolidated

financial statements not included in this report Our historical results are not necessarily indicative of our future results

Fiscal Year Ended October 31

2011 2010 2009 2008 2007

Consolidated statements of income data

Totairevenues 16272 15766 18150 25298 21150

Grossprofit 14270 13653 15919 23116 19112

Income from operations 946 1971 4045 9951 7664

Income from continuing operations before income taxes.. 984 2121 4277 10822 8196

Net income from continuing operations 702 1654 4839 9391 7329

Net income 702 1654 4839 9489 7633

Per share data

Net income from continuing operations basic 0.23 0.48 1.33 2.52 2.01

Net income from continuing operations diluted 0.23 0.48 1.32 2.48 1.98

Net income basic 0.23 0.48 1.33 2.54 2.09

Net income diluted 0.23 0.48 1.32 2.51 2.06

October 31

2011 2010 2009 2008 2007

Consolidated balance sheets data

Cash and cash equivalents 23145 24911 27812 27234 19086

Total assets 36636 39129 41373 38561 30466

Total long-term liabilities 178 205 272 374 674

Total shareholders equity 6789 32535 34444 36257 33154 23165

Restructuring charges of approximately $25000 $39000 and $139000 were recorded in fiscal 2011 2010 and 2009

respectively

In fiscal 2007 loss on the liquidation of foreign subsidiary of approximately $245000 was recorded

In fiscal 2008 charge of $800000 to settle litigation was recorded in operating expenses

In fiscal 2009 we released approximately $939000 of the valuation allowance against our net deferred tax assets

In fiscal 2009 we acquired the assets of db4o for approximately $2.6 million $2.4 million of the acquisition costs were

paid in fiscal 2009 and $180000 of the acquisition costs were paid in fiscal 2010

In fiscal 2009 we repurchased 222688 shares of Versant common stock for approximately $3.2 million

In fiscal 2010 we repurchased 356104 shares of Versant common stock for approximately $4.3 million

In fiscal 2011 we repurchased 240629 shares of Versant common stock for approximately $3.0 million

In fiscal 2011 we repurchased 62545 shares of Versant common stock for approximately $844000 pursuant to

separation agreement with our former CEO
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Item Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

As indicated in the paragraph above item of this report this report on Form 10-K including this Item contains certain

forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and Section 27A of the Securities Act of

1933 These forward-looking statements include among other things statements regarding the Companys expectedfuture

financial performance assets liquidity and trends anticipatedfor the Companys business These statements are based on the

Companys current expectations assumptions estimates and projections about the Companys business the Companys

industry and the marketfor the Companys goods and services which are based on information that is reasonably available to

the Company as of the date of this report Forward-looking statements may include words such as believesanticipates

expectsintends lanswillmay shoulcl estimates predicts forecasts guidance potential eontinue

or the negative of such terms other variants of such terms or other similar expressions

We caution readers that these forward-looking statements are not assurances of our future performance or financial condition

and are subject to and involve sign ficant known and unknown risks uncertainties and other factors that may cause the

Company actual operating results financial condition levels of activity performance or achievement to be materially

different from any future operating results financial condition levels of activity performance or achievements that are

expressed estimated forecasted projected implied in anticipated or contemplated by theforward-looking statements These

known and unknown risks uncertainties and other factors include but are not limited to those risks uncertainties and factors

discussed in Item IA of this report under the heading Risk Factors Readers are urged to carefully review and consider the

various disclosures made by us in this report and in our other reports filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission that

attempt to advise interested parties of the risks andfactors that may affect our business financial performance or financial

condition Versant undertakes no obligation to revise or update any forward-looking statement in order to reflect events or

circumstances that may arise or occur after the date of this report

Background and Overview

We design develop market and support high performance object-oriented database management software solutions and

provide related maintenance and professional services Our products and services address the complex data management needs

of enterprises and providers of products requiring data management functions In December 2011 we announced strategic

product roadmap in which we have outlined our plans to create database software related to very large data problems The goal

of this new product development strategy is to extend Versants proven ability to provide data solutions for large distributed

systems to emerging so called Big Data and near real-time analytical application opportunities Our products and services

collectively comprise our single operating segment which we call Data Management

Our end-user customers typically use our products to manage data for business systems and to enable these systems to access

and integrate data necessary for the customers data management applications Our data management products and services

offer customers the ability to manage real-time XML and other types of hierarchical and navigational data We believe that by

using our data management solutions customers cut their hardware costs accelerate and simplify their development efforts

significantly reduce administration costs and deliver products and services with significant competitive edge

Our Data Management business is currently comprised of the following key products

Versant Object Database or VOD previously known as VDS an eighth generation object-oriented database

management system that is used in high-performance large-scale real-time commercial applications in distributed

computing environments We also offer several optional ancillary products for use with Versant Object Database to

extend its capabilities provide compatibility and additional protection of stored data

FastObjects an object-oriented database management system that can be embedded as high performance component

into customers applications and systems

db4o an open source object-oriented database software solution targeting the embedded device market

Our Versant Object Database product offerings are used primarily by larger organizations such as technology providers

telecommunications carriers government defense agencies defense contractors healthcare companies and companies in the

financial services and transportation industries each of which have significant large-scale data management requirements With

the incorporation of the FastObjects solution into our product line following our March 2004 merger with Poet Holdings Inc

we expanded the scope of our solutions to also address the data management needs of smaller business systems By our

acquisition of db4o in December 2008 we further expanded the scope of our solutions to include the embedded device market
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In December 2011 we announced new strategic product roadmap under which we plan to develop database software

products to address very large data problems Versant plans to develop these new products in order to provide data management

software that enables the development of analytical application for the intelligent real-time enterprise

Our customers data management needs can involve many business functions ranging from management of the use and sharing

of companys internal enterprise data to the processing of externally originated information such as customer enrollment

billing and payment transaction data Our solutions have also been used to solve complex data management issues such as

fraud detection risk analysis and yield management and can be adapted for use with many different applications

In addition to our product offerings we provide maintenance and technical support services to assist users in using our

products We also offer variety of consulting and training services to assist users in developing and deploying applications

based on Versant Object Database FastObjects and db4o

We license our products and sell associated maintenance training and consulting services to end-users through our direct sales

force and through value-added resellers systems integrators and distributors

In addition to these products and services we resell related software developed by third parties To date substantially all of our

revenues have been derived from the following data management products and related services

Sales of licenses for Versant Object Database and FastObjects

Maintenance and technical support services for our products including db4o

Consulting and training services

Nonrecurring engineering fees received in connection with providing services associated with Versant Object

Database

The resale of licenses and maintenance training and consulting services for third-party products that complement

VersantObject Database

Reimbursements received for out-of-pocket expenses which we incurred and are recorded as revenues in our

statements of income

Negative and Uncertain Global Economic Conditions Are Continuing to Impact Our Business

Global economic developments like the recent recessions and debt crises in the U.S and Europe have continued to adversely

effect the enterprise software market Economic growth in the U.S and many other countries has remained very slow and the

length of time these adverse economic conditions may persist is unknown Our business has been negatively affected by these

ongoing worldwide economic conditions It is unclear when or to what extent the macroeconomic environment may improve

During fiscal year 2011 our selling environment remained very challenging We are seeing continuing pressures on our

customers budgets and as they are facing uncertainty and cost pressures in their own businesses some of our customers are

deferring purchases of our products or electing less expensive levels of our maintenance services The current difficult and

uncertain economic conditions are causing some of our customers to face financial challenges and they may continue to face

such chalenges for the foreseeable future The current economic uncertainty could continue to harm our business operating

results and financial condition in the foreseeable future

Financial Highlights for Fiscal Year 2011

Our net revenues in fiscal
year

2011 were $16.3 million an increase of $506000 or 3% from net revenues of $15.8

million in fiscal year 2010 This increase in revenues arose from an increase in license revenue as result of modest

global increase in the average license volume per customer One customer accounted for 12% of our total revenues for

the fiscal year ended October 31 2011

Ournet income for fiscal year 2011 was $702000 compared to net income of $1.7 million in fiscal year 2010 The

decrease in net income in fiscal year 2011 was primarily due to the planned $846000 expansion of our sales and

marketing activities and the $470000 of nonrecurring separation costs related to the departure of our former CEO
partially offset by modest increase in revenues
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Cash provided by operations in fiscal year 2011 was $2.6 million compared to $2.3 million in fiscal year 2010 This

increase in cash provided by operations in fiscal year 2011 was primarily due to an approximate $1.0 million decrease

in trade accounts receivable in fiscal year 2011 compared to an approximate $1.0 million increase in trade accounts

receivable in fiscal year 2010 partially offset by the $1.0 million decrease in net income and $606000 decrease in

liabilities in fiscal year 2011

Cash used in investing activities in fiscal year 2011 was $775000 compared to $645000 in fiscal year 2010 The

increase in cash used in investing activities was primarily due to $295000 increase in purchases of equipment and

software that was partially offset by decrease in cash used in investing activities due to the fact that the remaining

contingent cash payments of approximately $180000 related to our acquisition of the db4o assets were made in fiscal

year 2010 and no such corresponding payments were made in fiscal year 2011

Cash used in financing activities in fiscal year 2011 was $3.6 million compared to $4.1 million in fiscal year 2010

The decrease in cash used in financing activities in fiscal year 2011 when compared to fiscal year 2010 was due to

decrease of approximately $514000 in funds used to repurchase shares of our common stock pursuant to our stock

repurchase programs together with an increase of $41000 in the proceeds we received from issuance of common

stock During fiscal year 2011 our cash and cash equivalents balance decreased by $1.8 million to $23.1 million at

October 31 2011 compared to $24.9 million at October 31 2010

Fiscal Year 2012 and Beyond

During fiscal year 2012 we expect to focus our sales and marketing efforts on our data management products Versant Object

Database FastObjects and db4o on related maintenance consulting and training services and the launch of new products

currently being developed to address Big Data problems Versant Object Database was the key focus of our marketing efforts

and the major source of our license and service revenues in fiscal
year

2011

We again expect to derive most of our revenues in fiscal
year 2012 from Versant Object Database FastObjects and db4o

licenses and related services Like many other software companies we do not operate with significant backlog of orders Our

license revenues in particular are difficult to forecast The outlook into the Companys anticipated performance in fiscal year

2012 is uncertain due principally to the prolonged worldwide economic instability As part of our 2012 strategic initiative we

expect to develop database software related to very large data problems Versant plans to make significant investments in

research and development in order to execute on our new strategic initiative and additional marketing resources are also

necessary to make the initiative success Versant anticipates revenues from this initiative beginning in fiscal year 2013

Versant plans to increase its research and development as well as its sales and marketing spending levels by approximately 40%

and 30% respectively in fiscal year 2012 compared to the prior fiscal year. The Company expects to recognize benefits from

these additional investments over the medium term and currently expects its total revenues in fiscal year 2012 to remain at

approximately 2011 levels As result of these investments we currently estimate net loss of approximately $1.7 to $1.9

million for the fiscal year ending October 31 2012 Versant expects net cash from operating activities for fiscal year 2012 to be

minimal Without limitation the estimates forecasts and other statements in this paragraph are forward-looking statements

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

The preparation of our consolidated financial statements requires us to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported

amount of our assets and liabilities at the date of our financial statements and of our revenues and expenses during the reporting

period covered by our financial statements We base these estimates and judgments on information reasonably available to us
such as our historical experience and trends industry economic and seasonal fluctuations and on our own internal projections

that we derive from that information Although we believe our estimates to be reasonable under the circumstances there can be

no assurances that such estimates will be accurate given that the application of these accounting policies necessarily involves

the exercise of subjective judgment and the making of assumptions regarding many future variables and uncertainties We

consider critical those accounting policies that require our most difficult subjective or complex judgments and that are most

important to the portrayal of our financial condition and results of operations These critical accounting policies relate to

revenue recognition goodwill and acquired intangible assets and income taxes
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Revenue Recognition

We recognize revenues in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America

GAAP as set forth in

Accounting Standards Codification ASC 985-605 Software Revenue Recognition and

ASC 605-3 Revenue Recognition Construction-Type and Production-Type Contracts

Our revenues consist mainly of revenues earned under software license agreements maintenance support agreements

otherwise known as post-contract customer support or PCS and to lesser degree agreements for consulting and training

activities

We use the residual method to recognize revenues when license agreement includes one or more elements to be delivered by

us at future date If there is an undelivered element under the license arrangement we defer revenues based on vendor-

specific objective evidence VSOE of the fair value of the undelivered element as determined by the price charged when the

element is sold separately If VSOE of fair value does not exist for all undelivered elements of transaction we defer all

revenues from that transaction until sufficient evidence of the fair value exists or until all elements have been delivered Under

the residual method discounts are allocated only to the delivered elements in multiple element arrangement with any

undelivered elements being deferred based on the vendor-specific objective evidence of the fair value of such undelivered

elements We typically do not offer discounts on future undeveloped products

We have established VSOE of fair value of our PCS as evidenced by stand-alone renewal transactions using the bell shaped

curve approach PCS of our Versant Object Database is priced as percentage of the original software license fees We

perform quarterly analysis on transaction by transaction basis to document the range of pricing in PCS renewals We conclude

that we have established VSOE of fair value for our PCS if substantial majorities greater than 80% of our stand-alone

renewal transactions are priced within reasonably narrow range plus or minus 15% from the midpoint of the range For the

year
ended October 31 2011 the pricing of over 95% of our stand-alone PCS renewal transactions fell within the predefined

pricing range

Revenues from software license arrangements including prepaid license fees are recognized when all of the following criteria

are met

Persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists

Delivery has occurred and there are no future deliverables except PCS

The fee is fixed and determinable If we cannot conclude that fee is fixed and determinable then assuming all other

criteria have been met we recognize the revenues as payments become due in accordance with ASC 985-605

Collection is reasonably assured

If an acceptance period or other contingency exists revenues are not recognized until customer acceptance or expiration of the

acceptance period or until satisfaction of the contingency as applicable Our license fees are generally non-cancelable and non-

refundable Also our customer agreements for prepaid deployment licenses typically do not make payment of our license fees

contingent upon the actual deployment of the software Therefore customers delay or acceleration in its deployment schedule

generally does not impact our revenue recognition in the case of prepaid deployment license

Revenues from related PCS for all product lines are usually billed in advance of the service being provided and are deferred

and recognized on straight-line basis over the term in which the PCS is to be performed which is generally twelve months In

some cases PCS revenues are paid in arrears of the service being provided and are recognized as revenues at the time the

customer provides report to us for deployments made during given time period Training and consulting revenues are

recognized when purchase order is received the services have been performed and collection is deemed probable Consulting

services are billed on an hourly daily or monthly rate Training classes are billed based on group or individual attendance

We categorize our customers into two broad groups End-Users and Value Added Resellers VARs End-User customers are

companies who use our products internally and do not redistribute our product outside of their corporate organizations VAR

57



customers include traditional Value Added Resellers Systems Integrators Original Equipment Manufacturers OEMs and

other vendors who redistribute our products to their external third party customers either separately or as part of an integrated

product

We license our data management products through two types of perpetual licenses development licenses and deployment

licenses Development software is typically licensed on per seat basis and authorizes customer to develop and test an

application program that uses our software product Before an End-User customer may deploy an application that it has

developed under our development license it must purchase deployment licenses in which the license fees are based on the

number of computers connected to the server that will run the application using our product or for certain applications are

based on the number of users Pricing of Versant Object Database and FastObjects licenses varies according to several factors

including the number of computer servers on which the application runs and the number of users that are able to access the

server at any one time Customers may elect to simultaneously purchase development and deployment licenses for an entire

project These development and deployment licenses may also provide for prepayment to us of nonrefundable amount for

future deployment

VARs and distributors license development software from us on per seat basis on terms similar to those of development

licenses that we sell directly to End-Users VARs are authorized to sublicense deployment copies of our data management

products that are either bundled or embedded in the VARs applications and sold directly to End-Users VARs are required to

report their distribution of our software and are charged royalty that is either based on the number of copies of the application

software that are distributed or computed as percentage of the selling price charged by the VARs to their end-user customers

These royalties from VARs may be prepaid in full or paid upon deployment Our VAR agreements for prepaid royalty

arrangements are non-cancelable non-refundable and do not make payment of our license fees contingent upon the actual

deployment of our software and therefore the future deployment schedules of our VARs have no impact on revenue

recognition of such prepaid royalties Provided that all other conditions for revenue recognition have been met revenues from

arrangements with VARs are recognized as to prepaid license arrangements when the prepaid licenses are sold to the VAR
and ii as to other license arrangements at the time the VAR provides royalty report to us for sales made by the VAR during

given period

Revenues from our resale of third-party products or services are recorded at total contract value with the corresponding cost

included in the cost of sales when we act as principal in these transactions by assuming the risks and rewards of ownership

including the risk of loss for collection delivery or returns When we do not assume the risks and rewards of ownership

revenues from the resale of third-party products or services are recorded at contract value net of the cost of sales

On occasion at customers request we perform engineering work to port our products to an unsupported platform to

customize our software for specific functionality or to perform other non-routine technical assignments for customer In these

instances we recognize revenues in accordance with ASC 605-3 Revenue Recognition Construction-Type and Production-

Type Contracts and use either the time and material percentage of completion method or the completed contract method for

recognizing revenues We use the percentage of completion method if we can make reasonable and dependable estimates of

labor costs and hours required to complete the work in question We periodically review these estimates in connection with the

work performed and rates actually charged and recognize any losses when identified Progress to completion is determined

using the cost-to-cost method whereby cost incurred to date as percentage of total estimated cost determines the percentage

completed and revenue recognized When using the percentage of completion method the following conditions must exist

An agreement must include provisions that clearly specify the rights regarding goods or services to be provided and

received by both parties the consideration to be exchanged and the manner and terms of settlement

The customer is able to satisfy its obligations under the contract

Versant is able to satisfy its obligations under the contract

The completed contract method is used when reasonable or dependable estimates of labor costs and time to complete the work

cannot be made As result in such situations we defer all revenues until such time as the work is fully completed

Management makes significant judgments and estimates in connection with the determination of the revenue we recognize in

each accounting period If we had made different judgments or utilized different estimates for any period material differences

in the amount and timing of revenue recognized would have resulted
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Goodwill and Acquired Intangible Assets

We account for purchases of acquired companies in accordance with ASC 805 Business Combinations and allocate the cost of

the acquired companies to the identifiable tangible and intangible assets acquired according to their respective fair values as of

the date of completion of the acquisition with the remaining amount being classified as goodwill

In accordance with ASC 350 Intangibles Goodwill and Othe we test for any goodwill impairment within our single Data

Management operating segment and reporting unit All our goodwill reflected in the financial statements included in this report

has been aggregated from and acquired in connection with the following acquisitions

Versant Europe acquired in 1997

Poet Holdings Inc acquired in March 2004

Technology of JDO Genie PTY Ltd acquired in June 2004

FastObjects Inc acquired in July 2004 and

db4o acquired in December 2008

Financial Accounting Standards Board FASB guidance requires that goodwill be tested for impairment at the reporting unit

level at least annually and more frequently upon the occurrence of certain events We use the market approach to assess the fair

value of our assets and this value is compared with the carrying value of those assets to test for impairment The total fair value

of our assets is estimated by summing the fair value of our equity as indicated by Versants publicly traded share price and

shares outstanding plus an estimated control premium less our liabilities Under this approach if the estimated fair value of our

assets is greater than their carrying value then there is no goodwill impairment If the estimated fair value of our assets is less

than their carrying value then we allocate the reporting units estimated fair value to its assets and liabilities as though the

reporting unit had just been acquired in business combination The impairment loss is the amount if any by which the

implied fair value of goodwill allocable to the reporting unit is less than that reporting units goodwill carrying amount and

would be recorded in operating results during the period of such impairment

Identifiable intangibles are currently amortized using the straight-line method over five years in relation to the JDO Genie

PTY Ltd acquisition six years in relation to the FastObjects Inc acquisition seven years in relation to our acquisition of

Poet nine years in relation to the acquisition of the db4o customer relationships and five
years

for other db4o related acquired

intangible assets

We performed our annual valuation and analysis of goodwill in October 2011 October 2010 and October 2009 We did not

perform impairment tests related to our intangible assets during fiscal years 2011 2010 and 2009 as there were no triggering

events which might indicate impairment As result we determined that the value of our goodwill and intangible assets had

been fairly recorded in our financial statements and therefore no impairment charges were recorded against our goodwill and

intangible assets in fiscal years 2011 2010 and 2009

Income Taxes

We account for income taxes using the asset and liability method provided by ASC 740 Income taxes We estimate our income

taxes in each of the jurisdictions in which we operate and account for income taxes payable as part of the preparation of our

consolidated financial statements This process involves estimating our actual current tax expense as well as assessing

temporary differences resulting from differing treatment of items such as depreciation and amortization for financial and tax

reporting purposes These differences result in deferred tax assets and liabilities which are included in our consolidated balance

sheet to the extent deemed realizable We assess the likelihood that and the extent to which our deferred tax assets will be

realized and establish valuation allowance to reduce deferred tax assets to an amount for which realization is more likely than

not If we establish or release valuation allowance then we must increase or decrease the tax provision in our statements of

income

Significant management judgment is required in determining any valuation allowance recorded against our net deferred tax

assets Based upon our operating results in recent years and through October 31 2011 as well as an assessment of our expected

future results of operations we determined that it is more likely than not that we will realize the benefit of portion of our net

deferred tax assets in Germany to the extent of our expected taxable income for fiscal year 2012 Due to uncertainties related to
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our ability to utilize the balance of our deferred tax assets we have maintained valuation allowance at October 31 2011 of

$31.6 million As of October 31 2010 we had valuation allowance of $33.9 million for our deferred tax assets

As required by ASC 740 Income taxes we recognize the financial statement benefit of tax position only after determining

that the relevant tax authority would more likely than not sustain the position following an audit For tax positions meeting the

more-likely-than-not threshold the amount recognized in the financial statements is the largest benefit that has greater than

50 percent likelihood of being realized upon ultimate settlement with the relevant tax authority

We are subject to U.S federal income taxes and to income taxes in various states in the U.S as well as in foreign jurisdictions

Tax regulations within each jurisdiction are subject to the interpretation of the related tax laws and regulations and require

significant judgment to apply With few exceptions we are no longer subject to U.S federal state and local or foreign tax

examinations by tax authorities for tax years before 2006 With respect to prior tax years no longer subject to examination due

to expiration of the statute of limitations income may nevertheless be recomputed for the purpose of determining the amount of

NOL that may be carried over to open years

We recognize interest and penalties accrued related to unrecognized tax benefits in the provision for income taxes for all

periods presented which were not significant
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Results of Operations

The following table sets forth the historical results of operations for Versant for our three fiscal years ended October 31 2011

2010 and 2009 expressed as percentage of our total revenues for the fiscal
year

in question

Percentage of Revenues

Fiscal Year Ended October 31

2011 2010 2009

Revenues

License 55% 53% 50%

Maintenance 44 46 49

Professional services

Total revenues 100 100 100

Cost of revenues

License

Amortization of intangible assets

Maintenance

Professional services

Total cost of revenues 12 13 12

Gross profit 88 87 88

Operating expenses

Sales and marketing 34 30 22

Research and development 24 24 22

General and administrative 24 20 20

Restructuring

Total operating expenses 82 74 65

Income from operations 13 23

Interest and other income net

Income before provision for income taxes 14 24

Income tax benefit expense

Net income 4% 11% 27%
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Revenues

The following table summarizes our total revenues in thousands except percentages for fiscal 2011 2010 and 2009

Fiscal Year 2011 vs 2010 Fiscal Year 2010 vs 2009

Fiscal Year Ended October 31 Change Change

2011 2010 2009 In Dollars Percentage In Dollars Percentage

Total revenues 16272 15766 18150 506 3% 2384 13%

Total revenues are comprised of license fees and fees for maintenance training consulting technical and other support

services Fluctuations in our total revenues can be attributed to changes in economic and industry conditions product and

customer mix general trends in information technology spending changes in geographic mix the market response to our

product and service offerings and the impact of fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates Further product life cycles

impact revenues periodically as old contracts expire and new products are released

Our total revenues increased by $506000 or 3% in fiscal
year

2011 compared to fiscal
year

2010 This resulted primarily

from an increase of $554000 or 7% in license revenues The increase in license revenues resulted primarily from modest

global increase in the average license volume per customer

Our total revenues decreased by $2.4 million or 13% in fiscal year 2010 compared .to fiscal year 2009 This decrease resulted

primarily from decrease of $1.5 million or 17% in maintenance revenues and from decrease of $703000 or 8% in

license revenues in fiscal year 2010 compared to fiscal year 2009 The decrease in maintenance revenues in fiscal year 2010

was principally due to fewer back maintenance transactions and customers choosing less expensive support options The

decrease in license revenues in fiscal year 2010 was due to smaller and fewer license transactions than in fiscal
year

2009 At

more general level we believe that an overriding principal factor that caused our license revenues to decrease in fiscal
year

2010 was generally prevailing adverse global economic conditions

One telecommunications customer accounted for approximately 14% 11% and 15% of total revenues in the second third and

fourth quarters of fiscal year 2011 respectiely as well as approximately 12% of total revenues for the year ended October 31

2011 One healthcare custOmer accounted for 10% of total revenues in the first quarter second telecommunications customer

accounted for 15% of total revenues in the second quarter and second healthcare customer accounted for approximately 11%

of total revenues in the third quarter of fiscal year 2011

In fiscal year 2010 one customer accounted for 12% of our total revenues for the fiscal year Two different customers

accounted for 12% and 13% ofour total revenues in our fourth fiscal quarter of 2010 No one customer accounted for 10% or

more of our total revenues in fiscal year 2009

The inherently unpredictable business cycle of an enterprise software company makes discernment of continued and

meaningful business trends difficult In terms of license revenues we are still experiencing lengthy sales cycles and customers

preference for licensing our software on an as needed basis where payment is tied to actual usage or deployment of our

software versus the older historical practice of prepaying license fees in advance of usage factor which can adversely affect

the amount of our license revenues License revenues also are critical factor in driving the amount of our services revenues as

new license customers typically enter into support and maintenance agreements with us from which our maintenance revenues

are derived over future fiscal periods The outlook into the Companys anticipated performance in fiscal year 2012 is uncertain

due principally to the significant worldwide economic slowdown

We are currently expecting our total revenues for the fiscal year 2012 to remain stable at approximately fiscal 2011s level
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Revenues by Category The following table summarizes our revenues by category in thousands except percentages in fiscal

20112010and2009

Fiscal Year 2011 vs 2010 Fiscal Year 2010 vs 2009

Fiscal Year Ended October 31 Change Change

2011 2010 2009 In Dollars Percentage In Dollars Percentage

Revenues by category

License 8896 8342 9045 554 7% 703 8%
Maintenance 7201 7331 8833 130 1502 17

Professional services 175 93 272 82 88 179 66
Total 16272 15766 18150 506 3% 2384 13%

Percentage of revenues by category

License 55% 53% 50%

Maintenance 44 46 49

Professional services

Total 100% 100% 100%

Fiscal Year 2011 Compared to Fiscal Year 2010

License revenues License revenues represent perpetual and time-based license fees received and recognized from our End-

Users and Value Added Resellers

License revenues were $8.9 million or 55% of total revenues for fiscal year 2011 an increase of approximately $554000 or

7% from $8.3 million or 53% of total revenues reported for fiscal year 2010 The increased license revenues were mainly

attributable to modest global increase in the average license volume per customer and greater number of larger license

transactions The increase in license revenues in fiscal year 2011 compared to fiscal year 2010 included favorable foreign

currency fluctuations of approximately $162000 The majority of our license revenues in fiscal
year

2011 continued to be

transactions with existing VAR customers in the telecommunications information technology and healthcare industries which

were our largest vertical markets in fiscal
year 2011

Maintenance revenues Maintenance and technical support revenues include revenues derived from maintenance agreements

under which we provide customers with internet and telephone access to support personnel and software upgrades dedicated

technical assistance and emergency response support options

Maintenance revenues were $7.2 million or 44% of total revenues forfiscal year 2011 decrease of $1 30000 or 2% from

$7.3 million or 46% of total revenues reported for fiscal year 2010 The decrease in maintenance revenues for fiscal year 2011

was primarily due to an approximate decrease of $429000 resulting from certain customers electing less expensive support and

maintenance options in fiscal year 20 11 and was partially offset an approximate increase of $165000 related to back

maintenance revenues derived from one North American customer and an approximate $154000 increase from favorable

foreign currency fluctuations

Professional services revenues Professional services revenues consist of revenues from consulting training and technical

support as well as billable travel expenses incurred by our professional services organization

Professional services revenues were $175000 or 1% of total revenues in fiscal year 2011 an increase of $82000 or 88%
from $93000 or 1% of total revenues reported in fiscal year 2010 This increase in the absolute dollar amount of professional

services revenues was largely attributable to one consulting engagement with European customer for approximately $53000

in addition to modest increase in consulting services performed in North America
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Fiscal Year 2010 Compared to Fiscal Year 2009

License revenues License revenues were $8.3 million or 53% of total revenues for fiscal year 2010 decrease of

approximately $703000 or 8% from $9.0 million or 50% of total revenues reported for fiscal year 2009 The reduced

license revenues in absolute dollars for fiscal year 2010 were mainly attributable to fewer and smaller license transactions The

decrease in license revenues from fiscal year 2010 compared to fiscal year 2009 included unfavorable foreign currency

fluctuations of approximately $14000

Maintenance revenues Maintenance revenues were $7.3 million or 46% of total revenues for fiscal year 2010 decrease of

$1.5 million or 17% from $8.8 million or 49% of total revenues reported for fiscal year 2009 The decrease in maintenance

revenues for fiscal year 2010 was principally due to an approximate decrease of $671000 in recognized back maintenance

compared to fiscal year 2009 and an approximate decrease of $441000 resulting from certain customers electing less expensive

support nd maintenance options in fiscal year 2010 The decrease in maintenance revenues from fiscal year 2010 compared to

fiscal year 2009 also included unfavorable foreign currency fluctuations of approximately $27000

Professional services revenues Professional services revenues were $93000 or 1% of total revenues in fiscal year 2010

decrease of $179000 or 66% from $272000 or 1% of total revenues reported in fiscal year 2009 This decrease in the

absolute dollar amount of professional services revenues for fiscal year 2010 compared to fiscal year 2009 was attributable to

decreases in consulting and training revenues in both the US and the European operations including the absence in fiscal year

2010 of $62000 of consulting revenue derived from one customer that was recognized in fiscal year 2009

Internaiional.Revenues The following table summarizes our total revenues by geographic area in thousands except

percentages in fiscal years 2011 2010 and 2009

Fiscal Year 2011 vs 2010 Fiscal Year 2010 vs 2009

Fiscal Year Ended October 31 Change Change

2011 2010 2009 Dollars Percentage Dollars Percentage

Revenues by region

North America 6457 6232 6964 225 4% 732 1%

Europe 9020 8764 10656 256 1892 18
Asia 795 770 530 25 240 45

Total $16272 $15766 $18150 506 3% 2384 13%

Percentage of revenues by region

North America 40% 40% 38%

Europe 55 55 59

Asia

Total 100% 100% 100%

Fiscal Year 2011 Compared to Fiscal Year 2010

Total revenues increased $506000 or 3% in fiscal year 2011 compared to fiscal year 2010 The increase in total revenues

occurred across geographic regions As percentage of total revenues international non-North American revenues remained

stable representing approximately 60% of our total revenues in both fiscal years 2011 and 2010

Revenues from North America The $225000 or 4% increase in revenues from North America in fiscal year 2011 compared to

fiscal
year 2010 was primarily due to $448000 increase in license revenues that was partially offset by $223000 decrease

in services revenues North American maintenance revenues declined from fiscal year 2010 to fiscal year 2011 as customers

chose less expensive support options or maintained fewer licenses In fiscal year 2010 North American license revenues

included the recognition of an approximate $170000 decrease that resulted from one customers previous misreporting and

overpayment of royalties The absence of comparable transaction in fiscal year 2011 resulted in relative increase in North

American license revenues which were also increased in fiscal
year

2011 by larger average
license volume

per customer
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Revenues from Europe The $256000 or 3% increase in revenues from Europe in fiscal year 2011 compared to fiscal year

2010 was primarily due to an increase of approximately $316000 resulting from favorable foreign currency exchange rate

fluctuations

Since the Companys acquisition of Poet Holdings Inc in early 2004 we have generally derived higher percentage of

international revenues due to stronger demand for our products in Europe We expect in the future to continue to experience

somewhat stronger demand for our products in Europe as compared to our other geographic markets

Revenues from Asia We experienced an increase of $25000 or 3% in revenues from our Asia Pacific region during fiscal

year 2011 compared to fiscal year 2010 primarily due to increased revenues from customer in Singapore

variety of factors may impact Versants future revenues including the potential strengthening of the U.S dollar which would

have the effect of reducing portions of our revenue resulting from favorable
currency exchange fluctuations the generally

more difficult economic environment currently being experienced in the global economy which may negatively impact demand

for our products and services and competitive market conditions

Fiscal Year 2010 Compared to Fiscal Year 2009

Total revenues decreased $2.4 million or 13% in fiscal year 2010 compared to fiscal year 2009 The decrease in total revenues

occurred across geographic regions as the global economy remained weak The decrease in total revenues in absolute dollars

from fiscal year 2010 compared to fiscal year 2009 was primarily due to revenue decrease of $1.9 million in Europe and to

lesser extent revenue decrease of $732000 in North America partially offset by revenue increase of $240000 in Asia As

percentage of total revenues international non-North American revenues decreased slightly representing approximately 60%

and 62% of our total revenues in fiscal
year 2010 and fiscal

year 2009 respectively

Revenues from North America The $732000 or 11% decrease in revenues from North America in fiscal
year

2010 compared

to fiscal year 2009 was primarily due to decrease of $432000 in maintenance revenues and decrease of $300000 in license

revenues North American maintenance revenues declined from fiscal year 2009 to fiscal year 2010 as customers chose less

expensive support options or maintained fewer licenses North American license revenues decreased due to fewer license

transactions and an approximate $170000 decrease to license revenues resulting from one customers previous misreporting

and overpayment of royalties to Versant

Revenues from Europe The $1.9 million or 18% decrease in revenues from Europe in fiscal year 2010 compared to fiscal

year 2009 was primarily due to decrease of $1.3 million in European maintenance revenues and to lesser extent $594000

decrease in European license revenues The decrease in European maintenance revenues in fiscal
year 2010 compared to fiscal

year 2009 included an approximate $663000 decrease in back maintenance transactions and an approximate $394000 decrease

as result of customers choosing less expensive support options The decrease in European license revenues in fiscal year 2010

compared to fiscal year 2009 reflected fewer license transactions in Europe and the relative absence of larger license

transactions The decrease in total revenues from Europe also included approximately $42000 resulting from unfavorable

foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations

Revenues from Asia We experienced an increase of $240000 or 45% in revenues from our Asia Pacific region during fiscal

year 2010 compared to fiscal year 2009 primarily due to increased revenues from our distributor in Japan
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Cost of Revenues

The following table summarizes the revenues cost of revenues and gross profit in thousands except percentages in fiscal

2011 2010 and 2009

Fiscal Year 2011 vs 2010 Fiscal Year 2010 vs 2009

Fiscal Year Ended October 31 Change Change

2011 2010 2009 Dollars Percentage Dollars Percentage

Total revenues 16272 $15766 18150 506 2384 13%

Cost of revenues

License 252 279 273 27 10%
Amortization of intangible assets 190 303 373 113 37 70 19
Maintenance 1475 1470 1452 18

Professional services 85 61 133 24 39 72 54
Total 2002 2113 2231 111 5% 118 5%

Gross profit 14270 13653 15919 617 2266 14%

Gross margin percentage 88% 87% 88%

Cost of revenues was $2.0 million or 12% of total revenues in fiscal year 2011 decrease of $111000 or 5% from the cost

of revenues of $2.1 million or 13% of total revenues reported in fiscal year 2010 The decrease resulted primarily from

$113000 reduction in amortization of intangible assets

Cost of revenues was $2.1 million or 13% of total revenues in fiscal year 2010 decrease of $118000 or 5% from the cost

of revenues of $2.2 million or 12% of total revenues reported in fiscal year 2009 The decrease resulted from $70000

reduction in amortization of intangible assets and $72000 reduction in the cost of professional services revenue in fiscal year

2010 compared to fiscal year 2009 and was partially offset by slight increases in the cost of license and maintenance revenues

Gross margin percentages gross margin as percentage of total revenues remained relatively stable at 88% in fiscal year

2011 87% in fiscal year 2010 and 88% in fiscal year 2009

Cost of license revenues Cost of license revenues consists primarily of royalties and costs of third party products which we

resell to our customers as well as product media shipping and packaging costs

The following table summarizes the revenue cost and gross profit for licensing in thousands except percentages in fiscal

2011 2010 and 2009

Fiscal Year 2011 vs 2010 Fiscal Year 2010 vs 2009

Fiscal Year Ended October 31 Change Change

2011 2010 2009 Dollars Percentage Dollars Percentage

License

Revenues 8896 8342 9045 554 7% 703 8%
Cost 252 279 273 27 10

Gross profit 8644 8063 8772 581 7% 709 8%

Margin percentage 97% 97% 97%
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Fiscal Year 2011 Compared to Fiscal Year 2010

Cost of license revenues was $252000 or 3% of license revenues in fiscal year 2011 remaining stable as percentage of

license revenues and decreasing slightly in absolute dollars compared to $279000 or 3% of license revenues in fiscal year

2010

Fiscal Year 2010 Conlpared to Fiscal Year 2009

Cost of license revenues was $279000 or 3% of license revenues in fiscal
year 2010 remaining stable in both absolute

dollars and as percentage of license revenues compared to $273000 or 3% of license revenues in fiscal year 2009

Cost of maintenance revenues Cost of maintenance revenues consists primarily of salaries bonuses and consulting fees for

customer support personnel and related expenses including employee benefits and allocated overhead

The following table summarizes the revenue cost and gross profit for maintenance in thousands except percentages in fiscal

years 2011 2010 and 2009

Fiscal Year 2011 vs 2010 Fiscal Year 2010 vs 2009

Fiscal Year Ended October 31 Change Change

2011 2010 2009 Dollars Percentage Dollars Percentage

Maintenance

Revenues 7201 7331 8833 130 2% 1502 l7%
Cost 1475 1470 1452 18

Grossprofit 5726 5861 7381 135 2% 1520 2l%

Margin percentage 80% 80% 84%

Fiscal Year 2011 Compared to Fiscal Year 2010

Cost of maintenance revenues was $1.5 million or 20% of maintenance revenues in fiscal
year 2011 remaining consistent in

absolute dollars and as percentage of maintenance revenues compared to $1.5 million or 20% of maintenance revenues in

fiscal year 2010

Fiscal Year 2010 Compared to Fiscal Year 2009

Cost of maintenance revenues was $1.5 million or 20% of maintenance revenues in fiscal year 2010 remaining consistent in

absolute dollars compared to $1.5 million or 16% of maintenance revenues in fiscal year 2009 The Company has elected to

maintain our core technical support team and its associated costs which resulted in the slight increase in the cost of

maintenance revenues as percentage of maintenance revenues in fiscal
year 2010 when our maintenance revenues were lower

than in fiscal year 2009
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Cost ofprofessional services revenues Cost of professional services consists of salaries bonuses third party consulting fees

and other costs associated with supporting our professional services organization

The following table summarizes the revenue cost and gross profit for professional services in thousands except percentages

in fiscal 2011 2010 and 2009

Fiscal Year 2011 vs 2010 Fiscal Year 2010 vs 2009

Fiscal Year Ended October 31 Change Change

2011 2010 2009 Dollars Percentage Dollars Percentage

Professional services

Revenues 175 93 272 82 88% 179 66%
Cost 85 61 133 24 39 72 54

Gross profit 90 32 139 58 181% 107 77%

Margin percentage 51% 34% 51%

Fiscal Year 2011 Compared to Fiscal Year 2010

Cost of professional services revenues was $85000 or 49% of professional services revenues in fiscal year 2011 an increase

of $24000 or 39% compared to $61000 or 66% of professional services revenues in fiscal year 2010

Cost of professional services as percentage of professional services revenues.is affected by the mix of services provided i.e

training vs consulting and the travel costs incurred Versant provided more consulting and training services in fiscal year 2011

when compared to fiscal year 2010

Fiscal Year 2010 Compared to Fiscal Year 2009

Cost of professional services revenues was $61000 or 66% of professional services revenues in fiscal year 2010 decrease

of $72000 or 54% compared to $133000 or 49% of professional services revenues in fiscal year 2009

Versant provided fewer consulting and training services in fiscal 2010 compared to fiscal year 2009 and incurred higher costs

related to fewer students per training class which resulted in cost of professional services comprising higher percentage of

professional services revenues in fiscal year 2010

Amortization of Intangible Assets The amortization of intanib1e assets in fiscal year 2011 related to our fiscal year 2004

acquisition of Poet Holdings Inc and our fiscal year 2009 acquisition of db4o

The following table summarizes the amortization of intangible assets in thousands except percentages in fiscal years

2011 2010 and 2009

Fiscal Year 2011 vs 2010 Fiscal Year 2010 vs 2009

Fiscal Year Ended October 31 Change Change

2011 2010 2009 In Dollars Percentage In Dollars Percentage

Amortization of intangible assets

Poet Holdings Inc 87 189 189 102 54%
JDO Genie PTY LTD.. 73 73 100

FastObjects Inc 11 16 11 100 31
db4o 103 103 95

Total 190 303 373 113 37% 70 19%
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Fiscal Year 2011 Compared to Fiscal Year 2010

Amortization of intangible assets was $190000 or 2% of license revenues in fiscal year 2011 $113000 or 37% decrease

compared to $303000 or 4% of license revenues in fiscal year 2010 Intangible assets related to FastObjects customer

relationships were fully amortized in the third quarter of fiscal year 2010 and intangible assets related to Poet Holdings Inc

developed technology and customer relationships were fully amortized in the second quarter of fiscal year 2011 resulting in

decrease of $113000 in amortization of intangible assets in fiscal year 2011 as compared to fiscal year 2010

Based on current conditions and assuming no future acquisitions of intangible assets we expect to incur quarterly amortization

charges of approximately $26000 in each quarter of fiscal
year

2012

Fiscal Year 2010 Compared to Fiscal Year 2009

Amortization of intangible assets was $303000 or 4% of license revenues in fiscal year 2010 $70000 or 19% decrease

compared to $373000 or 4% of license revenues in fiscal year 2009 Intangible assets related to JDO Genie technology were

fully amortized in the third quarter of fiscal year 2009 and intangible assets related to FastObjects customer relationships were

fully amortized in the third quarter of fiscal year 2010 resulting in decrease of $70000 in amortization of intangible assets in

fiscal year 2010 as compared to fiscal year 2009

Operating Expenses

The following table summarizes our operating expenses in thousands except percentages for fiscal 2011 2010 and 2009

Fiscal Year 2011 vs 2010 Fiscal Year 2010 vs 2009

Fiscal Year Ended October 31 Change Change

2011 2010 2009 In Dollars Percentage In Dollars Percentage

Operating expenses

Sales and marketing 5568 4722 4101 846 18% 621 15%

Research and development 3921 3778 3969 143 191

General and administrative 3810 3143 3665 667 21 522 14
Restructuring 25 39 139 14 36 100 72

Total 13324 11682 11874 1642 14% 192 2%

Fiscal Year 2011 Compared to Fiscal Year 2010

Total operating expenses were $13.3 million or 82% of total revenues for fiscal year 2011 compared to $11.7 million or 74%

of total revenues for fiscal year 2010 The increase of $1.6 million or 14% in total operating expenses
in fiscal year 2011

discussed further below resulted primarily from an $846000 increase in sales and marketing costs related to the planned

expansion of our global sales and marketing efforts $667000 increase in our general and administrative expenses principally

attributable to the non-recurring costs related to the separation of our former CEO and to lesser extent $143000 increase in

research and development expenses predominantly related to unfavorable foreign currency exchange fluctuations Operating

expenses for fiscal year 2011 include total unfavorable foreign currency exchange fluctuations of approximately $218000

when compared to fiscal year 2010

Sales and Marketing Sales and marketing expenses consist primarily of personnel and related expenses commissions earned

by sales personnel lead generation and qualification website development and maintenance costs trade shows travel and

other marketing communication costs such as advertising

Sales and marketing expenses were $5.6 million or 34% of revenues for fiscal year 2011 and $4.7 million or 30% of total

revenues for fiscal year 2010 The $846000 or 18% increase for fiscal year 2011 was primarily due to the planned expansion

of our global marketing operations including $334000 increase due to the addition of our VP Marketing and Strategic

Product Development and marketing manager who were hired in the second and third quarters of fiscal year 2010

respectively as well as the hiring of marketing communications professional and product manager in the second and fourth

quarters of2Oll respectively and $103000 increase in marketing costs primarily associated with lead generation and

website development costs The increase in sales and marketing costs in fiscal year 2011 also included $163000 increase

resulting from the costs of distribution and of localization of our products in the Asia Pacific markets $148000 increase

69



related to the expansion of our sales operations and an approximate $6 1000 increase related to unfavorable foreign currency

fluctuations

We expect our sales and marketing expenses to increase approximately 30% in fiscal year 2012 over fiscal year 2011 due to

anticipated increases in sales and marketing programs to implement our Big Data strategic initiative and we expect that sales

and marketing expenses will continue to represent considerable percentage of our total operating expenditures in the future

Research and Development Research and development expenses consist primarily of personnel and related expenses including

payroll and employee benefits expenses for facilities and payments made to outside software development contractors

Research and development expenses were $3.9 million or 24% of revenues for fiscal year 2011 and $3.8 million or 24% of

revenues in fiscal year 2010 The $143000 or 4% increase in absolute dollars for research and development expenses in

fiscal year 2011 was due primarily to an approximate $121000 increase due to unfavorable foreign currency exchange

fluctuations The increase included an increase in salary and related costs for personnel additions in our European operations

consolidating our engineering activities into one location which were largely offset by the decrease in costs related to the wind-

down of our former operations in India

We expect our research and development expenses to increase approximately 40% in fiscal year 2012 compared to our research

and development expense levels in fiscal year 2011 We plan to invest significant resources in new product developments to

pursue our 2012 strategic roadmap to develop data management software that enables the development of analytical

applications

General cud Administrative General and administrative expenses consist primarily of personnel and related expenses

professional services and general operating expenses

General and administrative expenses were $3.8 million or 24% of total revenues in fiscal year 2011 and $3.1 million or 20%

of total revenues in fiscal year 2010 The $667000 or 21% increase in general and administrative expenses in fiscal year

2011 was primarily due to an approximate $470000 increase attributable to one-time separation costs related to the departure

of the Companys former CEO including additional share based compensation resulting from modifications to existing stock

option grants The increase in general and administrative expenses
in fiscal

year
2011 also included an approximate $125000

increase in professional and outside services costs an approximate $40000 increase in bad debt expense and an approximate

$36000 increase due to unfavorable foreign currency exchange fluctuations These increases were partially offset by an

approximate $132000 decrease in share based compensation expense primarily for the Board of Directors due to the lower

average fair value of the options being amortized in fiscal year 2011

We expect our general and administrative expenses in fiscal year 2012 to decrease moderately compared to fiscal year 2011

Restructuring On September 22 2009 the Company committed to the implementation of restructuring pursuant to which it

closed its research and development facility in Pune India The restructuring plan was undertaken to consolidate our research

and development efforts into one location in Germany in order to streamline operations create management efficiencies and

increase productivity The restructuring was substantially completed during the second fiscal quarter ended April 30 2010

The following table reflects the restructuring charges included in operating expenses for fiscal years 2011 2010 and 2009 in

thousands

Fiscal Year Ended October 31

2011 2010 2009

Restructuring

Severance retention and related charges 38 32

Impairment of fixed assets 20 61

Impairment to other assets 29 42

Contract termination costs

Other direct costs of closure 20

Total restructuring charges 25 39 139
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Fiscal Year 2010 Compared to Fiscal Year 2009

Total operating expenses were $11.7 million or 74% of total revenues for fiscal year 2010 and $11.9 million or 65% of total

revenues for fiscal year 2009 The decrease of$192000 or 2% in total operating expenses in fiscal year 2010 discussed

further below resulted from $522000 decrease in our general and administrative expenses primarily related to reduced

professional services and regulatory compliance costs $191000 decrease in research and development expenses

predominantly related to the reduced use of outside consultants and $100000 decrease in restructuring costs related to the

substantial completion of the restructuring plan for our facility in India in our second fiscal quarter with these decreases being

partially offset by increases in sales and marketing costs of $621000 primarily related to the expansion of our global sales and

marketing efforts Operating expenses for fiscal year 2010 include favorable foreign currency exchange fluctuations of

approximately $47000 when compared to fiscal year 2009 Howevei due to the decrease in total revenues from fiscal year

2009 to fiscal year 2010 total operating expenses represented higher percentage of total revenues in fiscal year 2010 than in

fiscal year 2009

Sales and Marketing Sales and marketing expenses were $4.7 million or 30% of revenues for fiscal year 2010 and $4.1

million or 22% of total revenues for fiscal year 2009 The $621000 or 15% increase in fiscal year 2010 was primarily due

to an expansion of our global sales operations including increases in total compensation expense recruiting higher facility

costs attributable to additional personnel travel and related costs resulting in an approximate increase of $331000 related to

U.S sales operations an approximate increase of $103000 in European sales operations and an approximate increase of

$66000 in Asian sales operations The
year over year

increase also includes an approximate $451000 increase in global

marketing programs including the addition of new marketing manager and our VP Marketing and Strategic Product

Development along with lead generation and qualification e-niarketing and other new initiatives These increases in sales and

marketing costs for fiscal year 2010 when compared to fiscal year 2009 were partially offset by an approximate decrease of

$275000 related to non-recurring separation payment made to the former Executive Vice President of Field Operations in the

first quarter of fiscal year 2009 an approximate reduction of $29000 in executive bonuses and decrease of $22000 in

favorable foreign exchange fluctuations

Research and Development Research and development expenses were $3.8 million or 24% of revenues for fiscal
year

2010

and $4.0 million or 22% of revenues in fiscal year 2009 The $191000 or 5% decrease in research and development

expenses in fiscal year 2010 was due primarily to an approximate $157000 decrease related to the reduced use of outside

engineering services and an approximate $16000 decrease due to favorable foreign currency exchange fluctuations The

closure of our Indian operations resulted in an approximate $472000 decrease in research and development costs in fiscal year

2010 compared to fiscal year 2009 and this decrease was fully offset by an approximate $489000 increase in salary and related

costs for personnel additions in our European operations to consolidate our engineering activities into one location

General andAdministrative General and administrative
expenses were $3.1 million or 20% of total revenues in fiscal year

2010 and $3.7 million or 20% of total revenues in fiscal year 2009 The $522000 or 14% decrease in general and

administrative expenses in fiscal
year

2010 was primarily due to an approximate $231000 decrease in professional services

and regulatory compliance costs including audit fees consulting services and salary related expenses The year over year

decrease also included an approximate $82000 decrease in share based compensation and travel expenses of the executives and

directors decrease of $50000 in bad debt expense decrease of $37000 in facilities costs and favorable foreign currency

exchange fluctuations of approximately $9000

Restructuring On September 22 2009 the Company committed to the implementation of restructuring pursuant to which it

closed its research and development facility in Pune India The restructuring plan was undertaken to consolidate our research

and development efforts into one location in Germany in order to streamline operations create management efficiencies and

increase productivity The restructuring was substantially completed during the second fiscal quarter ended April 30 2010
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Interest and Other Income Expense Net

Interest and other income net consists of interest income earned from our cash and cash equivalents net of interest expense due

to our financing activities miscellaneous refunds and foreign exchange rate gains and losses as result of settling transactions

denominated in currencies other than our functional currency

The following table summarizes our interest and other income net in thousands except percentages in fiscal years 2011 2010

and 2009

Fiscal Year 2011 vs 2010 Fiscal Year 2010 vs 2009

Fiscal Year Ended October 31 Change Change

2011 2010 2009 In Dollars Percentage In Dollars Percentage

Interest and other income net

Interest income 61 59 267 208 78%
Interest expense 100 100

Foreign exchange gain loss 23 91 35 114 125 126 360

Other income 100 100

Total 38 150 232 112 75% 82 35%

Fiscal Year 2011 Compared to Fiscal Year 2010

Interest and other income net was $38000 or less than 1% of total revenues in fiscal
year 2011 compared to $150000 or 1%

of revenues in fiscal
year

2010 The decrease of$l12000 or 75% was primarily due to an unfavorable change of

approximately $114000 in foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from settling transactions denominated in currencies

other than our functional
currency

Fiscal Year 2010 Compared to Fiscal Year 2009

Interest and other income net was $150000 or 1% of total revenues in fiscal year 2010 compared to $232000 or 1% of

revenues in fiscal year 2009 The decrease of $82000 or 35% was primarily due to decrease of $208000 in interest income

from both our European and U.S operations as result of significantly reduced interest rates partially offset by favorable

change of approximately $126000 in foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from settling transactions denominated in

currencies other than our functional currency

Pro vision for Income Taxes

Provision for income taxes primarily consists of corporate income taxes for our subsidiary in Germany foreign withholding

taxes and state income and franchise taxes in the U.S The provision also reflects the release of the estimated realizable portion

of the valuation allowance against the net deferred tax assets

The following table summarizes our provision for benefit from income taxes in thousands except percentages in fiscal

2011 2010 and 2009

Fiscal Year 2011 vs 2010 Fiscal Year 2010 vs 2009

Fiscal Year Ended October 31 Change Change

2011 2010 2009 In Dollars Percentage In Dollars Percentage

Provision for income taxes

Foreign withholding taxes 64 68 54 6% 14 26%

Provision for income taxes Europe 242 395 653 153 39 1048 160

Provision for income taxes India 14 14 100

Federal state and franchise taxes 24 23 28 700 19 83
Total 282 467 562 185 40% 1029 183%
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Fiscal Year 2011 Compared to Fiscal Year 2010

In evaluating our ability to utilize our deferred tax assets we consider all available positive and negative evidence including

our past operating results in the most recent fiscal years and our assessment of expected future results of operations on

jurisdiction by jurisdiction basis As of October 31 2011 we have concluded that it is more likely than not that the Company
will realize the benefit of its deferred tax assets related to its German net operating loss carry forwards only to the extent of its

expected taxable income in fiscal year 2012 We have remaining valuation allowance of approximately $31.6 million against

net deferred tax assets in the U.S and foreign jurisdictions Significant management judgment is required to determine when in

the future the realization of our net deferred tax assets will become more likely than not The Company will continue to assess

the realizability of the tax benefit available based on actual and forecasted operating results

As of October 31 2011 we had U.S federal and state net operating loss carry forwards of approximately $6 1.5 million and

$13.0 million respectively and U.S federal and state tax credit carry forwards of approximately $1.5 million and $664000

respectively The federal and state net operating loss carry forwards expire on various dates through 2031 including $2.9

million of federal net operating loss carry forward expiring in 2012 and use of net operating loss carry forwards in the State of

California is currently subject to moratorium The U.S federal tax credit carry forwards expire on various dates through 2024

if not utilized The state tax credit can be carried forward indefinitely Additionally at October 31 2011 we had German net

operating tax loss carry forwards of approximately $24.2 million The German tax code provides for certain annual statutory

limitations related to the use of tax loss carry forward amounts For each taxable year we may utilize German tax loss carry

forwards fully up to the first million euros of taxable income and thereafter the tax loss carry forwards are limited to 60% of

taxable income The provision for income taxes in Germany included approximately $212000 and $395000 for fiscal years

2011 and 2010 respectively attributable to taxable income related to our German operations that were in excess of the

allowable utilization of the tax loss carry forwards and therefore subject to corporate taxes The provision for income taxes in

Germany also included approximately $30000 related to uncertain tax positions

Due to change in ownership provisions of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 the availability of net operating loss and tax

carry forwards to offset federal taxable income in future periods is subject to an annual limitation Future shifts in our stock

ownership could subject our net operating loss and tax carry forwards to additional limitations restricting their use in sheltering

future taxable income

We incurred foreign withholding taxes and state income and franchise taxes of approximately $40000 and $72000 in fiscal

years 2011 and 2010 respectively which we have included in our income tax provision

portion of deferred tax assets relating to net operating losses pertains to net operating loss carry forwards resulting from tax

deductions upon the exercise of employee stock options of approximately $1.6 million When recognized the tax benefit of

these loss carry forwards will be accounted for as credit to additional paid-in capital rather than reduction of income tax

expense

Fiscal Year 2010 Compared to Fiscal Year 2009

The provision for income taxes in Germany included approximately $395000 and $285000 for fiscal year 2010 and fiscal year

2009 respectively attributable to taxable income related to our German operations that were in excess of the allowable

utilization of the tax loss carry forwards and therefore subject to corporate taxes During fiscal
year 2010 the strengthening of

the US dollar against the euro created taxable gains from US denominated currencies held by our German operations which

increased our taxable income in Germany

We incurred foreign withholding taxes and state income and franchise taxes of approximately $72000 and $77000 in fiscal

year 2010 and fiscal year 2009 respectively which we have included in our income tax provision

As of October 31 2010 we had remaining valuation allowance of approximately $33.9 million against net deferred tax assets

in the U.S and foreign jurisdictions
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

The following table sets forth certain consolidated balance sheets data as of October 31 2011 and October 31 2010 and

certain consolidated statements of cash flows data for the fiscal years ended October 31 2011 and 2010 in thousands

except percentages

Percentage

October 31 2011 October 31 2010 Change

unaudited

Working capital 22784 24889 8%
Cash and cash equivalents 23145 24911 7%

Fiscal Year Ended

October 31 October 31 Percentage

2011 2010 Change

unaudited

Net cash provided by operating activities 2625 2285 15%

Net cash used in investing activities 775 645 20%

Net cash used in financing activities 3588 4143 13%

Cash and Cash Equivalents

In fiscal year 2011 we funded our business from cash generated by our operations and cash reserves As of October 31 2011

we had cash and cash equivalents of approximately $23.1 million decrease of $1.8 million from the $24.9 million of cash and

cash equivalents we held at October 31 2010

As of October 31 2011 $9.4 million of our $23.1 million in cash and cash equivalents was held in foreign financial

institutions of which $3.0 million was held in foreign currencies

The following table summarizes our cash balances held in foreign currencies and their equivalent U.S dollar amounts in

thousands

October 31 2011 October 31 2010

Local Currency U.S Dollar Local Currency U.S Dollar

unaudited unaudited

Cash in foreign currency

Euros 1919 2716 1375 1917

British Pound 32 52

Indian Rupee Rs 12824 265 Rs 13692 302

Total 2981 2271

We transact business in various foreign currencies and accordingly we are subject to exposure from adverse movements in

foreign currency exchange rates The effect of changes in foreign currency exchange rates on our net operating results in fiscal

year 2011 as compared to fiscal year 2010 was comprised of approximately $316000 of favorable foreign currency

fluctuations on our revenues $34000 of unfavorable foreign currency fluctuations on our cost of revenues and $218000 of

unfavorable foreign currency fluctuations on our operating expenses resulting in net favorable effect of approximately

$64000 on our income from operations for the year ended October 31 2011

Operating expenses incurred by our foreign subsidiaries are denominated primarily in local currencies We currently do not use

financial instruments to hedge these operating expenses While we intend to assess the need to utilize financial instruments to

hedge currency exposures on an ongoing basis we do not at this time anticipate establishing any hedging during fiscal year

2012

Our exposure to foreign exchange risk is primarily related to the magnitude of foreign net profits and losses denominated in

euros as well as our net position of monetary assets and monetary liabilities in the euro though in the future the same could be
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true of other foreign currencies depending on the source of our revenues This
exposure

has the potential to produce either

gains or losses within our consolidated results However in some instances our European operations act as natural hedge

since both operating expenses as well as revenues are denominated in local currencies In these instances although an

unfavorable change in the exchange rate of the euro against the U.S dollar will result in lower revenues when translated into

U.S dollars our European operating expenditures will be lower as well

Additionally we held approximately 87% of our total cash balances at October 31 2011 in the form of U.S dollars to assist in

minimizing the impact of foreign currency fluctuations

In relation to our cash balances held overseas there were no European Union foreign exchange restrictions on repatriating our

overseas-held cash to the United States However we may be subject to income tax withholding in the source countries and to

U.S federal and state income taxes in the future if the cash payment or transfer from our subsidiaries to the U.S parent were to

be characterized as dividend Other payments made by our European overseas subsidiaries in the ordinary course of business

e.g payment of royalties or interest from the subsidiaries to the U.S parent were generally not subject to income tax

withholding under existing tax treaties

Our cash equivalents primarily consist of money market accounts accordingly our interest rate risk is not considered

significant

On November 30 2009 Versants Board of Directors approved stock repurchase program authorizing Versant to repurchase

up to $5.0 million of its outstanding common shares on the open market in block trades or otherwise This stock repurchase

program expired by its terms on October 31 2010 Pursuant to this program Versant acquired 356104 common shares on the

open market and in block trades for approximately $4.3 million at an average purchase price of$12.06 per share

On November 29 2010 Versants Board of Directors approved stock repurchase program authorizing Versant to repurchase

up to $5.0 million of its outstanding common shares on the open market in block trades or otherwise This stock repurchase

program expired by its terms on October 31 2011 Pursuant to this program Versant acquired 240629 common shares on the

open market for approximately $3.0 million at an average purchase price of $12.23 per share

On November 28 2011 Versants Board of Directors approved new stock repurchase program announced on December

2011 pursuant to which Versant is authorized to repurchase up to $5.0 million of its common stock in fiscal year 2012 This

stock repurchase program is currently scheduled to expire upon the earlier of October 31 2012 or at such time as Versant has

expended $5.0 million to repurchase outstanding common shares under the program however the program may be suspended

discontinued or extended at any earlier time by the Company

On March 28 2011 pursuant to separation agreement with our former CEO Versant repurchased 62545 shares of Versant

common stock owned by the former CEO at price of $13.50 per share reflecting recent market trading prices of Versants

common stock as of the date of the separation agreement

Taking into consideration the contingent cash outflows related to potential common stock repurchases our current cost

structure and our current estimates of revenues and collections in fiscal year 2012 we expect to operate with moderate

negative cash flow in fiscal year 2012

Cash Flow provided by Operating Activities

The main source of our operating cash flows is cash collections from customers who have purchased our products and services

Our primary uses of cash in operating activities are for personnel related expenditures and facility costs

Fiscal Year 2011

We generated $2.6 million of cash flows from operations in fiscal
year

2011 This amount resulted from $702000 in net

income adjusted for non-cash charges of$l.6 million and partially offset by $318000 decrease in operating assets net of

liabilities since the beginning of fiscal year 2011 The decrease in operating assets net of liabilities was primarily attributable to

decrease of $1.0 million in trade accounts receivable partially offset by decreases of $207000 and $386000 in accrued and

other long term liabilities and deferred revenues respectively

Non-cash adjustments were approximately $1.6 million as reflected in our cash flow statement in fiscal year 2011 which were

primarily share based compensation expense of $1.0 million and depreciation and amortization expense of $584000 Non-cash

adjustments may increase or decrease in the future and as result this might positively or negatively impact our future

75



operating results but they will not have direct impact on our cash flows

The timing of payments to our vendors for accounts payable and collections from our customers for accounts receivable will

significantly impact cash flows in our operating activities We typically pay our vendors and service providers in accordance

with their invoice terms and conditions Our standard payment terms for our invoices are usually between 30 and 90 days net

We measure the effectiveness of our collection efforts by an analysis of our accounts receivable and our days sales outstanding

DSO We calculate DSO by taking the ending accounts receivable balances net of bad debt allowance divided by the

average daily sales amount Average daily sales amount is calculated by dividing the total quarterly revenue recognized net of

changes in deferred revenues by 91.25 days Our DSOs were 57 days 69 days and 55 days for the three months ended

October 31 2011 2010 and 2009 respectively Collections of accounts receivable and related DSO could fluctuate in future

periods due to the timing and amount of our revenues and the effectiveness of our collection efforts

Fiscal Year 2010

We generated $2.3 million of cash flows from operations in fiscal year 2010 This amount resulted from $1.7 million in net

income adjusted for non-cash charges of $1.6 million and partially offset by $1.0 million increase in operating assets net of

liabilities since the beginning of fiscal
year

2010 The increase in operating assets net of liabilities was primarily attributable to

an increase of $979000 in trade accounts receivable

Non-cash adjustments were approximately $1.6 million as reflected in our cash flow statement in fiscal year 2010 which were

primarily share based compensation expense of $1.1 million and depreciation and amortization expense of $612000

Our working capital was $24.9 million as of October 31 2010 compared to $26.8 million as of October 31 2009

Fiscal Year 2009

We generated $5.8 million of cash flows from operations in fiscal year 2009 This was primarily derived from $4.8 million in

net income adjusted for non-cash charges of $895000

Non-cash adjustments were approximately $895000 as reflected in our cash flow statement in fiscal year 2009 which were

primarily share based compensation expense of $970000 depreciation and amortization expense of $710000 and restructuring

charges of $135000 partially offset by the deferred income tax benefit of $939000

Our working capital was $26.8 million as of October 31 2009 compared to $25.4 million as of October 31 2008

Cash Flow used in In vesting Activities

Our primary uses of cash in investing activities have typically been for the purchases of property and equipment mostly

information technology related equipment and software Purchases of property and equipment were $775000 $480000 and

$164000 in fiscal years 2011 2010 and 2009 respectively Our cash used in investing activities also reflects our acquisition of

db4o for $180000 and $2.4 million in fiscal years 2010 and 2009 respectively

We anticipate moderate increase in our overall spending related to property and equipment in fiscal year 2012 compared to

fiscal year 2011

Cash Flow used in Financing Activities

Our primary use of cash in financing activities has been the repurchase of common stock under our stock repurchase programs

partially offset by cash proceeds from sales of common stock under our employee stock option and stock purchase plans

Purchases of our common stock were approximately $3.8 million $4.3 million and $3.2 million in fiscal years 2011 2010 and

2009 respectively Proceeds from issuance of our common stock were approximately $208000 $167000 and $285000 in

fiscal years 2011 2010 and 2009 respectively

Our future liquidity and capital resources could be impacted by the exercise of outstanding conmion stock options and the cash

proceeds we receive upon exercise of these securities As of October 31 2011 we had approximately 345000 shares available

to issue under our current equity incentive and director plans The timing of the issuance of options under these plans the

duration and timing of their vesting schedules and their grant price will all impact the timing of any exercises and proceeds

Accordingly we cannot estimate the amount of such proceeds at this time
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On November 28 2011 Versants Board of Directors approved new stock repurchase program pursuant to which Versant is

authorized to repurchase up to $5.0 million of its common stock in fiscal year 2012 This stock repurchase program is currently

scheduled to expire upon the earlier of October 31 2012 or such time as Versant has expended $5.0 million to repurchase

outstanding common shares under the program however the program may be suspended discontinued or extended at any

earlier time by the Company

We currently do not anticipate establishing credit or loan facility in fiscal year 2012

Commitments and Contingencies

Our principal commitments as of October 31 2011 consist of obligations under operating leases for facilities and equipment

As reported in Notes and Lease Obligations and Contingencies of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements under

Item of Part II of this Report the Company leases office space for its U.S headquarters in Redwood City California and also

leases field office space in Hamburg and Munich Germany under multi-year operating lease agreements

On November 2011 the Company entered into an amendment of its office building lease in Redwood City California

leasing approximately 2500 square feet of additional space
for the thirty months ending May 31 2014 The total rent payable

over the lease term is approximately $252000

On January 112012 the Company entered into an office building lease in Cupertino California leasing approximately 1600

square feet for the twelve months ending January 15 2013 The total rent payable over the lease term is approximately

$42000

The change to future minimum lease payments resulting from leases entered into or amended subsequent to fiscal year end is

reflected in our minimum commitments table below

Our minimum commitments under non-cancelable operating leases not recorded on our Consolidated Balance Sheet are as

follows in thousands

Facilities Equipment
Leases Leases Total

Fiscal year ending October 31

2012 531 536

2013 437 439

2014 247 247

2015 15 15

Total 1230 1237

The Company enters into indemnification agreements in the ordinary course of business The Companys license agreements

with customers generally require it to indemnify the customer against claims that its software infringes third party patent

copyright trademark or other proprietary rights Such indemnification obligations are generally limited in variety of industry-

standard respects If liability associated with any of the Companys indemnifications becomes probable and the amount of the

liability is reasonably estimable or the minimum amount of range of loss is reasonably estimable then an appropriate liability

will be established The estimated fair value of these indemnification clauses is minimal and the Company has not provided

for any reserves for such indemnity liabilities

On November 28 2011 Versants Board of Directors approved new stock repurchase program announced on December

2011 pursuant to which Versant is authorized to repurchase up to $5.0 million of its common stock in fiscal year 2012 This

stock repurchase program is currently scheduled to expire upon the earlier of October 31 2012 or such time as Versant has

expended $5.0 million to repurchase outstanding common shares under the program however the program may be suspended

discontinued or extended at any earlier time by the Company

After taking into account potential common stock repurchases under our current stock repurchase program we believe that our

existing cash and cash equivalents and cash to be generated from operations will be sufficient to finance our operations during

the next twelve months However if we fail to generate adequate cash flows from operations in the future due to an

unexpected decline in our revenues difficulties or delays in collection of revenues or due to sustained increase in cash

expenditures in excess of the revenues generated then our cash balances may not be sufficient to fund our continuing

operations without obtaining additional debt or equity financing Additional cash may also be needed to acquire or invest in
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complementary businesses or products or to obtain the right to use complementary technologies and we expect that in the

event of such an acquisition or investment that is significant it will be necessary for us to seek additional debt or equity

financing

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

For recent accounting pronouncements see Note Summary of Sign JIcant Accounting Policies of Notes to Consolidated

Financial Statements under Part II Item of this Report

Item 7A Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Foreign currency exchange risk

We transact business in various foreign currencies and accordingly we are subject to exposure from adverse movements in

foreign currency exchange rates

The effect of changes in foreign currency exchange rates on our net operating results in fiscal year 2011 as compared to fiscal

year 2010 was comprised of approximately $316000 of favorable foreign currency fluctuations on our revenues $34000 of

unfavorable foreign currency fluctuations on our cost of revenues and $218000 of unfavorable foreign currency fluctuations

on our operating expenses resulting in net favorable effect of approximately $64000 on our income from operations for the

year ended October 31 2011

Operating expenses incurred by our foreign subsidiaries are denominated primarily in local currencies We currently do not use

financial instruments to hedge these operating expenses While we intend to assess the need to utilize financial instruments to

hedge currency exposures on an ongoing basis we do not at this time anticipate establishing any hedging during fiscal
year

2012

Our exposure to the risk of changes in foreign currency exchange rates is primarily related to the magnitude of foreign net

profits and losses denominated in euros as well as our net position of monetary assets and monetary liabilities in the euro

though in the future the same could be true of other foreign currencies depending on the source of our revenues This

exposure has the potential to produce either gains or losses within our consolidated results However in some instances our

European operations act as natural hedge since both operating expenses as well as revenues are denominated in local

currencies In these instances although an unfavorable change in the exchange rate of the euro against the U.S dollar will

result in lower revenues when translated into U.S dollars our European operating expenditures will be lower as well

Additionally we held approximately 87% of our total cash balance at October 31 2011 in the form of U.S dollars to assist in

minimizing the impact of foreign currency fluctuations

We did not own any derivative financial instruments as of October 31 2011

Interest rate risk

Our cash equivalents primarily consist of money market accounts therefore we do not believe that our interest rate risk is

significant at this time

Item Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

The following consolidated financial statements and the related notes thereto of Versant Corporation and the Report of

Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm are filed as part of this Form 10-K
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Board of Directors and Shareholders of Versant Corporation and Subsidiaries

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Versant Corporation and Subsidiaries the Company as of

October 31 2011 and 2010 and the related consolidated statements of income stockholders equity and comprehensive

income and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended October 31 2011 These financial statements are the

responsibility of the Companys management Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on

our audits

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board United States

Those standards reqUire that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial

statements are free of material misstatement The Company is not required to have nor were we engaged to perform an audit of

its internal control over financial reporting Our audit included consideration of internal control over financial reporting as

basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion

on the effectiveness of the Compans internal control over financial reporting Accordingly we express no such opinion An

audit also includes examining on test basis evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements

assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management as well as evaluating the overall

financial statement presentation We believe that our audits provide reasonable basis for our opinion

In our opinion the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly in all material respects the financial

position of Versant Corporation and Subsidiaries as of October 31 2011 and 2010 and the results of their operations and their

cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended October 31 2011 in conformity with accounting principles generally

accepted in the United States of America

/s/ GRANT THORNTON LLP

San Francisco California

January 302012
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VERSANT CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

in thousands except for share amounts

October 31 October 31
2011 2010

ASSETS

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 23145 24911

Trade accounts receivable net 2183 3186

Deferred income taxes 898 884

Other current assets 481 388

Total current assets 26707 29369

Property and equipment net 993 634

Goodwill 8589 8589

Intangible assets net 309 499

Other assets 38 38

Total assets 36636 39129

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY

Current liabilities

Accounts payable 152 164

Accrued liabilities 1076 1294

Deferred revenues 2695 3022

Total current liabilities 3923 4480

Other long-term liabilities 178 205

Total liabilities 4101 4685

Commitments and contingencies Notes

Shareholders equity

Common stock no par value 7500000 shares authorized 2935125 shares issued and

outstanding at October 31 2011 and 3213122 shares issued and outstanding at

October31 2010 90055 92654

Accumulated other comprehensive income net 31 43

Accumulated deficit 57551 58253

Total shareholders equity 32535 34444

Total liabilities and shareholders equity 36636 39129

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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VERSANT CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

in thousands except for per share amounts

Fiscal Year Ended

October 31 October 31 October 31

2011 2010 2009

Revenues

License 8896 8342 9045

Maintenance 7201 7331 8833

Professional services 175 93 272

Total revenues 16272 15766 18150

Cost of revenues

License 252 279 273

Amortization of intangible assets 190 303 373

Maintenance 1475 1470 1452

Professional services 85 61 133

Total cost of revenues 2002 2113 2231

Gross profit 14270 13653 15919

Operating expenses

Sales and marketing 5568 4722 4101

Research and development 3921 3778 3969

General and administrative 3810 3143 3665

Restructuring 25 39 139

Total operating expenses 13324 11682 11874

Income from operations 946 1971 4045

Interest and other income net 38 150 232

Income before provision for income taxes 984 2121 4277

Income tax benefit expense 282 467 562

Net income 702 1654 4839

Net income per share

Basic 0.23 0.48 1.33

Diluted 0.23 0.48 .32

Shares used in per share calculation

Basic 3078 3411 3626

Diluted 3083 3444 3663

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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VERSANT CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY
AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
in thousands except for share amounts

Balance at October 31 2008

Repurchases of common stock

ESPP

Exercise of stock options

Share based compensation expense

Net income

Accumulated

Common Other Total Total

Accumulated Comprehensive Shareholders Comprehensive
Shares Amount

Deficit Income Equity Income

3746581 97717 64746 183 33154

222688 3242 3242

15691 164 164

13362 121 121

970

4839

970

4839 4839

Foreign currency translation adjustments

Total comprehensive income

Balance at October 31 2009

Repurchases of common stock

ESPP

Exercise of stock options

3552946 95730 59907

356104 4310

13093 132

3187 35

434 36257

4310

132

35

251 251

5090

Share based compensation expense

Net income

Foreign currency translation adjustments

Total comprehensive income

Balance at October 31 2010

Repurchases of common stock

ESPP

Exercise of stock options

1067 1067

391 391

1263

Share based compensation expense

Net income

Foreign currency translation adjustments 12

Total comprehensive income

Balance at October 31 2011 2935125 90055 57551 31 32535

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements

251

1654 1654 1654

391

3213122 92654 58253

303174 3796

17750 176

7427 32

43 34444

3796

176

32

989 989

702 702 702

12 12

690
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VERSANT CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
in thousands

Fiscal Year Ended October 31

394 309

190 303

989 1067

26
25 19

979

235

40
222

_________
441

__________
2285

180

775 480

15

775 645

167

4310

4143

398

2901

27812

24911

939

337

373

970

19

135

778

75

233

418

15
5771

2383

164

2547

285

3242

2961

315

578

27234

27812

Supplemental disclosures of cash flows information

Cash paid for

Income taxes 393 385 713

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements

2011 2010 2009

702 1654 4839

Cash flows from operating activities

Net income

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities

Deferred income tax benefit

Depreciation and amortization

Amortization of intangible assets

Share based compensation

Provision for recovery of allowance for doubtful accounts receivable

Restructuring reduction of charges

Changes in assets and liabilities

Trade accounts receivable

Other assets

Accounts payable

Accrued liabilities and other long-term liabilities

Deferred revenues

Net cash provided by operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities

Acquisition of business

Purchases of property and equipment

Proceeds from the sale of property and equipment

Net cash used in investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from issuance of common stock 208

Repurchases of common stock 3796

Principal payments under capital lease obligations

Net cash used in financing activities 3588

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 28
Net increase decrease in cash and cash equivalents 1766
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 24911

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 23145

1014

90
13

207

386

2625
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VERSANT CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

October 31 2011

Note The Company and Basis of Presentation

Versant Corporation with its subsidiaries collectively referred to in this report as Versant or the Company was

incorporated in California in August 1988 Versant is leading provider of object-oriented data management software that

forms critical component of the infrastructure of enterprise computing The Company designs develops markets and

supports object-oriented database management system products to solve complex data management and data integration

problems of enterprises Versant also provides related product support training and consulting services to assist users in the use

of its products and in development and deployment of software applications based on its products The Company operates its

business within single operating segment referred to as Data Management Versants principal executive offices are located in

Redwood City California Versant has international operations in Germany and markets its software products and related

maintenance services directly through telesales and field sales organizations in North America and Germany and indirectly

through distributors and resellers worldwide

Note Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include 100% of the assets liabilities revenues expenses and cash flows of Versant and

all entities in which Versant has controlling voting interest subsidiaries required to be consolidated in accordance with

Financial Accounting Standards Board FASB guidance pursuant to Accounting Standards Codification ASC 810

Consolidation All significant intercompany accounts and transactions among consolidated companies have been eliminated in

consolidation

The financial position and operating results of foreign operations are consolidated using the local currency as their functional

currency Local currency assets and liabilities are translated into U.S dollars at the rates of exchange on the balance sheet date

and local currency revenues and expenses are translated using rates that approximate the average rates of exchange during the

period Resulting translation gains or losses are included in the accompanying consolidated statement of shareholders equity as

component of accumulated other comprehensive income

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of

America GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions which affect the reported amounts of assets and

liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of

revenues and expenses during the reporting period Actual results could differ from the estimates

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include all highly liquid investments with an original maturity of three months or less at the time of

purchase The Companys cash and cash equivalents at October 31 2011 and October 31 2010 consisted of deposits in banks

and money market funds As of October 31 2011 and 2010 cash balances held in foreign financial institutions were $9.4

million and $6.6 million respectively

Concentration of Credit Risk

The Companys financial instruments which potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk consist primarily

of cash and cash equivalents and trade accounts receivable The Company maintains its cash and cash equivalents with

balances which may exceed insured limits with financial institutions and invests in highly rated short-term securities The

Company maintains an allowance for doubtful accounts as an estimate of the inability of its customers to make required

payments The allowance was $16000 and $8000 at October 31 2011 and October 31 2010 respectively The amount of the

Companys allowance is based on historical experience and an analysis of its accounts receivable balances Credit losses to date

have been within managements expectations However actual results could differ from such estimates
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Note Summary of Significant Accounting Policies Continued

The following table summarizes trade accounts receivable balances in excess of 10% of the Companys total trade accounts

receivable as of October 31 2011 and 2010 in thousands

As of October 31

2011 2010

Customer 225 475

CustomerB 519

Customer 504

Customer 311

Customer 362

not in excess of 10% of trade accounts receivable

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation computed using the straight-line method based on the

estimated useful lives of the assets generally ranging from three to five years Depreciation commences upon placing the asset

in service Leasehold improvements are amortized over the shorter of the useful life or the remaining lease term The Company

reviews its property and equipment for impairment periodically or whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that

the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable

The following table summarizes the breakdown of the Companys property and equipment as of October 31 2011 and

October 31 2010 in thousands

As of October 31

2011 2010

Property and equipment

Computer equipment 1660 1395

Furniture and fixtures 237 222

Software 1009 694

Leasehold improvements 401 393

Other assets 35 35

3342 2739

Less accumulated depreciation and amortization 2349 2105
Total 993 634

Total depreciation expense
for fiscal years 2011 2010 and 2009 was $394000 $309000 and $337000 respectively

Impairment of Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price of an acquired business over the fair value of the identifiable assets

acquired and liabilities assumed in business combinations As required by ASC 350 Intangibles Goodwill and Other the

Company evaluates its goodwill for impairment on an annual basis

In accordance with ASC 350 Goodwill we test for any goodwill impairment within our single Data Management operating

segment and reporting unit FASB guidance requires that goodwill be tested for impairment at the reporting unit level at least

annually and more frequently upon the occurrence of certain events The Company uses the market approach to assess the fair

value of its assets and this value is compared with the carrying value of those assets to test for impairment The total fair value

of the Companys assets is estimated by summing the fair value of the Companys equity as indicated by the publicly traded

share price for Versants shares and the number of shares outstanding plus an estimated control premium and its liabilities

Under this approach if the estimated fair value of the Companys assets is greater than their canying value then there is no
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Note Summary of Significant Accounting Policies Continued

goodwill impairment If the estimated fair value of the Companys assets is less than their carrying value an allocation would

be made of the reporting units estimated fair value to its assets and liabilities as though the reporting unit had just been

acquired in business combination The impairment loss is the amount if any by which the implied fair value of goodwill

allocable to the reporting unit is less than that reporting units goodwill carrying amount and would be recorded in operating

results during the period of such impairment

Versant performed its annual evaluations of the Companys goodwill based on the requirements of ASC 350 in October 2011

October 2010 and October 2009 As result of these impairment tests and valuation analyses Versant determined that no

impairment charges against the Companys goodwill were required in fiscal years 2011 2010 or 2009

Purchased intangible assets other than goodwill are amortized over their useful lives unless such lives are determined to be

indefinite Purchased intangible assets with definite lives are carried at cost less accumulated amortization Identifiable

intangibles are currently amortized using the straight-line method over useful lives ranging from 5-9 years Intangible assets

consist of acquired technology customer relationships and trade names Versant tests and evaluates its intangible assets for

impairment whenever indicators of potential impairment are identified

In fiscal years 2011 2010 and 2009 there were no triggering events to indicate impairment of Versants intangible assets and

the Company did not perform impairment tests and valuation analyses of its intangible assets Versant determined that the value

of the Companys intangible assets had been fairly recorded in its financial statements and therefore no impairment charges

against the Companys intangible assets related to the Companys Poet FastObjects JDO Genie and db4o acquisitions were

recorded in fiscal years 2011 2010 or 2009

Revenue Recognition

We recognize revenues in accordance with GAAP as set forth in

ASC 985-605 Software Revenue Recognition and

ASC 605-35 Revenue Recognition Construction-Type and Production-Type Contracts

The Companys revenues consist mainly of revenues earned under software license agreements maintenance support

agreements otherwise known as post-contract customer support or PCS and to lesser degree agreements for consulting

and training activities

Versant uses the residual method to recognize revenues when license agreement includes one or more elements to be

delivered by the Company at future date If there is an undelivered element under the license arrangement the Company

defers revenues based on vendor-specific objective evidence VSOE of the fair value of the undelivered element as

determined by the price charged when the element is sold separately If VSOE of fair value does not exist for all undelivered

elements of transaction the Company defers all revenues from that transaction until sufficient evidence of the fair value exists

or until all elements have been delivered Under the residual method discounts are allocated only to the delivered elements in

multiple element arrangement with any undelivered elements being deferred based on the vendor-specific objective evidence

of the fair value of such undelivered elements Versant typically does not offer discounts on future undeveloped products

The Company has established VSOE of fair value of PCS as evidenced by stand-alone renewal transactions using the bell

shaped curve approach PCS of the Versant Object Database is priced as percentage of the original software license fees The

Company performs quarterly analysis on transaction by transaction basis to document the
range

of pricing in PCS renewals

The Company has established VSOE of fair value for PCS if substantial majorities greater than 80% of stand-alone renewal

transactions are priced within reasonably narrow range plus or minus 15% from the midpoint of the range For the
year

ended October 31 2011 the pricing of over 95% of stand-alone PCS renewal transactions fell within the predefined pricing

range
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Revenues from software license arrangements including prepaid license fees are recognized when all of the following criteria

are met

Persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists

Delivery has occurred and there are no future deliverables except PCS

The fee is fixed and determinable If the Company cannot conclude that fee is fixed and determinable then assuming

all other criteria have been met the Company recognizes the revenues as payments become due in accordance with

ASC 985-605

Collection is reasonably assured

If an acceptance period or other contingency exists revenues are not recognized until customer acceptance or expiration of the

acceptance period or until satisfaction of the contingency as applicable The Companys license fees are generally non-

cancelable and non-refundable Also the Companys customer agreements for prepaid deployment licenses generally do not

make payment of the Companys license fees contingent upon the actual deployment of the software Therefore customers

delay or acceleration in its deployment schedule typically does not impact the Companys revenue recognition in the case of

prepaid deployment license

Revenues from related PCS for all product lines are usually billed in advance of the service being provided and are deferred

and recognized on straight-line basis over the term in which the PCS is to be performed which is generally twelve months In

some cases PCS revenues are paid in arrears of the service being provided and are recognized as revenues at the time the

customer provides the Company report for deployments made during given time period Training and consulting revenues

are recognized when purchase order is received the services have been performed and collection is deemed probable

Consulting services are billed on an hourly daily or monthly rate Training classes are billed based on group or individual

attendance

Versant categorizes its customers into two broad groups End-Users and Value Added Resellers VARs End-User customers

are companies who use Versants products internally and do not redistribute the Companys product outside of their corporate

organizations VAR customers include traditional Value Added Resellers Systems Integrators Original Equipment

Manufacturers OEM5 and other vendors who redistribute Versants products to their external third party customers either

separately or as part of an integrated product

Versant licenses its data management products through two types of perpetual licenses development licenses and deployment

licenses Development licenses are typically licensed on per seat basis and authorize customer to develop and test an

application program that uses Versants software product Before an End-User customer may deploy an application that it has

developed under the Companys development license it must purchase deployment licenses in which the license fees are based

on the number of computers connected to the server that will run the application using Versants product or for certain

applications the number of users Pricing of Versant Object Database and FastObjects licenses varies according to several

factors including the number of computer servers on which the application runs and the number of users that are able to access

the server at any one time Customers may elect to simultaneously purchase development and deployment licenses for an entire

project These development and deployment licenses may also provide for prepayment to Versant of nonrefundable amount

for future deployment

VARs and distributors license development software from Versant on per seat basis on terms similar to those of development

licenses that the Company sells directly to End-Users VARs are authorized to sublicense deployment copies of Versants data

management products that are either bundled or embedded in the VARs applications and sold directly to End-Users VARs are

required to report their distribution of Versants software and are charged royalty that is either based on the number of copies

of the application software that are distributed or computed as percentage
of the selling price charged by the VARs to their

end-user customers These royalties from VARs may be prepaid in full or paid upon deployment VAR agreements for prepaid

royalty arrangements are non-cancelable non-refundable and do not make payment of the license fees contingent upon the

actual deployment of the software and therefore the future deployments of the VARs have no impact on revenue recognition of

such prepaid royalties Provided that all other conditions for revenue recognition have been met revenues from arrangements
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with VARs are recognized as to prepaid license arrangements when the prepaid licenses are sold to the VAR and ii as to

other license arrangements at the time the VAR provides royalty report to Versant for sales made by the VAR during given

period

On occasion at customers request Versant performs engineering work to port the Companys products to an unsupported

platform to customize its software for specific functionality or other non-routine technical assignments In these instances

Versant recognizes revenues in accordance with ASC 605-35 Revenue Recognition Construction-Type and Production-Type

Contracts and uses either the time and material percentage of completion method or the completed contract method for

recognizing revenues The Company uses the percentage of completion method if it can make reasonable and dependable

estimates of labor Costs and hours required to complete the work in question The Company periodically reviews these

estimates in connection with the work performed and rates actually charged and recognizes any losses when identified

Progress to completion is determined using the cost-to-cost method whereby cost incurred to date as percentage of total

estimated cost determines the percentage completed and revenue recognized When using the percentage of completion

method the following conditions must exist

An agreement must include provisions that clearly specif the rights regarding goods or services to be provided and

received by both parties the consideration to be exchanged and the manner and terms of settlement

The customer is able to satisfy its obligations under the contract

Versant is able to satisf its obligations under the contract

The completed contract method is used when reasonable or dependable estimates of labor costs and time to complete the work

cannot be made As result in such situations Versant defers all revenues until such time as the work is fully completed

Management of the Company makes significant judgments and estimates in connection with the determination of the revenue

Versant recognizes in each accounting period If Versant had made different judgments or utilized different estimates for any

period material differences in the amount and timing of revenue recognized would have resulted

Foreign Currency

The functional currencies of the Companys foreign subsidiaries are their respective local currencies The Company translates

the assets and liabilities of intemational subsidiaries into the U.S dollar at the current exchange rates in effect on the balance

sheet date and revenues and expenses are translated using rates that approximate the average rates of exchange during the

period Gains and losses from translation adjustments are included in shareholders equity on the consolidated balance sheets

captioned as accumulated other comprehensive income net

The Company records net gains and losses resulting from settling transactions denominated in currencies other than its

functional currency as component of interest and other income net Foreign exchange gain loss was approximately

$23000 $91000 and $35000 respectively for the fiscal years ended October 31 2011 October 31 2010 and October 31

2009 respectively

Other Comprehensive Income

Accumulated other comprehensive income net presented in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets consist of

cumulative foreign currency translation adjustments

Warranties and Indemnjfication Obligations

The Company recognizes warranty and indemnification obligations under ASC 460 Guarantees This FASB guidance requires

guarantor to recognize and disclose liability for obligations it has undertaken in relation to the issuance of the guarantee

The Company enters into indemnification agreements in the ordinary course ofbusiness The Companys license agreements

with customers generally require it to indemnify the customer against claims that its software infringes third party patent
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copyright trademark or other proprietary rights Such indemnification obligations are generally limited in variety of industry-

standard respects If liability associated with any of the Companys indemnifications becomes probable and the amount of the

liability is reasonably estimable or the minimum amount of range of loss is reasonably estimable then an appropriate liability

will be established The estimated fair value of these indemnification clauses is minimal The Company has not provided any

reserves for such indemnity liabilities

The Companys software license agreements also generally include warranty that the Companys software products will

substantially operate as described in the applicable program documentation The Company also warrants that services the

Company performs will be provided in manner consistent with industry standards In Europe there is typically one-year

warranty period for all of the Companys products and services To date Versant has not incurred any material costs associated

with these product and service performance warranties and as such the Company has provided no warranty reserve balance in

its consolidated financial statements

Deft rred Revenue

Defetred revenue represents amounts billed to customers under certain maintenance software and service contracts for which

the revenue earning process has not been completed and revenue has not been recognized Deferred revenues are recognized as

revenue ratably over the life of the contract or when the service is rendered and the Company has satisfied all other revenue

recognition criteria

The following table summarizes the breakdown of the Companys deferred revenue as of October 31 2011 and October 31

2010 in thousands

As of October 31

2011 2010

Deferred revenue

Short-term deferred maintenance software and professional services 2695 3022

Long-term deferred maintenance 23 66

Total deferred revenue 2718 3088

Accrued Liabilities

The breakdown of short-term accrued liabilities as of October 31 2011 and October 31 2010 was as follows in thousands

As of October 31

2011 2010

Accrued liabilities

Payroll and related 832 804

Taxes payable 89 105

Deferred rent 21 14

Other 134 371

Total accrued liabilities 1076 1294

Software Development Costs

Software development costs are included in research and development and are expensed as incurred After technological

feasibility is established material software development costs are capitalized in accordance with ASC 985-20 Software Costs

of Software tO Be Sold Leased or Marketed The time period between achieving technological feasibility which Versant has

defined as the establishment of working model which typically occurs when the beta testing commences and the general

availability of such software has generally been short and therefore to date software development costs qualifying for

capitalization have been insignificant No software development costs have been capitalized for the years ended October 31

2011 2010 and 2009
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Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes pursuant to the provisions of ASC 740 Income Taxes which requires an asset and

liability approach to accounting for income taxes Deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on the difference

between the financial statement carrying amounts and the tax basis of assets and liabilities and are measured using the enacted

statutory tax rates in effect at the balance sheet date The Company records valuation allowance to reduce its deferred tax

assets when uncertainty regarding realizability exists

The Company is subject to U.S federal income taxes and to income taxes in various states in the U.S as well as in foreign

jurisdictions Tax regulations within each jurisdiction are subject to the interpretation of the related tax laws and regulations and

require significant judgment to apply With few exceptions the Company is no longer subject to U.S federal state and local or

foreign tax examinations by tax authorities for tax years before 2006 However with respect to prior tax years no longer subject

to examination due to the expiration of the statute of limitations income may nevertheless be recomputed for the purpose
of

determining the amount of NOL that may be carried over to open years

The Company recognizes interest and penalties accrued related to unrecognized tax benefits in the provision for income taxes

for all periods presented which were not significant The Company applies the net basis of income statement presentation for

taxes collected from customers and remitted to government authorities

Share Based Compensation

The Company accounts for share-based compensation costs in accordance with ASC 718 Compensation Stock Compensation

Under the fair value recognition guidance ofASC 718 share based compensation cost is estimated at the grant date based on

the fair value of the award and is recognized as expense over the requisite service period of the award

The Company utilizes the Black-Scholes option pricing model to estimate the fair value of employee share based compensation

awards at the date of grant This model requires the use of assumptions including expected volatility expected term risk-free

interest rate and dividend yield some of which require significant management judgment Further the Company estimates

forfeiture rates for those options granted which are not expected to vest Changes in these inputs and assumptions can

materially affect the measure of estimated fair value of our share-based compensation The estimated fair value is charged to

earnings on straight-line basis over the vesting period of the underlying awards which are generally three years under the

Companys Equity Incentive Plans and two years under the Directors Stock Option Plans While the estimate of fair value and

the associated charge to earnings materially impacts the Companys results of operations it has no impact on its cash position

Versant employs historical volatility over period equal to the expected term of the options as the basis for estimating expected

volatility The Company however takes into account all available current information to determine the expected volatility

Versant bases the expected term of its options on historical exercise data while considering other factors that could possibly

impact the future life of the options Versant uses the Treasury Constant Maturities rates reported by The Federal Reserve to

approximate the risk free interest rate Versant has not distributed any dividends to its common shareholders and does not

expect to do so in the near future

Versant uses historical forfeiture data modified by any available relevant information to arrive at the estimated forfeiture rate

ASC 718 requires that forfeitures be estimated at the time of grant and revised if necessary in subsequent periods if actual

forfeitures differ from those estimates Versant applies the forfeiture rate to the unvested portion of the option valuation and

performs true up if the actual forfeiture rate is different from the one applied in prior periods

Versant estimates the fair value of employee rights to purchase shares under its employee stock purchase plan or ESPP
using the Black-Scholes Option Pricing Model The purchase price of shares which employees may acquire under the

Companys ESPP at any purchase period is 85% of the lesser of either of the following the fair market value of the shares on

the offering date or the fair market value of the shares on the purchase date Versant records compensation expense based on the

estimated fair value of the shares granted under the ESPP
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Employee Benefit Plans

The Companys employee savings and retirement plan is qualified under Section 401k of the United States Internal Revenue

Code Employees may make voluntary tax-deferred contributions to the 401k Plan up to the statutorily prescribed annual

limit No matching contributions to employees voluntary contributions to the 401k plan were made by the Company in fiscal

years 2011 2010 and 2009

Restructuring and Related Charges

Restructuring charges are recognized and measured according to the provisions of ASC 420 Exit or Disposal Cost Obligations

which requires liability for cost associated with an exit or disposal activity to be recognized at its fair value in the period in

which the liability is incurred except for liability for one-time termination benefits that is incurred over time Restructuring

charges include employee termination and related costs contract termination costs and other costs directly associated with exit

activities including impairment of property and other assets Costs for such activities are estimated by management after

evaluating detailed analyses of the cost to be incurred

Segment and Geographic Information

ASC 280 Segment Reporting establishes standards for the manner in which public companies report information about

operating segments in annual and interim financial statements It also establishes standards for related disclosures about

products and services geographic areas and major customers The method for determining what information to report is based

on the way management organizes the operating segments within the Company for making operating decisions and assessing

financial performance The Companys chief operating decision-maker is considered to be the Companys chief executive

officer CEO The CEO reviews financial information presented on an entity level basis accompanied by non-aggregated

information about revenues by product type and certain information about geographic regions for purposes of making operating

decisions and assessing financial performance The entity level financial information is identical to the information presented in

the accompanying consolidated statements of income Therefore the Company has determined that it operates in single

operating segment Data Management

In aggregate the revenues generated by one significant telecommunications customer accounted for approximately 12% of

total revenues in the fiscal years 2011 and 2010

The Company operates in North America Europe and Asia In general revenues are attributed to the country in which the

contract originates

The following tables summarize revenues and long-lived assets by each geographic region in thousands

Fiscal Year Ended October 31

2011 2010 2009

Total revenues by geographic area

North America 6457 6232 6964

Europe 9020 8764 10656

Asia 795 770 530

Total $16272 $15766 $18150
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The following table summarizes long-lived assets by each geographic region in thousands

As of October 31

2011 2010

Total long-lived assets by geographic area

North America 438 127

Germany 588 506

Asia 39

Total 1031 672

Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements

Fair Value Measurement Disclosure

In January 2010 the Financial Accounting Standards Board FASB amended the disclosure requirements for the lair value

measurements for recurring and nonrecurring non-financial assets and liabilities The guidance requires new disclosures about

transfers into and out of Levels and and separate disclosures about purchases sales issuances and settlements relating to

Level measurements It also clarifies existing fair value disclosures about the level of disaggregation and about inputs and

valuation techniques used to measure fair value The new disclosures and clarifications of existing disclosures were effective

for the Companys second quarter of fiscal year 2010 except for the disclosures about purchases sales issuances and

settlements relating to Level measurements which are effective for the Companys first quarter of fiscal year 2012 The

adoption of this guidance had no material impact on the Companys consolidated financial statements

Amendments to Variable Interest Entity Guidance

In June 2009 new guidance was issued which requires an enterprise to determine whether its variable interest or interests give

it controlling financial interest in variable interest entity The primary beneficiary of variable interest entity is the

enterprise that has both the power to direct the activities of variable interest entity that most significantly impact the

entitys economic performance and the obligation to absorb losses of the entity that could potentially be significant to the

variable interest entity or the right to receive benefits from the entity that could potentially be significant to the variable interest

entity The guidance also requires ongoing reassessments of whether an enterprise is the primary beneficiary of variable

interest entity The guidance was effective for Versant beginning November 2010 The adoption of this guidance had no

material impact on the Companys consolidated financial statements

Multiple-Deliverable Revenue Arrangements

In October 2009 new guidance was issued by the FASB related to the revenue recognition of multiple element arrangements

The new guidance states that if vendor specific objective evidence or third party evidence of fair value for deliverables in an

arrangement cannot be determined companies will be required to develop best estimate of the selling price for separate

deliverables and allocate arrangement consideration using the relative selling price method The new guidance is effective for

Versant for revenue arrangements entered into or materially modified beginning on November 2010 The adoption of this

guidance had no material impact on the Companys consolidated financial statements

Revenue Recognition for certain Arrangements that Include Software Elements

In October 2009 new guidance was issued by FASB related to certain revenue arrangements that include software elements

Previously companies
that sold tangible products with more than incidental software were required to apply software

revenue recognition guidance This guidance often delayed revenue recognition for the delivery of the tangible product Under

the new guidance tangible products that have software components that are essential to the functionality of the tangible

product will be excluded from the software revenue recognition guidance The new guidance includes factors to help

companies determine what is essential to the functionality Software-enabled products will now be subject to other revenue

guidance and will likely follow the guidance for multiple deliverable arrangements issuçd by the FASB in October 2009 The
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new guidance was effective for Versant for revenue arrangements entered into or materially modified beginning on

November 2010 The adoption of this guidance had no material impact on the Companys consolidated financial statements

Revenue Recognition Milestone Method

In April 2010 the FASB issued guidance on the criteria that should be met for determining whether the milestone method of

revenue recognition is appropriate for research and development arrangements vendor can recognize consideration that is

contingent upon achievement of milestone in its entirety as revenue in the period in which the milestone is achieved only if

the milestone meets all criteria to be considered substantive The guidance was effective for Versant beginning November

2010 The adoption of this guidance had no material impact on the Companys consolidated financial statements

Receivables Disclosure

In July 2010 the FASB issued guidance which amends ASC 310 Receivables This Accounting Standards Update ASU
requires disclosures related to financing receivables and the allowance for credit losses by portfolio segment The ASU also

requires disclosures of information regarding the credit quality aging nonaccrual status and impairments by class of

receivable Trade accounts receivable with maturities of one year or less are excluded from the disclosure requirements The

effective date for disclosures as of the end of the reporting period was the first quarter of the Companys fiscal year 2011 The

effective date for disclosures for activity during the reporting period is the second quarter of the Companys fiscal year 2011

The adoption of this guidance had no material impact on the Companys consolidated financial statements

Interactive Data Reporting

In January 2009 the SEC issued Release No 33-9002 Interactive Data to Improve Financial Reporting The final rule requires

companies to provide their financial statements and financial statement schedules to the SEC and on their corporate websites in

interactive data format using the eXtensible Business Reporting Language XBRL The rule was adopted by the SEC to

improve the ability of financial statement users to access and analyze financial data The SEC adopted phase-in schedule

indicating when registrants must furnish interactive data Under this schedule the Company was required to submit filings with

financial statement information using XBRL commencing with the quarterly report on Form l0-Q for the quarter ended

July 31 2011

Recent Accounting Pronouncements Not Yet Adopted

Goodwill Impairment Testing

In December 2010 the FASB issued guidance which amends ASC 350 Intangibles Goodwill and Other This Accounting

Standards Update amends the criteria for performing Step of the goodwill impairment test for reporting units with zero or

negative carrying amounts and requires performing Step if qualitative factors indicate that it is more likely than not that

goodwill impairment exists This guidance is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15 2011 November 2012

for the Company The adoption of this guidance is not expected to have material impact on the Companys consolidated

financial statements

Presentation of Comprehensive Income

In June 2011 the FASB issued ASUNo 2011-05 Presentation of Comprehensive Income The issuance ofASU 20 11-5 is

intended to improve the comparability consistency and transparency of financial reporting and to increase the prominence of

items reported in other comprehensive income The guidance in ASU 2011-5 supersedes the presentation options in ASC Topic

220 and facilitates convergence of U.S generally accepted accounting principles and International Financial Reporting

Standards by eliminating the option to present components of other comprehensive income as part of the statement of changes

in shareholders equity and requiring that all non-owner changes in shareholders equity be presented either in single

continuous statement of comprehensive income or in two separate but consecutive statements This guidance will be applied

retrospectively and early adoption is permitted This guidance is effective for fiscal years and interim periods within those

years beginning after December 15 2011 November 2012 for the Company The adoption of this guidance is not expected

to have material impact on the Companys consolidated financial statements
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Goodwill Impairment Testing

In September 2011 the FASB issued guidance to amend and simplif the rules related to testing goodwill for impairment The

revised guidance allows an entity to make an initial qualitative evaluation based on the entitys events and circumstances to

determine whether it is more likely than not that the fair value of reporting unit is less than its carrying amount The results of

this qualitative assessment determine whether it is necessary to perform the currently required two-step impairment test The

new guidance is effective for annual and interim goodwill impairment tests performed for fiscal years beginning after

December 15 2011 November 2012 for the Company Early adoption is permitted The adoption of this guidance is not

expected to have material impact on the Companys consolidated financial statements

Note Fair Value Measurements

Accounting Standards Codification ASC 820 Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures defines fair value as the price that

would be received from selling an asset or paid to transfer liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at

the measurement date When determining the fair value measurements for assets and liabilities required to be recorded at fair

value the Company considers the principal or most advantageous market for the transaction and considers assumptions that

market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability such as inherent risk transfer restrictions and risk of

nonperformance

The Financial Accounting Standards Board FASB guidance also establishes fair value hierarchy that requires an entity to

maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs when measuring fair value financial

instruments categorization within the fair value hierarchy is based upon the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair

value measurement The three levels of inputs that may be used to measure fair value are as follows

Level quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level inputs other than Level that are observable either directly or indirectly such as quoted prices in active

markets for similar assets or liabilities quoted prices fOr identical or similar assets or liabilities in markets that are not

active or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market data for substantially the full

term of the assets or liabilities or

Level unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to the fair value

of the assets or liabilities

FinancialAssets Measured at Fair Value on Recurring Basis

Our significant financial assets measured at fair value on recurring basis consisted of the following types of instruments as of

October 31 2011 Level 12 and inputs are defined above

Fair Value As of

Hierarchy October 31 2011

in thousands

Financial assets

Money market funds Level 13575

Total 13575

The fair value of money market funds reflect quoted market prices in an active market

Note Valuation and Qualifying Accounts and Reserves

Versant evaluates and revises its allowance for doubtful accounts receivable as part of its quarter end process at the subsidiary

and corporate level Company management assigns risk factor and percentage of risk to each account receivable the

collection of which is considered non-routine Accounts are considered past due in accordance with contractual terms which

usually provide for payment within 30 to 90 days Company management also assigns general reserve to all its overdue

accounts excluding the non-routine items
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The following table summarizes the activities in the Companys allowance for doubtful accounts in thousands

Fiscal Year Ended October 31

2011 2010 2009

Allowance for doubtful accounts

Beginning balance 36 16

Adjustments to provision 28 20

Ending balance 16 36

Note Acquisitions Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Acquisition

On December 2008 the Company acquired the assets of the database software business of privately-held Servo Software

Inc or Servo formerly known as db4objects Inc pursuant to an asset purchase agreement between Versant and Servo dated

December 2008 the db4o Purchase Agreement The acquisition of the db4o assets allows Versant to provide an open

source object database software solution targeting the embedded device market Our results of operations include db4o

transactions from the acquisition date of December 2008

The total purchase price of $2.6 million
for

the db4o assets consisted of the following

Initial cash payment of $2 million made in December 2008

Direct transaction costs of$183000 and

Contingent deferred payments of $280000

Under the terms of the db4o Purchase Agreement in consideration of its acquisition of the assets of the db4o business Versant

paid Servo the above-mentioned closing payment of $2.1 million in cash agreed to pay up to maximum of an additional

$300000 payable in three contingent deferred payments of up to $100000 each during the 18-month period immediately

following the December 2008 acquisition date and assumed certain liabilities of Servo under certain contracts included

among the db4o assets The three contingent deferred payments of up to $100000 each were payable six months twelve

months and eighteen months respectively following the December 2008 acquisition date The Company made the first

contingent dŁferre1 payment of $100000 to Servo on May 29 2009 the second payment of $90000 on November 30 2009

and the third payment of $90000 on May 28 2010

The total purchase price for the db4o assets was allocated to db4os net tangible and identifiable intangible assets based on their

estimated fair values as if the acquisition date with the excess of the purchase price over these aggregate fair values recorded

as goodwill The fair value assigned to identifiable intangible assets acquired is determined using the income Ipproach which

values each intangible asset based upon its estimated impact on the Companys expected future after-tax cash flows and

discounts the net changes in th Companys expected future after-tax cash flows to present value The discount was based on an

analysis of the weighted-average cost of capital for the industry

The Companys allocation of the purchase price for the db4o assets and liabilities is summarized below in thousands

As of

October 31 2011

Allocation of purchase price

Tangible net assets acquired 84

Customer relationships 210

Developed technology 300

Trade name 100

Goodwill 1869

Total 2563
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Purchased identifiable intangible assets are amortized on straight-line basis over their useful lives The estimated useful

economic lives of the acquired customer relationships developed technology and trade name are nine five and five years

respectively The weighted average amortization period of the db4o intangible assets is 6.4 years db4os results of operations

for periods prior to this acquisition were not material to the Companys consolidated statements of income and accordingly pro

forma financial information has not been presented

Goodwill

The following table presents the Companys goodwill balance as of October 31 2011 and 2010 in thousands

Net Carrying

Amount

Goodwill

Versant Europe 241

Poet Holdings Inc 5752

FastObjects Inc 677

JDO Genie PTY Ltd 50

db4o 1869

Total 8589

Goodwill is subject to at least an annual assessment for impairment applying fair-value based test Versant conducted its

annual impairment test in October 2011 and determined there was no impairment

The goodwill acquired in the db4o acquisition will be deductible for tax purposes based upon 15 year tax life

Intangible Assets

The Companys intangible asset balances as of October 31 2011 and October 31 2010 are as follows in thousands

As of October 31 2011 As of October 31 2010

Gross Net Gross Net

Carrying Accumulated Carrying Carrying Accumulated Carrying
Amount Amortization Amount Amount Amortization Amount

Intangible assets

Poet Holdings Inc.- Developed

Technology Customer Relationships

Amortized over years 1919 1919 1919 1832 87

db4o-Developed Technology

Amortized over years 300 175 125 300 115 185

db4o-Customer Relationships

Amortized over years 210 68 142 210 44 166

db4o-Trade Name

Amortized over years 100 58 42 100 39 61

Total 2529 2220 309 2529 2030 499

Aggregate amortization
expense

for intangible assets was $190000 $303000 and $373000 respectively for the fiscal years

ended October 31 2011 2010 and 2009
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The projected amortization of the Companys existing intangible assets as of October 31 2011 is as follows in thousands

Amortization

Fiscal year ending October 31

2012 104

2013 103

2014 30

2015 23

2016 23

Thereafter 26

Total 309

Note Lease Obligation

Lease commitments

Versants principal commitments as of October 31 2011 consist of obligations under operating leases for facilities and

equipment

Versant leases office space for its U.S headquarters in Redwood City California and also leases field office
space

in Hamburg

and Munich Germany under multi-year operating lease agreements The Companys operating lease
arrangements as of

October 31 2011 are summarized below

Total Rent Payable

Lease Expiration over the Remaining
Leased Office Facility Date Lease Term Options to Renew at Fair Value

Hamburg Germany 11/30/2014 548000 Two three year renewal options

Redwood City California 5/31/2013 323000 Single one year
renewal option

Munich Germany 2/28/20 14 64000 Single two year renewal option

Consolidated rent expense in fiscal
years ended October 31 2011 2010 and 2009 was approximately $397000 $427000 and

$507000 respectively

Our minimum commitments under non-cancelable operating leases as of October 31 2011 are as follows in thousands

Facilities Equipment
Leases Leases Total

Fiscal year ending October 31

2012 407 412

2013 326 328

2014 187 187

2015 15 15

Total 935 942

On November 2011 the Company entered into an amendment of its office building lease in Redwood City California

leasing approximately 2500 square feet of additional space for the thirty months ending May 31 2014 The total rent payable

over the lease term is approximately $252000
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Note Contingencies

The Company is subject to various legal proceedings and disputes that arise in the ordinary course of business from time to

time There were no ongoing material legal proceedings as of October 31 2011

The Company enters into indemnification agreements in the ordinary course of business The Companys license agreements

with customers generally require it to indemnif the customer against claims that its software infringes third party patent

copyright trademark or other proprietary rights Such indemnification obligations are generally limited in variety of industry-

standard respects If liability associated with any of the Companys indemnifications becomes probable and the amount of the

liability is reasonably estimable or the minimum amount of range of loss is reasonably estimable then an appropriate liability

will be established The estimated fair value of these indemnification clauses is minimal The Company has not provided for

any reserves for such indemnity liabilities

Note Net Income Per Share

Basic and diluted net income per common share has been computed using the weighted average number of shares of common

stock outstanding during the period less shares subject to repurchase The following table presents the calculation of basic and

diluted net income per share in thousands except per share amounts

Fiscal Year Ended October 31

2011 2010 2009

Net income 702 1654 4839

Calculation of basic net income per share

Weighted average common shares outstanding 3078 3411 3626

Net income per share basic 0.23 0.48 1.33

Calculation of diluted net income per share

Weighted average common shares outstanding 3078 3411 3626

Dilutive effect of employee and director stock options 33 37

Weighted average common shares outstanding and potentially dilutive common
shares 3083 3444 3663

Net income per share diluted 0.23 0.48 1.32

For the years ended October 31 2011 2010 and 2009 403000 352000 and 182000 potentially dilutive shares respectively

were excluded from the computation of diluted net income per share by the application of the treasury stock method

Note Common Stock Repurchases

Fiscal Year 2010 Stock Repurchase Program

On November 30 2009 Versants Board of Directors approved stock repurchase program authorizing Versant to repurchase

up to $5.0 million of its outstanding common shares on the open market in block trades or otherwise This stock repurchase

program expired by its terms on October 31 2010 Pursuant to this program Versant acquired 356104 common shares on the

open market and in block trades for approximately $4.3 million at an average purchase price of $12.06 per share

Fiscal Year 2011 Stock Repurchase Program

On November 29 2010 Versants Board of Directors approved stock repurchase program authorizing Versant to repurchase

up to $5.0 million of its outstanding common shares on the open market in block trades or otherwise This stock repurchase

program expired by its terms on October 31 2011 Pursuant to this program Versant acquired 240629 common shares on the

open market for approximately $3.0 million at an average purchase price of $12.23 per share
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Note Common Stock Repurchases Continued

Fiscal Year 2012 Stock Repurchase Program

On November 28 2011 Versants Board of Directors approved new stock repurchase program announced on December

2011 pursuant to which Versant is authorized to repurchase up to $5.0 million of its common stock in fiscal year 2012 This

stock repurchase program is currently scheduled to expire upon the earlier of October 31 2012 or at such time as Versant has

expended $5.0 million to repurchase outstanding common shares under the program however the program may be suspended

discontinued or extended at any earlier time by the Company

Other Stock Repurchase

On March 10 2011 Versant and the Companys then ChiefExecutive Officer FormerCEO entered into separation

agreement the Separation Agreement On March 28 2011 pursuant to the Separation Agreement Versant repurchased

62545 shares of Versant common stock owned by the Former CEO at price of $13.50 per share which price reflected recent

market trading prices of Versants common stock as of the date of the Separation Agreement

Note 10 Employee and Director Benefit Plans

Yersant has or had during fiscal
year 2011 the following option plans in place

2005 Equity Incentive Plan

The 2005 Equity Incentive Plan was approved by Versants shareholders in August 2005 to replace the Companys 1996 Equity

Incentive Plan Upon adoption of the 2005 Equity Incentive Plan the Company immediately terminated use of the 1996 Equity

Incentive Plan Under the 2005 Equity Incentive Plan the Company is authorized to grant stock options restricted stock awards

and stock bonuses These options are generally granted to its employees with three-year vesting schedule in which 25% of the

option vests and becomes exercisable nine months from the grant date and the remaining 75% vests ratably on monthly-basis

thereafter over the remaining 27 months of the vesting schedule All options granted to employees under the Companys 2005

Equity Incentive Plan expire no later than ten years after the grant date

1996 Equity Incentive Plan

Although the 1996 Equity Incentive Plan has since expired by its terms options to purchase total of 7655 shares originally

granted under this Plan were still outstanding as of October 31 2011

2005 DirectorsStock Option Plan

The 2005 Directors Stock Option Plan was approved by Versants shareholders in August 2005 to replace the Companys 1996

Directors Stock Option Plan Upon adoption of the 2005 Directors Stock Option Plan the Company immediately terminated

use of the 1996 Directors Stock Option Plan Under the 2005 Directors Stock Option Plan Versant grants 4000 options as an

initial grant to new directors on the Board who are not employees of the Company or of parent subsidiary or affiliate of the

Company Outside Directors and grants 4000 additional options to each Outside Director as an annual succeeding grant

thereafter Both initial and succeeding option grants vest 50% on the first and second anniversaries of the option grant though
the options are immediately exercisable upon grant subject to the Companys option to repurchase outstanding unvested option

shares at their issue price if the option holder ceases to be member of the Companys Board of Directors The options granted

under the 2005 Directors Stock Option Plan must expire no more than ten years after the grant date

1996 DirectorsStock Option Plan

As of October 31 2011 total of 15000 options remain outstanding under Versants 1996 Directors Stock Option Plan

Versant ceased granting options under its 1996 Directors Stock Option Plan in August 2005 and no further options will be

granted under the 1996 Directors Stock Option Plan

Assumed Poet Options and Plans

Versant acquired all of Poets stock option plans in connection with our March 2004 acquisition of Poet As of October 31

2011 total of 14363 options remain outstanding under these Poet plans No further options will be granted under any of

Poets option plans

99



Note 10 Employee and Director Benefit Plans Continued

2005 Employee Stock Purchase Plan

The 2005 Employee Stock Purchase Plan was approved by Versants shareholders in August 2005 to replace the Companys

1996 Employee Stock Purchase Plan Upon adoption of the 2005 Employee Stock Purchase Plan the Company immediately

terminated use of the 1996 Employee Stock Purchase Plan and ceased to issue stock under the 1996 Employee Stock Purchase

Plan and instead thereafter issued stock under the 2005 Employee Stock Purchase Plan The number of common shares

initially reserved under the 2005 Employee Stock Purchase Plan was equal to the number of shares that were reserved and

available for issuance under the 1996 Employee Stock Purchase Plan on the date of the approval of the new plan

Under the Employee Stock Purchase Plan employees may generally defer up to 10% of their compensation to purchase shares

of our common stock at purchase price equal to 85% of the lower of the fair market value per share of our common stock on

the commencement date of the applicable six month offering period or the applicable purchase date As of October 31 2011

approximately 30000 shares were available for future issuance under the Employee Stock Purchase Plan

Shares Reserved for Future Issuance

At the Companys 2011 annual shareholder meeting held on April 18 2011 the shareholders approved an increase of 300000

shares and 20000 shares in the numbers of shares reserved under the Companys 2005 Equity Incentive Plan and 2005

Directors Stock Option Plan respectively

As of October 31 2011 the Company has reserved shares of common stock for the following purposes in thousands

Shares

Reserved for issuance

Employee stock purchase plan
30

Stock options available for grant
345

Outstanding stock options
651

Balance as of October 31 2011 1026

The stock option activities in fiscal years 2011 2010 and 2009 were as follows

Weighted
ptions Num er of

average
available options exercise

for grant outstanding price

in thousands

Balance as of October 31 2008 188 303 20.40

Authorized 220

Granted 153 153 13.55

Exercised 13 9.09

Forfeited and expired
52 57 17.88

Balance as of October 2009 307 386 18.45

Authorized

Granted 164 164 17.42

Exercised 10.85

Forfeited and expired
29 32 39.89

Balance as of October 31 2010 172 515 16.84

Authorized 320

Granted 177 177 11.84

Exercised 4.35

Forfeited and expired 30 34 24.75

Balance as oi October 31 2011 345 651 15.20
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Note 11 Share Based Compensation

Versant accounts for share-based compensation costs in accordance with ASC 718 Compensation Stock Compensation The

Company utilizes the Black-Scholes option pricing model to estimate the fair value of employee stock option compensation at

the date of grant

Versant bases the expected term of its options on historical exercise data while considering other factors that could possibly

impact the future life of the options As of October 31 2011 the Company determined that the estimated expected life of an

employee share option granted under the Companys Equity Incentive Plan was 4.2 years The expected life for the options

granted under the Directors Plans to the board members who are not full time employees of Versant is 5.75 years Versant used

the simplified method allowed by SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin Nos 107 and 110 to arrive at this calculation Under the

simplified method the expected term is equal to vesting term plus original contractual term divided by two As of October 31

2011 Versant uses historical volatility as the best estimate of the future volatility of its common stock

Versant does not expect to realize any current tax benefits in fiscal year 2011 related to stock options or shares issued under its

ESPP Versant currently provides full valuation allowance for its domestic deferred tax assets and accordingly valuation

allowance is also provided for any tax effects of share based compensation expense

The fair values of each option granted and each share issued under the ESPP are estimated on the date of grant using the

Black-Scholes Option Pricing Model based on the following weighted average assumptions

Stock Options ESPP

Fiscal Year Ended October 31 Fiscal Year Ended October 31

2011 2010 2009 2011 2010 2009

Assumptions

Volatility 46% 53% 53% 65% 56% 73% 23% 31% 33% 42% 59% 65%

3.6 5.75 3.3 5.75 2.4 5.75 12 12 12

Expected life years years years months months months

Weighted average
risk-free interest 1.14% 1.43% .82% 0.10% 0.15% 0.29%

rate 1.95% 1.87% 2.58% 0.28% 0.35% 0.45%

Dividend yield

Share based compensation expense recognized in the consolidated statements of income related to the Companys stock option

plans and the ESPP for fiscal years 2011 2010 and 2009 was as follows in thousands

Fiscal Year Ended October 31

2011 2010 2009

Share based compensation expense

Stock options 932 1022 933

ESPP 57 45 37

Total 989 1067 970

Share based compensation recognized in the consolidated statements of income by income statement caption was as follows

in thousands

Fiscal Year Ended October 31

2011 2010 2009

Share based compensation expense

Cost of revenues 64 76 59

Sales and marketing 255 224 137

Research and development 207 232 218

General and administrative 463 535 556

Total 989 1067 970
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Note 11 Share Based Compensation Continued

The following table summarizes significant ranges of outstanding and exercisable options as of October 31 2011

As of October 31 2011

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable

Number of Weighted Weighted Number of Weighted Weighted

Options average average Options average average
in remaining exercise in remaining exercise

thousands life in years price thousands life in years price

Exercise Prices

From $3.00-$11.12 107 4.39 8.69 107 4.39 8.69

From $11.13-$11.81 134 8.33 11.81 48 7.03 11.81

From$11.82-$15.06 135 6.62 13.26 113 6.18 13.19

From $15.07 $18.80 145 6.74 18.42 108 6.28 18.33

From $18.81 $30.50 130 5.03 22.50 130 5.03 22.50

651 6.32 15.20 506 5.61 15.59

Options expected to vest as of

October31 2011 638

Aggregate intrinsic value of

options in thousands 327 327

Aggregate intrinsic value of

shares expected to vest in
thousands 327

The aggregate intrinsic value of stock options outstanding and exercisable and vested or expected to vest at October 31 2011

was based on the closing price of our common stock on October 31 2011 of $11.75 per share

The summary of the status of Versants nonvested shares as of October 31 2011 and changes during the fiscal
year ended

October 31 2011 is as follows

Weighted average
Shares

grant date
in thousands fair value

Nonvested shares

Nonvested shares as of October 31 2010 167 6.81

Granted 177 4.73

Vested 163 5.60

Forfeited 16 5.25

Nonvested shares as of October31 2011 165 5.47

Additional information related to the fair value of Versants stock options as of October 31 2011 2010 and 2009 is as follows

in thousands except for per share amounts

Fiscal Year Ended October 31

2011 2010 2009

Weighted average grant date fair value of options granted per share 4.73 7.23 5.52

Total value of options granted 837 1183 844

Total fair value of shares vested 913 1030 898

Total intrinsic value of options exercised 63 89
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Note 11 Share Based Compensation Continued

The total unrecognized compensation costs related to nonvested options were $813000 at October 31 2011 and will be

recognized over weighted average period of approximately 1.5 years Future stock option grants and the intrinsic value of

ESPP shares will increase the unrecognized compensation whereas quarterly amortization and the vesting of the existing stock

option grants will reduce it

Note 12 Restructuring

In the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2009 the Company committed to the implementation of restructuring plan pursuant to

which it closed its research and development facility in Pune India and is winding down the affairs of its subsidiary Versant

India Private Limited Versant India The restructuring plan was undertaken to consolidate the Companys research and

development efforts into one location in Germany in order to streamline operations create management efficiencies and

increase productivity Since the plan was undertaken Versant has incurred restructuring costs of $203000 as of October 31

2011 The restructuring was substantially completed during the second quarter ended April 30 2010

The following table reflects the type and amount of these restructuring charges accrual reversal included in operating

expenses for fiscal
years 2011 2010 and 2009 in thousands

Fiscal Year Ended October 31

2011 2010 2009

Restructuring

Severance retention and related charges 38 32

Impairment of fixed assets 20 61

Impairment to other assets 29 42

Contract termination costs

Other direct costs of closure 20

25 39 139

The following table reflects the restructuring charges included in accrued liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets in

thousands

Restructuring accrual balance as of October 31 2009 32

Payment of employee termination costs 32

Restructuring accrual balance as of October 31 2010

No payments or accruals

Restructuring accrual balance as of October 31 2011

Note 13 Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes pursuant to the provisions of ASC 740 Income Taxes which requires an asset and

liability approach to accounting for income taxes Deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on the difference

between the financial statement carrying amounts and the tax basis of assets and liabilities and are measured using the enacted

statutory tax rates in effect at the balance sheet date The Company records valuation allowance to reduce its deferred tax

assets when uncertainty exists regarding the realizability of the deferred tax assets

Income before provision for income tax expense benefit consisted of the following in thousands

Fiscal Year Ended October 31

2011 2010 2009

Region

UnitedStates $1973 $1261 $1015

International 2957 3382 5292

984 2121 4277
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Note 13 Income Taxes Continued

The provision for income tax expense benefit consisted of the following in thousands

Current

Federal

State

Foreign

Foreign withholding

Total current

Deferred

Federal

State

Foreign

Total deferred

Total provision for income tax expense benefit

24 23

242 395 300

64 68 54

282 467 377

________
939

939

282 467 562

344

89
2318

161

2405

101

282

742

32

2560

886

1361

467

89

562

As of October 31

2011 2010

Deferred tax assets

Net operating loss carry forwards 30116

Tax credit carry
forwards 1930

Other
___________

32499

Valuation allowance 31601

Net deferred tax asset 898

104

Fiscal Year Ended October 31

2011 2010 2009

The provision for income taxes in Germany included approximately $212000 and $395000 for fiscal year 2011 and fiscal year

2010 respectively attributable to taxable income related to our German operations that were in excess of the allowable

utilization of the tax loss carry forwards and therefore subject to corporate taxes The provision for income taxes in Germany

also included approximately $30000 related to uncertain tax positions

The provision for income tax expense benefit differs from the amount estimated by applying the statutory federal income tax

rate 35%to income before taxes as follows in thousands

Fiscal Year Ended October 31

2011 2010 2009

Federal tax at statutory rate 1497

State tax at statutory rate net of federal benefit 138

Change in valuation allowance 711

Foreign tax differential 1299

Foreign tax dividend

Decrease in net operating loss carry forwards

Other

The components of the net deferred tax asset were as follows in thousands

32543

1880

394

34817

33933
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Note 13 Income Taxes Continued

At October 31 2011 the Company had federal and state net operating loss carry forwards of $61.5 million and $13.0 million

respectively and federal and state tax credit
carry forwards of $1.5 million and $664000 respectively The federal and state net

operating loss carry forwards expire on various dates through 2031 including $2.9 million of federal net operating loss
carry

forwards expiring in 2012 The federal tax credit carry forwards expire on various dates through 2024 The state tax credit can

be carried forward indefinitely Additionally at October 31 2011 the Company had German net operating tax loss carry

forwards of approximately $24.2 million The German tax code provides for certain annual statutory limitations related to the

use of tax loss carry forward amounts For each taxable year the Company may utilize German tax loss carry forwards fully up

to the first million euros of taxable income and thereafter the tax loss
carry forwards are limited to 60% of taxable income

Ultimately the realization of the deferred tax assets is dependent upon the Companys generation of sufficient future taxable

income to enable it to use net operating loss and tax credit cany forwards during those periods in which such
carry

forwards

can be utilized by the Company

In evaluating Versants ability to utilize its deferred tax assets management of the Company considers all available positive and

negative evidence including past operating results in the most recent fiscal years and an assessment of expected future results

of operations on jurisdiction by jurisdiction basis As of October 31 2011 the Company had valuation allowance of

approximately $31.6 million recorded against the Companys net deferred tax assets in the U.S and foreign jurisdictions

The Company has experienced substantial past tax losses in its U.S operations Due to the lack of forecasted future taxable

income and the relative size of the Companys Federal and California net operating loss
carry forwards considerable

uncertainty exists that the Company will realize these deferred tax assets Based on this objective evidence full valuation

allowance has been recorded against the Companys deferred tax assets related to its U.S operations

The Company has also experienced substantial past tax losses in its European operations In its most recent fiscal years the

Company has generated taxable income and begun to utilize its deferred tax assets related to its German net operating loss

carry forwards Management of the Company has forecasted taxable income for its European operations for fiscal year 2012
The global economic downturn has negatively impacted the Companys operating results in all regions The Company has

experienced declining revenues as economic conditions have remained difficult Given the uncertainty of the macroeconomic

environment future revenues and operating results are difficult to forecast Therefore management has concluded it is more

likely than not that the Company will realize the benefit of its deferred tax assets related to its German net operating loss
carry

forwards only to the extent of its expected taxable income in fiscal year 2012

Significant management judgment is required to determine when in the future it will become more likely than not that

additional net deferred tax assets will be realized Management will continue to assess the realizability of the tax benefit

available based on actual and forecasted operating results Management does not anticipate significant changes to its uncertain

tax positions through October 31 2012

Due to change in ownership provisions of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 the availability of net operating loss and tax

credit carry forwards to offset federal taxable income in future periods is subject to an annual limitation In addition the State

of California has in certain cases suspended the ability to utilize net operating loss carry forwards in the current and certain

past tax years and could do so again in the future

portion of deferred tax assets relating to net operating losses pertains to net operating loss carry forwards resulting from tax

deductions upon the exercise of employee stock options of approximately $1.6 million When recognized the tax benefit of

these loss
carry forwards will be accounted for as credit to additional paid-in capital rather than reduction of income tax

expense

The Company adopted the provisions of ASC 740 Income Taxes related to uncertain tax positions on November 2007

reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of unrecognized tax benefits is as follows in thousands

Balance as of October 31 2010 1629

Additions for current year tax positions 124

Additions for prior years tax positions

Reductions for prior years tax positions 94
Balance as of October 31 2011 1659

If recognized $1.4 million of these unrecognized tax benefits would affect the effective tax rate
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Note 13 Income Taxes Continued

The Company is subject to U.S federal income taxes and to income taxes in various states in the U.S as well as in foreign

jurisdictions Tax regulations within each jurisdiction are subject to the interpretation of the related tax laws and regulations and

require significant judgment to apply With few exceptions the Company is no longer subject to U.S federal state and local or

foreign tax examinations by tax authorities for tax years before 2006 However with respect to prior tax years no longer subject

to examination due to expiration of the statute of limitations income may nevertheless be recomputed for the purpose of

determining the amount of NOL that may be carried over to open years

Note 14 Selected Quarterly Information unaudited

Summarized quarterly supplemental consolidated financial information for fiscal years 2011 and 2010 is as follows in

thousands except per share amounts

Fiscal Year 2011 Quarters Ended Fiscal Year 2010 Quarters Ended

October 31 July 31 April 30 January 31 October 31 July 31 April 30 January 31

Revenues $3979 $4204 $3512 $4577 $4372 $3424 $3515 $4455

Costofrevenues 460 502 505 535 521 495 539 558

Gross profit 3519 3702 3007 4042 3851 2929 2976 3897

Operatingexpenses 3078 3207 3562 3477 2927 2733 2826 3196

Income loss from operations 441 495 555 565 924 196 150 701

Net income loss 304 474 537 461 921 130 98 505

Net income loss per share

Basic 0.10 0.16 $0.17 0.14 0.28 0.04 0.03 0.14

Diluted 0.10 0.16 $0.17 0.14 0.28 0.04 0.03 0.14
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Item Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

Not applicable

Item 9A Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management with the participation of our ChiefExecutive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer evaluated the

effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as defined in Rules 3a- 15e and 5d 15e under the Securities

Exchange Act of 1934 as amended or the Exchange Act as of October 31 2011 the end of the fiscal period covered by this

report on Form 10-K

Based on the evaluation of the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures by our management with the

participation of our ChiefExecutive Officer and Chief Financial Officer as of October 31 2011 the end of the period covered

by this report our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that our disclosure controls and

procedures were effective to provide reasonable assurance that information required to be disclosed in the reports
that the

Company files or submits under the Exchange Act is recorded processed summarized and reported within the time periods

specified in the Commissions rules and forms and ii is accumulated and communicated to the Companys management

including its principal executive and principal financial officers or persons performing similar functions as appropriate to

allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure

Managements Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting as defined in

Rules 13a-15f and 15d-15f under the Exchange Act

Management assessed the effectiveness of Versants internal control over financial reporting as of October 31 2011 the end of

the period covered by this report In making its evaluation of the effectiveness of Versants internal control over financial

reporting management used the criteria set forth in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of

Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission COSO

Based on its assessment of internal control over financial reporting and the above criteria Versants management has concluded

that as of October 31 2011 Versants internal control over financial reporting was effective to provide reasonable assurance

regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes

in accordance

with generally accepted accounting principles

Because of its inherent limitations internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements due to

human error or the improper circumvention or overriding of internal controls In addition projections of any evaluation of the

effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become

inadequate because of changes in conditions and that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may change

adversely over time

This annual report does not include an attestation report by the Companys independent registered public accounting firm

regarding the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting Managements report was not subject to attestation by

the Companys independent registered public accounting firm pursuant to rules of the Securities Exchange Commission that

permit the Company to provide only managements report in this annual report

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There was no change in our internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the fourth quarter of the fiscal year

ended October 31 2011 that has materially affected or is reasonably likely to materially affect our internal control over

financial reporting

Item 9B Other Information

None
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PART III

Item 10 Directors Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

Directors of the Company

The following table sets forth certain information concerning the members of the Board of Directors

Versant Board

Name of Director Age Principal Occupation Member Since

Bernhard Woebker 62 President Chief Executive Officer of Versant 2005

Uday Bellary 57 ChiefFinancial Officer of Greenvolts Inc 2003

President Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of

Anthony Bettencourt 51 the Board of Coverity Inc January 2012

President ChiefExecutive Officer of Brammer
Robert Brammer 65 Technology LLC November 28 2011

William Henry Delevati 63 Chairman of the Board of Versant 1999

Herbert May 62 Consultant 2004

Bernhard Woebker is Versants President and Chief Executive Officer and member of Versants Board of Directors and the

Managing Director of the Companys subsidiary Versant GmbH He has served as director of the Company since June 2005

and was previously director of the Company from June 1999 until the Companys merger with Poet Holdings Inc in

March 2004 Mr Woebker has been consultant to various investment banking and venture capital firms in Europe and the

United States since late 1999 From January 1999 until July 2001 he served as Executive Vice President of the Company and

from March 1997 until January 1999 he served as the Companys Vice President and General Manager in Europe From 1994 to

March 1997 he was the President of Versant Object Technology GmbH an independently-owned distributorship for Versant

products in Europe which was acquired by Versant in March 1997 From 1976 until 1994 Mr Woebker held variety of

positions in Germany and the United States with Nixdorf Computer AG Nixdorf Computer Engineering Corp and Siemens

Nixdorf Informationssysteme AG all information technology companies including the position of President and CEO of

NixdorfComputer Engineering Corp in Boston Massachusetts from 1986 to 1989 Mr Woebker has also served as Senior

Vice President of Pyramid Technology Corp in Europe and as Vice President of NeXT Computer Inc in Europe From March

2010 to September 2010 Mr Woebker served on the board of directors of Intershop Communications AG publicly held

German company listed in Germany that provides software solutions for ecommerce applications Mr Woebker received

Masters of Science degree in Mathematics and Computer Science from the University of Hannover

Uday Bellary has served as director of Versant since July 2003 From February 2010 to the present Mr Bellary has served as

the Chief Financial Officer of GreenVolts Inc privately held company that develops and commercializes concentrating

photovoltaic CPV technology for solar energy applications From May 2007 to December 2009 Mr Bellary served as

President ChiefExecutive Officer and Chief Financial Officer of Wortal Inc and currently serves as member of its Board of

Directors and its Secretary Wortal Inc is privately-held company that provided consumers with value-added information on

consumer and community-related topics such as entertainment services local activities home needs and work-related matters

through community-oriented portals accessible from the Internet and mobile platforms Wortal sold its intellectual property

assets to corporate acquiror in December 2011 and thereupon ceased active business operations He also previously served as

the Chief Financial Officer of Atrica Inc privately held optical Ethernet company on full-time basis from November 2005

to January 2008 when Atrica was sold to Nokia Siemens Networks and on part-time basis between April 2005 and

October 2005 Mr Bellary also served as part time Executive Vice President Finance Administration and Operations and

Chief Financial Officer of VL Inc privately held VoIP services company and as member of its board of directors from

September 2003 to November 2005 and remained an advisor until 2007 From February 2000 to August 2003 he served as the

Senior Vice President Finance Administration and Chief Financial Officer of Metro Optix Inc privately held provider of

optical networking equipment which to satisfy its liabilities disposed of its intellectual property and other assets to Xtera

Communications and ceased operations in August of 2003 Since July 2004 Mr Bellary has also been member of the board of

directors of Backweb Technologies Ltd publicly held provider of software that enables mobile workers to access web-based

applications that is no longer reporting company under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 Mr Bellary received B.S

degree in Finance Accounting and Economics from Karnatak University and DMA degree in Finance from the University of

Bombay India Mr Bellary is Certified Public Accountant and Chartered Accountant
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Anthony Bettencourt joined the Board of Directors on January 2012 From November 2010 to the present Mr Bettencourt

has served as the President Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board of Coverity Inc privately held company that

develops and markets development testing solutions that assist software developers in detecting and fixing quality and security

problems Prior to joining Coverity in 2010 Mr Bettencourt served as the Chief Executive Officer of Verity Inc leader in

enterprise search and led the company through its acquisition by Autonomy Corporation plc in 2005 After Veritys acquisition

by Autonomy Mr Bettencourt served as Senior Vice President of Special Projects at Autonomy from 2006 to 2009 during

which time he also served successively as CEO of several Autonomy subsidiaries Mr Bettencourt currently serves as the non-

executive chairman of the board of directors of Blinkx Inc an Internet video search engine company whose stock trades on

the AIM market of the London Stock Exchange and also serves on the board of directors of several privately held companies

Mr Bettencourt holds B.A in English from Santa Clara University

Robert Brammer joined the Board of Directors on November 28 2011 He is the President and CEO of Brammer Technology

LLC consulting firm From July 2004 to July 2011 Dr Brammer was employed by Northrop Grumman Information

Systems division of Northrop Grumman Corporation that provides advanced information enterprise solutions to government

and civilian customers where he most recently served as Vice-President for Advanced Technology and CTO Previous to that

Dr Brammer was Vice President and Chief Technology Officer at TASC Inc privately held company formerly subsidiary

of Northrop Grumman that provides advanced systems engineering integration and decision-support services to agencies of

the federal government Dr Brammer received Ph.D in Mathematics from the University of Maryland College Park and

B.S in Mathematics from the University of Michigan

William Henry Delevati has been the Chairman of the Board since June 2005 and has served as director of the Company
since October 1999 Mr Delevati has also served as consultant to various companies located in the Silicon Valley area since

April 2000 From October 1999 to April 2000 Mr Delevati served as the Senior Vice President Information Technology and

Chief Information Officer of Aspect Communications Corporation provider of customer call center solutions From

November 1995 to April 1999 he served as Vice President of Worldwide Information Services for Quantum Corporation

storage device company From April 1995 to November 1995 he was the Chief Information Officer Senior Vice President of

MIS for Conner Peripherals storage device company From September 1994 to April 1995 he was the Chief Information

Officer Vice President of Worldwide MIS for Borland Corporation software tools company From September 1993 to

September 1994 he was the Chief Information Officer Vice President of Worldwide MIS for Logitech computer peripheral

device company From December 1987 to September 1993 he was the Director of Application Development and Global

Information Resources for Sun Microsystems Inc Mr Delevati received Bachelor of Science degree in Computer Science

from UC Berkeley and an MBA from Arizona State University

Dr Herbert May has served as director of the Company since March 2004 From November 2000 to March 2004 he served

as Chairman of the board of directors of Poet Holdings Inc company that merged with Versant in March 2004 In addition

Dr May served as member of both the Audit and Compensation Committees of Poet Holdings Inc Dr May has held several

leading positions at Alcatel in both Stuttgart and Paris His last position at Alcatel was Head of the Office of Communication

Division From February 1994 to September 1995 Dr May took leading role as CEO in establishing DeTeSystems German

wholly owned subsidiary of Deutsche Telekom AG that provides system solutions for telecommunications services to

significant accounts in Germany In 1995 he was appointed to the Board of Management of Deutsche Telekom AG where he

was responsible for large business customers multimedia and systems solutions until May 1998 Currently Dr May manages

his own consulting and investment company and is member of the advisory boards of several IT and multimedia companies

From June 2000 to December 2008 he served on the board of directors of Info Vista S.A publicly held French company that

provides software products that monitor and analyze the performance of telecommunications and IT infrastructures Since

October 2010 Dr May has also served as chairman of the Supervisory Board of Intershop Communications AG publicly held

German company listed in Germany that provides software solutions for ecommerce applications

Board Leadership Structure

Versants Board of Directors is currently composed of six directors five Outside Directors and Bernhard Woebker the

Companys President and ChiefExecutive Officer William Henry Delevati an Outside Director serves as Chairman of the

Board of Directors In addition the Chairman of each Versant Board Committee having chair is also an Outside Director and

different Outside Directors currently serve as chairmen of the Audit Compensation and Nominating Committees of the Board

Mr Woebker does not serve on the Audit or Compensation Committees of the Board nor does he chair any Board Committee

The Board believes that the existing leadership structure of the Board and its Committees is appropriate based on the size of the

Board and the Companys current circumstances The Board takes an active role in its oversight function and periodically holds

executive sessions of Board and Board committee meetings to enable and encourage candid discussions of issues The Board

administers its oversight function in part by having key authority roles on various Board committees held by different Outside

Directors and the Board believes that this shared leadership practice encourages greater interest and participation in risk

oversight by all members of the Board

109



Audit Committee of the Board of Directors Versants Board of Directors maintains standing Audit Committee of the

Board Messrs Bellary Delevati and May are the current members of the Audit Committee Messrs Bellary Delevati and May
served as such throughout fiscal 2011 and Mr Woebker who joined the committee in May 2010 resigned from the committee

when he became CEO of the Company Mr Bellary serves as the Chairman of the Audit Committee and was appointed to that

position in July 2003 The Board has determined that Mr Bellary is the audit committee financial expert as defined by the

rules of the United States Securities and Exchange Commission the SEC and is independent as independence for audit

committee members is defined in the listing standards for the Nasdaq Stock Market The principal responsibilities of the Audit

Committee are as follows

to monitor the periodic reviews of the adequacy of the accounting and financial reporting processes and systems of

internal control that are conducted by the Companys independent auditors and the Companys financial and senior

management
to facilitate communication among the Companys independent registered public accounting firm the Companys
financial and senior management and the Board

to oversee the Companys accounting and financial reporting processes and the audit of the Companys financial

statements and

to oversee the Companys relationship with its independent registered public accounting firm and review and evaluate

that accounting firms independence and performance

The Board has adopted written charter for the Audit Committee The Audit Committees charter is available on the Investor

Relations section of our website at www.versant.com/enUS/aboutus/investorrelations Each current member of the Audit

Committee meets the independence and other requirements to serve on our Audit Committee under applicable securities laws

and the rules of the SEC and listing standards of The NASDAQ Stock Market

Named Executive Officers

SEC regulations define Named Executive Officers of the Company as the individuals who served as the Companys Chief

Executive Officer during fiscal 2011 ii the Companys two most highly compensated executive officers other than the Chief

Executive Officer who were serving as executive officers at the end of fiscal 2011 if any and iiiup to two other persons who

would have come within the description of other highly compensated officers in clause ii but for the fact that they were not

serving as an executive officer of the Company at the end of fiscal 2011 if any

Mr Woebker and Mr Wong currently serve as Versants President and Chief Executive Officer and Versants Vice President

Finance ChiefFinancial Officer and Secretary respectively and Mr Wittes employment with Versant terminated effective as

of March 10 2011 they are together referred to in this Proxy Statement as the Named Executive Officers Versant has no

other executive officers as of the date of this Proxy Statement and except for Messrs Woebker Witte and Wong had no other

executive officers during fiscal 2011

Mr Woebker and Mr Wong currently serve in the positions indicated for them in the following table Biographical information

for Mr Woebker is found in Part III Item 10 of this report Directors Executive Officers and Corporate Governance under

the heading Directors of the Company and biographical information for Messrs Witte and Wong is set forth immediately

below the following table

Name of Officer Title

Bernhard Woebker 62 President and ChiefExecutive Officer

Jochen Witte 51 Former President and Chief Executive Officer

Vice President Finance Chief Financial Officer

Jerry Wong 60 and Secretary

Jery Wong has been Versants Vice President Finance and Chief Financial Officer and Secretary since June 2006 Prior to his

appointment to these positions with Versant from March 2003 to December 2005 Mr Wong served as Chief Financial Officer

and consultant for Companion Worlds Inc privately held company that provided technology enabling instructional content

for mobile digital devices From March 2004 to June 2006 Mr Wong also served as financial consultant for Vega Vista Inc

privately held company developing solutions for accessing and interacting with rich content on small displays such as those on

handheld devices From January 2000 to November 2008 Mr Wong served as an independent trustee for Firsthand Mutual

Funds and also served for four years as chairperson of the Firsthand Mutual Funds audit committee From 1995 to

October 2002 Mr Wong was Vice President of Finance for Poet Software Corporation and Poet Holdings Inc and from 2000

to October 2002 he was Executive Vice President of U.S operations for Poet Software Corporation an affiliate of Poet
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Holdings Inc Poet Holdings Inc was provider of object-oriented database and e-catalog solutions that merged with Versant
in March 2004 Mr Wong holds B.S degree in Business Administration from the University of San Francisco

Jochen Witte served as Versants President and Chief Executive Officer from June 2005 until March 10 2011 and as member
of Versants Board of Directors from March 2004 until November 28 2011 Mr Witte served as the Companys Chief Financial
Officer and Secretary from June 2005 to June 2006 From March 2004 to June 2005 he served as President European
Operations of Versant Prior to joining Versant Mr Witte was CEO of Poet Holdings Inc company that merged with Versant
in 2004 and which he co-founded in 1993 He initially worked as Poets Managing Director of Germany and became Poets
Chief Financial Officer in 1999 when Poet went public Mr Witte received degree in Business Administration from the Berlin
Technical University and also attended the University of Wales as an exchange student

Shareholder Communications to the Board of Directors

Shareholders of the Company may communicate with the Companys Board of Directors or any individual director through the

Companys Secretary by sending an email to directors@versant.com or by writing to the following address

Versant Corporation

Attention Board of Directors do Secretary

255 Shoreline Drive Suite 450

Redwood City CA 94065 USA

The Companys Secretary will forward the correspondence to the Board or any indicated individual director except for spam
junk mail mass mailings product complaints or inquiries job inquiries surveys business solicitations or advertisements or

patently offensive or otherwise inappropriate material The Companys Secretary may forward certain correspondence such as

product-related inquiries to the appropriate destinations within the Company for review and possible response

Code of Conduct and Ethics

The Board has adopted Code of Conduct and Ethics that applies to the Companys Board of Directors principal executive

officer principal financial officer principal accounting officer and all other employees of the Company The Code of Conduct
and Ethics is intended to provide our employees officers and directors with an understanding of how Versant does business
The Code of Conduct and Ethics is posted on the Investor Relations section of our website at http//www.versant.comlpdf/

vsnt_code_of_conduct_rev2008.pcif The Company intends to satisf the disclosure requirement under Item 5.05 of Form 8-K

regarding any amendment to or waiver from provision of this Code of Conduct and Ethics by posting such information on
our website at http //www.versant.coniJcompany/Investor Relations .aspx

Sectionl6a Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance

Section 16 of the Exchange Act requires Versants directors and officers and persons who own more than 10% of registered
class of Versants equity securities to file initial reports of ownership and reports of changes in ownership with the SEC Such
persons are required by SEC regulations to furnish Versant with copies of all Section 16a forms they file Based solely on the
review of the copies of such forms furnished to Versant and written

representations from the executive officers and directors of
the Company Versant believes that all Section 16a filing requirements were met during fiscal 2011 with the exception of
Form for Mr Woebker filed on June 2011 reporting the purchase of 1100 shares of common stock purchased on June
2011 and 2900 shares of common stock purchased on June 2011
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Item 11 Executive Compensation

Compensation of Directors

The following table sets forth compensation earned by the Companys Outside Directors during fiscal year 2011

Summary Compensation Table Directors

Fees Earned or Option

Name Paid in Cash Awards Total

Bernhard Woebker6 8967 28104 37071

UdayBellary 25000 30021 55021

Anthony Bettencourt2

Robert Brammer

William Henry Delevati 25000 30021 55021

Herbert May 25000 30021 55021

Jochen Witte56 12592 12592

Mr Woebker served as an outside director until March 10 2011 when he became CEO of the Company These fees

represent the compensation he received as an outside director The share-based compensation expense relates to those

option awards granted from the 2005 Directors Stock Option Plan he received as an outside director As stated in note

below Mr Woebkers compensation for his services in the capacity as an employee are set forth elsewhere in this Item 11

Mr Bettencourt joined the Board of Directors in January 2012 and received no compensation in fiscal 2011

Mr Brammer joined the Board of Directors in November 2011 and received no compensation in fiscal 2011

AmOunts reflect the share-based compensation expense recognized in fiscal 2011 by the Company for financial statement

reporting purposes For discussion of valuation assumptions see Note to the consolidated financial statements included

in Item of this
report

under the heading Share Based Compensation

Jochen Witte served as an outside director from March 10 2011 when he resigned as CEO until November 282011
during which time he received directors fees As stated in note below Mr Wittes compensation for his services in the

capacity as an employee are set forth elsewhere in this Item 11 Mr Witte was granted no option awards under the 2005

Directors Stock Option Plan

Compensation for Messrs Woebker and Witte the Directors who also served as Executive Officers is also included in the

Summary of Compensation Executive Officers table under the heading Executive Compensation in this Item

Our directors who are not employees of Versant or any of its parents subsidiaries or affiliates Outside Directors receive

combination of stock options and cash compensation for serving on our Board Any director who is also Company employee

does not receive board fees or equity for his Board service In fiscal 2011 Mr Woebker served as an Outside Director until

Maich 2011 when he became CEO of the Company Mr Woebker received cash compensation for his services as an Outside

Director through March 2011 Mr Witte served as the Companys CEO until March 2011 when he resigned from that position

Mr Witte remained on the Board of Directors until November 28 2b1 and received cash compensation for his services as

director from March 2011 through November 2011 but was not granted any stock options under the 2005 Directors Stock

Option Plan

Cash Compensation In fiscal 2011 Versant paid its Outside Directors cash compensation for their services as directors at

rate of $25000 per year The amount of compensation paid by Versant to its Outside Directors is determined by Versants

Board or committee of the Board authorized to make such determination

Equity Compensation Outside Directors have previously been granted stock options under Versants 1996 Directors Stock

Option Plan the 1996 Directors Plan and since August 2005 have received stock options under Versants 2005 Directors

Stock Option Plan the 2005 Directors Plan which replaced the 1996 Directors Plan as of August 22 2005 The purpose of

the 2005 Directors Plan is to align the Outside Directors interests with the interests of the Companys shareholders and to

provide Outside Directors an opportunity to purchase shares of Versant Common Stock

Under the terms of the 2005 Directors Plan each Outside Director who first becomes member of the Board after August 22

2005 receives an option to purchase 4000 shares of Versant Common Stock upon initially joining the Board an Initial
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Grant and ii so long as he or she continues to serve on the Board as an Outside Director on each successive August 22

thereafter each such August 22 Succeeding Grant Date he or she will receive an additional option to purchase 4000
shares of Versant Common Stock Succeeding Grant except that if such Outside Director has not been member of the

Board for the entire
one-year period immediately preceding such Succeeding Grant Date then the number of shares subject to

the Succeeding Grant received by the Outside Director on that Succeeding Grant Date are reduced and prorated in proportion to

the time during which such Outside Director served on the Board during such one-year period

The following stock option grants have been made under the 2005 Directors Plan

Number of Shares Grant Date Exercise

Granted to Outside Fair Value Price

Directors as Group per share per share

Date of Grants

August 22 2005 3784 2.86 4.10

August 22 2006 8000 5.23 6.13

August 22 2007 15716 18.11 22.00

August 22 2008 16000 22.19 30.50

August 22 2009 16000 9.73 15.06

August 22 2010 16000 6.19 10.58

August 22 20114 12000 5.01 10.20

______________________________________________________________
75500

Except as noted in footnotes and below the number of options granted to each Outside Director was equal in each year indicated

in the table The Outside Directors group includes Uday Bellaty William Delevati Herbert May and until March 2011 Bernhard

Woebker Jochen Witte received no option grants in his role as Director

In 2005 immediately after the shareholder approval of the 2005 Directors Plan each Outside Director was granted Succeeding
Grant which was prorated to account for any grant made to the Outside Director in the preceding twelve months Each Outside

Director received grant ranging from 131 to 1671 shares on August 22 2005

In 2007 the 2005 Directors Plan was amended to increase the Succeeding Grant from 2000 shares to 4000 shares Despite this

amendment the Succeeding Grants made on August 22 2007 were reduced to 3929 shares per Outside Director because there were

then insufficient shares available under the 2005 Directors Plan to enable such Succeeding Grant to be 4000 shares on that date so

the remaining available options were prorated among the Outside Directors

On August 22 2011 Bernhard Woebker was serving as CEO of the Company and did not receive succeeding grant

Options granted under the 2005 Directors Plan are immediately exercisable in full However the options granted under the 2005

Directors Plan are subject to vesting provisions pursuant to which 50% of the shares vest free of potential repurchase option

of the Company on each of the first two anniversaries of the date of grant of the option so long as the optionee continuously

remains member of the Board or consultant to the Company If an Outside Directors service with the Company as

director or consultant terminates then any shares purchased by such Outside Director under an option granted under the 2005

Directors Plan that are unvested on the termination date are subject to repurchase by the Company at the option exercise price

paid for such shares In the event of certain corporate transactions including certain change of control transactions involving

the Company the vesting of all unvested shares subject to options granted under the 2005 Directors Plan may be accelerated

The Outside Directors aggregate holdings of stock options at the end of fiscal
year

2011 were as follows

Name 12
Number of Shares

Uday Bellary 30060

William Henry Delevati 31100

Herbert May 25529

Bernhard Woebker was no longer an Outside Director as of March 10 2011 when he began to serve as CEO of the Company Mr
Woebkers aggregate holding of stock options is found in this item under the heading Executive Compensation

Jochen Wittes aggregate holding of stock options is found below in this item under the heading Executive Compensation
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Compensation of Executives

Role of the Compensation Committee and Processes

The Compensation Committee has the exclusive authority to establish the level of base salary payable to Versants executive

officers and also has the responsibility for approving the individual bonus programs for Versants Chief Executive Officer and

its other executive officers for each fiscal year and to determine at the end of the fiscal year the extent to which the bonus has

been earned The Compensation Committee also reviews and makes recommendations to the Companys Board of Directors to

ensure that other aspects of Versants compensation and benefit programs are consistent with Versants compensation

philosophy

Versants Chief Executive Officer has historically annually reviewed the performance of each of Versants other executive

officers The conclusions reached by the Chief Executive Officer and his recommendations based on these reviews including

his recommendations with respect to base salary target annual bonus levels and performance targets and target annual long-

term incentive option award values have typically been presented by the Chief Executive Officer to the Compensation

Committee which may modify or supplement any recommendation made by the Chief Executive Officer in its discretion and

the Compensation Committee has historically made adjustments and additions modifying the Chief Executive Officers

recommendations andlor adopted compensation terms devised by the Compensation Committee The Compensation Committee

makes all final compensation decisions for each of Versants Named Executive Officers as defined below Compensation

Committee meetings typically have included for all or portion of each meeting not only the Compensation Committee

members but also Versants ChiefExecutive Officer and Chief Financial Officer although these officers do not attend those

portions of the Compensation Committee meetings in which their personal compensation program is determined by the

Compensation Committee

The Compensation Committee has the authority to engage the services of outside advisors However historically including for

fiscal 2011 the Committee has not done so given the Companys size the small number of the Companys executive officers

the relative lack of complexity of the Companys compensation programs and the costs associated with retaining such an

advisor In fiscal 2011 management did not engage any compensation consultants to provide advice or recommendations on the

amount or form of executive and director compensation
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Executive Compensation

Provided in the tables and narrative below is certain information regarding compensation earned by our Named Executive Officers

for fiscal
years

2011 and 2010

Summary Compensation Table Executives

Non-Equity
Incentive Plan

Fiscal Option Compensation
All Other

Name and Principal Position Year Salary Awards
_______________

Compensation Total

Bernhard Woebker

Director 2010 25000 57534

Director 2011 8967 28104

2011 197597 81667 16000 8419 303683

206564 109771 16000 419 340754

Vice President Finance Secretary CFO 2010 190000 96968 78532

Vide President Finance Secretary CFO 2011 190 000 83 709 75 000

Jochen Witte 45
FormerPresident and CEO 2010 291034 141383 62798 12552 507767

FormerPresidentandCEO 2011 152922 120218 154285 318289 745714

Director 2011 12592 12592

Fiscal 2011 total-Mr Witte 2011 165514 120218 154285 318289 758

Amounts reflect the share-based compensation expense recognized by the Company for financial statement reporting purposes For

discussion of valuation assumptions see Note to the consolidated financial statements included in this report in Item under the

heading Share Based Compensation See the Plan Based Awards table below for information on fiscal 2011 stock option grants

Mr Woebkers salary was paid by Versant GmbH in euros and translated each month at the exchange rate used for inclusion in the

Companys financial statements For fiscal 2011 Mr Woebker was paid 138522 which translated to approximately $197597 at an

average exchange rate of 1.4265 dollars per euro

Mr Woebkers compensation for his service as Director prior to the date he become Versants Chief Executive Officer and President
is included in this table and also included in the Summary Compensation Table Directors under the heading Compensation of

Directors in this report in this Item 11

Mr Wittes salary was paid by Versant GmbH in euros and translated each month at the exchange rate used for inclusion in the

Companys financial statements For fiscal 2011 Mr Witte was paid 11130 which translated to approximately $152922 at an average
exchange rate of 1.3761 dollars per euro For fiscal 2010 Mr Witte was paid 216000 which translated to approximately $291034 at an

average exchange rate of 1.3474 dollars per euro

Mr Wittes compensation for his service as Director is included in this table and also included in the Summary Compensation Table

Directors under the heading Compensation of Directors in this report in this Item 11

Incentive compensation for fiscal 2010 was payable in the first quarter following the fiscal year in which it was earned

All Other Compensation includes amounts paid by the Company for life insurance premiums and auto lease payments

Incentive compensation payable in the first quarter following the fiscal quarter or fiscal year in which it is earned

On March 10 2011 Versant Corporation and Jochen Witte the Companys then President and Chief Executive Officer agreed to Mr
Wittes resignation and entered into separation agreement Under this separation agreement Mr Witte continued to serve as apart-

time employee at salary of 9000 per month and assisted in transitioning his responsibilities until June 30 2011 when Mr Wittes

employment terminated

The terms of Mr Wittes separation agreement provided that in exchange for general release of claims he received the following

severance payment consisting of 216000 equivalent to approximately $309658 and reflected in All Other Compensation above

plus bonus of approximately 65768 equivalent to approximately $94285 and reflected in Non-Equity Incentive Plan

Compensation above

The terms of Mr Wittes separation agreement also provided that the vesting of Mr Wittes Versant stock options was accelerated by

12 months of vesting and his then outstanding vested Versant stock options will continue to be exercisable until March 31 2012 The

additional share-based compensation expense recognized by the Company as result of these stock option modifications is included in

Option Awards above

President and Chief Executive Officer

Fiscal 2011 total Mr Woebker

Jerry Wong

82534

37071

365500

348709
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Mr Woebker Mr Woebker who is based in Germany and whose base salary is paid in Euros had an annual base salary in

fiscal 2011 of 216000 per year He was also eligible for discretionary bonuses to be determined by the Compensation

Committee of the Board ofDirectors

Mr Wong Mr Wongs annual base salary rate for fiscal 2010 and fiscal 2011 was $190000 Mr Wongs fiscal 2011 bonus

program had the following principal terms bonus based on Fiscal 2011 Income from Operations equal to ten percent

10%of that portion of the Companys 2011 Income from Operations that exceeded target level of 2011 Income from

Operations which he did not earn and discretionary bonus of up to $60000 by achieving certain operational objectives in

Fiscal 2011 as determined by Versants Chief Executive Officer under which he earned $60000 In addition Mr Wong

received discretionary bonus from the Board of Directors of $15000

For his fiscal 2010 bonus program Mr Wong was entitled to receive cash bonuses based on two separate components

bonus based on the amount of the Companys Income from Operations for fiscal 2010 under which he earned $8532 and

bonus based on achievement by Mr Wong of certain operational objectives determined by Versants ChiefExecutive Officer

under which he earned $70000

Mr lle In September 2009 the Compensation Committee approved an employment agreement for Mr Witte who was

based in Germany and whose base salary was paid in EurOs which continued his base salary at the annual rate of 216000 For

fiscal 2011 and 2010 Mr Wittes annual base salary rate was 216000

On March 10 2011 the Company and Jochen Witte the Companys former President and Chief Executive Officer and the

managing director of its Versant GmbH subsidiary agreed to Mr Wittes resignation from these positions and entered into

separation agreement Under this separation agreement Mr Witte continued to serve as part4ime employee at salary of

9000 per month to assist in transitioning his responsibilities until June 30 2011 when Mr Wittes employment terminated

Mr Witte continued to serve on Versants Board of Directors until November 28 2011 The terms of Mr Wittes separation

payment provided that upon his termination in exchange for general release of claims he received the following separation

benefits severance payment consisting of 216000 equivalent to approximately $309658 plus bOnus of approximately

65768 equivalent to approximately $94285 ii the vesting of Mr Wittes Versant stock options were accelerated by 12

months of vesting and iiihis outstanding vested Versant stock options will continue to be exercisable until March 31 2012

Pursuant to the separation agreement Versant also repurchased approximately 62545 shares of Versant common stock owned

by Mr Witte including 15120 shares owned by his spouse at price of $13.50 per share which price reflected recent market

trading prices of Versants common stock as of the date of the separation agreement

For fiscal 2010 Mr Wittes bonus program entitled him to earn cash bonuses based on three separate components bonus

based on the amount of the Companys Income from Operations for fiscal 2010 under which he earned $12798 bonus

based on the Companys revenues for fiscal year 2010 which he did not earn and discretionary bonus of $50000 based

on strategic progress
in Versants business as determined in the discretion cf the Compensation Committee

Employment Contracts Termination of Employment and Change-in-Control Arrangements

ChiefExecutive Officers Employment Arrangements Mr Woebker does not have an employment agreement with the

Company

Chief Financial Officers Employment Arrangements On September 2009 Versant entered into Retention Incentive

Agreement with Mr Wong which provides him with severance benefits upon his termination of employment following certain

change of control transactions involving the Company The agreement provides that if Mr Wongs employment is terminated

without cause or is terminated by him for good reason within 12 months of change of control transaction involving the

Company then the vesting of Mr Wongs then outstanding unvested stock options or other unvested equity awards of the

Company may be accelerated for up to maximum of 36 months of vesting with the extent of vesting based on Mr Wongs

tenure with the Company and iiMr Wong would be entitled to be paid cash severance in an amount not to exceed 50% of his

annual target compensation with the actual amount payable determined in part on Mr Wongs tenure with the Company in

each case subject to Mr Wong signing release
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Grants of Plan-Based Awards Fiscal Year 2011

The following table shows all plan-based awards granted to our Named Executive Officers during fiscal year 2011 Certain of

the stock option awards shown in this table those granted in fiscal year 2011 are also reported in the Outstanding Equity

Awards at Fiscal Year End table below

Option Option

Awards Awards Grant Date

Number of Number of Fair Value of

Underlying Underlying Stock and

Options Options Option Awards

Grant Date $ISh

Bernhard Woebker3 5/23/2011 20000 12.83 127652

Jerry Wong2 11/29/2010 15000 11.81 67071

JochenWitte24 11/29/2010 20000 11.81 89428

These amounts do not reflect compensation actually received Rather they reflect the share based compensation valuation for financial

reporting purposes The assumptions used to calculate the value of these stock option grants are set forth in Note 11 of the Notes to the

Consolidated Financial Statements included in this Form 10-K for fiscal year 2011

These options first vest and become exercisable with respect to 25% of the shares subject to the option nine months after the grant date

and thereafter vest and become exercisable with respect to 2.78% of the shares subject to the option each month thereafter subject to the

option holders continued employment or service relationship with the Company The options are subject to potential acceleration under

Mr Wongs Retention Incentive Agreement with Versant

These options were granted from the 2005 Equity Incentive Plan and vest ratably over the twelve months beginning 3/11/11 subject to the

option holders continued employment or service relationship with the Company

These options were modified by the separation agreement between Jochen Witte and the Company to accelerate 12 months of vesting as

of Mr Wittes termination date June 30 2011

Equity-Based Long Term Incentive Compensation We do not have any program plan or practice that requires us to grant

stock options to Versants executive officers on specified dates however we generally but not exclusively consider stock

option grants to Versants executives on an annual basis typically following fiscal year end when preliminary results for the

preceding fiscal year are available for review by the Compensation Committee and forecasts for the following fiscal year are

presented by management for review by the Board of Directors

On May 23 2011 the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors approved the grant to Bernhard Woebker Versants

Chief Executive Officer and President of stock option pursuant to the Companys 2005 Equity Incentive Plan in order to

provide Mr Woebker with an appropriate equity incentive The option entitled Mr Woebker to potentially purchase up to

20000 shares of Versant Common Stock at an exercise price of $12.83 per share which price is equal to 100% of the fair

market value of share of Versant common stock on the date of grant The option vests and becomes exercisable ratably on

monthly basis over the twelve month period beginning March 10 2011 the date of Mr Woebkers appointment as Chief

Executive Officer and President and will generally expire on the earlier of ten years after the date of grant or ii seven

months after Mr Woebker ceases to be employed by the Company or an affiliate of the Company
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Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year-End Fiscal Year 2011

The following table shows all outstanding equity awards held by our Named Executive Officers at the end of fiscal year 2011

including Jochen Witte who remained on the Board of Directors as of October 31 2011 Certain of the stock option awards

shown in this table those granted in fiscal year 2011 are also reported in the Grants of Plan-Based Awards table above

Option Awards

No of securities Equity incentive plan

underlying awards Number of

unexercised options securities underlying Option Option
at October 31 2011 unexercised Exercise Expiration

Name Exercisable unearned options Price Date

Bernhard Woebker 186 4.10 8/22/2015

2000 3.00 6/15/2015

2000 6.13 8/22/2016

3929 22.00 8/22/2017

4000 30.50 8/22/2018

4000 15.06 8/22/2019

2000 2000 10.58 8/22/2020

11666 8334 12.83 5/23/2021

Total 29781 10334

Jerry Wong 7800 6.80 6/27/20 16

6500 18.18 2/26/2017

10000 20.98 11/29/2017

14583 417 12.47 11/25/2018

9582 5418 18.80 11/30/2019

3750 11250 11.81 11/29/2020

Total 52215 17085

Jochen Witte 2800 10.50 1/24/2012

875 3.50 3/31/2012

4200 27.50 3/31/2012

500 3.69 3/31/2012

20000 10.37 3/31/2012

20000 20.98 3/31/2012

20000 12.47 3/31/2012

17222 18.80 3/31/2012

10555 11.81 3/31/2012

Total 96152

These options were granted from the 2005 Directors Stock Option Plan when Mr Woebker was an Outside Director and

vest 50% on each of the first two anniversaries of the date of the grant These options are fully exercisable on the date of

grant but the unvested shares are subject to repurchase by the Company

These options were granted from the 2005 Equity Incentive Plan and vest ratably over the twelve months beginning

3/11/11 subject to the option holders continued employment or service relationship with the Company

These options first vest and become exercisable with respect to 25% of the shares subject to the option nine months

after the grant date and thereafter vest and become exercisable with respect to 2.78% of the shares subject to the option

each month thereafter subject to the option holders continued employment or service relationship with the Company
These options are subject to potential acceleration under Mr Wongs Retention Incentive Agreement with Versant

On March 10 2011 Versant Corporation and Jochen Witte the Companys then President and Chief Executive Officer

agreed to Mr Wittes resignation and entered into separation agreement Pursuant to the terms of Mr Wittes

separation agreement the vesting of Mr Wittes Versant stock options was accelerated by 12 months and his then

outstanding vested Versant stock options will continue to be exercisable until March 31 2012

Mr Witte resigned as President and CEO of the Company as of March 10 2011 but remained part time employee until

June 30 2011 and Board Member until November 28 2011
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Item 12 Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters

Our only class of voting securities is our Common Stock The following table presents information regarding the beneficial

ownership of our Common Stock which includes certain securities exercisable for or convertible into Common Stock as

of February 17 2012 by

each shareholder known by us to be the beneficial owner of more than 5% of our Common Stock

each of our directors

each Named Executive Officer as defined below under Executive Compensation Versants Named Executive

Officers and

all current directors and executive officers as group

The percentage of beneficial ownership for the following table is based on 2931424 shares of Common Stock outstanding as

of February 17 2012 Unless otherwise indicated below the
persons

and entities named in the table have sole voting and sole

investment power with respect to all shares beneficially owned subject to community property laws where applicable Shares

issuable upon the exercise of options and warrants within 60 days of February 17 2012 that is April 17 2012 are deemed to

be outstanding and to be beneficially owned by the person holding such options or warrants for the purpose of computing the

number of shares beneficially owned and the percentage ownership of Common Stock of such person but are not deemed to be

outstanding and to be beneficially owned for the purpose of computing the percentage ownership of Common Stock of any

other person Unless otherwise indicated each beneficial owner listed below maintains mailing address of do Versant

Corporation 255 Shoreline Drive Suite 450 Redwood City California 94065

Shares of Common Stock Beneficially

Owned

Number Percentage of

Name of Beneficial Owner of Shares Shares Outstanding

5% Shareholders

Nantahala Capital Management LLC 339784 11.6%

100 First Stamford Plaza Second Floor

Stamford Connecticut 06902

Renaissance Technologies LLC 190000 6.5%

800 Third Avenue 33rd Floor

New York New York 10022

Andalusian Capital Partners LP3 182385 6.2%

Two Greenwich Office Park Suite 300

Greenwich CT 06831

Skellig Capital Management LLC 157722 5.4%

117 East 55th Street

New York NY 10022

Punch Associates Investment Management Inc 147902 5.0%

3601 West 76th Street Suite 225

Edina Minnesota 55435
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Beneficial Ownership Continued

Shares of Common Stock Beneficially

Owned

Number Percentage of

Name of Beneficial Owner of Shares Shares Outstanding

5% Shareholders

Directors and Executive Officers

Jochen Witte 86977 3.0%

Bernhard Woebker7 58840 2.0%

Jerry Wong8 67133 2.3%

Uday Bellary9 30060 1.0%

Anthony Bettencourt
10

4000

Robert Brammer 4000

William Henry Delevati
12

29600 1.0%

Herbert May 25529

All directors and executive officers as group persons 306139 10.4%

Based solely on information contained in Form 13F filed by Nantahala Capital Management LLC with the Securities and

Exchange Commission on February 13 2012

Based solely on information contained in Schedule 3G filed by Renaissance Technologies LLC with the Securities and

Exchange Commission on February 13 2012

Based solely on information contained in Schedule 13D/A filed by Andalusian Capital Partners LP with the Securities and

Exchange Commission on September 22 2011

Based solely on information contained in Schedule 13G filed by Skellig Capital Management LLC with the Securities and

Exchange Commission on February 13 2012

Based solely on information contained in Schedule 13G filed by Punch Associates Investment Management Inc with the

Securities and Exchange Commission on February 2012

Includes 86 shares of Common Stock subject to options exercisable within 60 days of February 17 2012

Includes 40115 shares of Common Stock subject to options exercisable within 60 days of February 17 2012

Includes 58464 shares of Common Stock subject to options exercisable within 60 days of February 17 2012

Includes 30060 shares of Common Stock subject to options exercisable within 60 days of Febniary 17 2012

10 Includes 4000 shares of Common Stock subject to options exercisable within 60 days of February 17 2012

11 Includes 4000 shares of Common Stock subject to options exercisable within 60 days of February 17 2012

12 Includes 28600 shares of Common Stock subject to options exercisable within 60 days of February 17 2012

13 Includes 25529 shares of Common Stock subject to options exercisable within 60 days of February 17 2012

Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans

This information is provided under the heading Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans in Item

of this report
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Item 13 Certain Relationships and Related Transactions and Director Independence

Related Party Transactions Policy and Procedures

Excluding compensation whether cash equity or otherwise any related party transaction involving Company director or

executive officer must be reviewed and approved by the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors Any member of the Audit

Committee who is related party with respect to transaction under review may not participate in the deliberations or vote on

the approval or ratification of the transaction Related parties include any director or executive officer any nominee for election

to the Board certain shareholders and any of their immediate family members as defined by SEC regulations To identify

any related party transaction the Company requires each director and executive officer to complete each year questionnaire

requiring disclosure of any transaction in which the director executive officer or any immediate family member might have an

interest In addition the Board of Directors determines annually which directors are independent under the rules of the

NASDAQ Stock Market and reviews any director relationship that would potentially interfere with his or her exercise of

independent judgment in carrying out the responsibilities of director

Certain Related Party Transactions

The Companys Articles of Incorporation and Bylaws contain provisions that limit the liability of directors and require the

Company to indemnify directors and executive officers against expenses judgments fines settlements and other amounts

actually and reasonably incurred in connection with any proceedings arising out of their services to the Company Under those

Articles of Incorporation to the extent permitted under the California General Corporation Law directors are not liable to the

Company or its shareholders for monetary damages arising from breach of their fiduciary duty of care as directors In

addition the Company has entered into an indemnity agreement with each director and executive officer that provides for

indemnification of the directors and executive officers against certain liabilities that may arise by reason of their status or

service as director or executive officer The Company purchases insurance to cover claims or portion of any claims made

against its directors and executive officers These provisions and arrangements do not however affect liability for any breach

of directors duty of loyalty to the Company or its shareholders liability for acts or omissions not in good faith or involving

intentional misconduct or knowing violations of law liability for transactions in which the director derived an improper

personal benefit or liability for the payment of dividend or distribution in violation of California law Such limitation of

liability also does not limit directors liability for violation of or otherwise relieve our directors or executive officers from the

necessity of complying with federal and state securities laws or affect the availability of equitable remedies such as injunctive

relief or rescission In addition certain executive officers of the Company have certain employment and/or retention incentive

agreements with the Company which are summarized above under Executive Compensation Employment Contracts

Termination of Employment and Change-in-Control Agreements

Other than these indemnification arrangements and the compensation of directors and Named Executive Officers as described

elsewhere in this Proxy Statement to the Companys knowledge there has not been since the beginning of fiscal year 2011 and

there is not currently proposed any transaction in which the Company was or is to be participant in which the amount

involved exceeds 120000 or one percent of the average of Versants total assets at year end for the last two completed fiscal

years and in which any director executive officer 5% shareholder or any of their immediate family members as defined by

SEC regulations had or will have direct or indirect material interest

Director Independence

The Board has determined that directors Uday Bellary Anthony Bettencourt Robert Brammer William Henry Delevati and Dr

Herbert May qualify as independent directors under the rules of The NASDAQ Stock Market The NASDAQ independence

definition includes series of objective tests including that director may not be Company employee and that the director

has not engaged in various types of business dealings with the Company In addition as further required by the NASDAQ
rules the Board of Directors has made subjective determination as to each independent director that no relationship exists

which in the opinion of the Board of Directors would interfere with the exercise of such directors independent judgment in

carrying out the responsibilities of director
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Item 14 Principal Accountant Fees and Services

The independent registered public accounting firm of Grant Thornton LLP was selected to serve as the Companys independent

registered public accountant to perform the audit of the Companys financial statements for the fiscal years ended October 31

2011 and 2010

The table below sets forth the aggregate audit fees audit-related fees tax fees and all other fees billed for services rendered by

the Companys principal accountant in our fiscal years ended October 31 2011 and 2010

Fiscal 2011 Fiscal 2010

Audit Fees 392225 399907

Audit-Related Fees

Tax Fees

All Other Fees

Total All Fees 392225 399907

Audit Fees These amounts include aggregate fees billed for professional services rendered in connection with Grant Thornton

LLPs audit of Versants annual consolidated financial statements for fiscal 2010 and fiscal 2011 the reviews of Versants

consolidated financial statements included in its Quarterly Reports on Forms 0-Q for each of those fiscal years and the

attestation services for the statutory audits of international subsidiaries

Audit-Related Fees These amounts include professional services rendered in connection with certain regulatory

filing made by the Company

Tax Fees We did not incur any Tax Fees during these periods

All Other Fees We did not incur any Other Fees during these periods

Policy on Audit Committee Pre-Approval of Services Performed by the Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Audit Committees policy is to pre-approve at the beginning of each fiscal
year

all audit and permissible non-audit services

to be provided by the independent registered public accounting firm during that fiscal year The Audit Committee
pre-approves

these services by authorizing specific projects within the categories of service outlined above In addition the Audit Committee

may also pre-approve particular services on case-by-case basis

The Audit Committee considered the services listed above to be compatible with maintaining Grant Thornton LLPs

independence

PART IV

Item 15 Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

The exhibit list in the Exhibit Index is incorporated herein by reference as the list of exhibits required as part of this report
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15d of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 the Registrant has duly caused this

amendment to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned threunto duly authorized

VERSANT CORPORATION

Dated

February 28 2012 Is Jeny Wong

Jerry Wong

Vice President Finance ChiefFinancial Officer

Duly Authorized Officer Principal Financial Officer

and Principal Accounting Officer

Is Bernhard Woebker

Bernhard Woebker

President and Chief Executive Officer

Duly Authorized Officer and Principal Executive Officer

and Director

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 this report has been signed below by the following

persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated

Is Bernhard Woebker

Bernhard Woebker

President and Chief Executive Officer February 28 2Q12

Is Jerry Wong

Jerry Wong

Directors

Uday Bellary

Vice President Finance ChiefFinancial Officer

Director

Director

February 28 2012

February 28 2012

February 28 2012

Anthony Bettencourt

Robert Brammer

William Henry Delevati

Director

Director

February 28 2012

February 28 2012

Herbert May

Director Februaiy 28 2012

By the signatures set forth below the undersigned pursuant to the duly authorized power of attorney filed with the

Securities and Exchange Commission have signed this Amendment No on Form 0-K/A on behalf of the
person

indicated

Is Bernhard Woebker Attorney-in-fact February 28 2012

Bernhard Woebker

Is Jerry Wong Attorney-in-fact February 28 2012

Jerry Wong
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EXHIBIT INDEX

Incorporated by Reference

Exhibit

Number Exhibit Description

Agreement and Plan of Merger with Poet

2.01 Holdings Inc dated September 27 2003 by

and among the Registrant Puma Acquisition

Inc and Poet Holdings Inc

Amendment to Agreement and Plan of Merger

2.02 dated as of January 20 2004 by and among
the Registrant Poet Holdings Inc and Puma

Acquisition Inc

Share Purchase and Transfer Agreement dated

as of September 13 2004 between Poet

2.03 Software GmbH and ems ePublishing AG and

attached list of annexes thereto translated to

English from the original German text

Amended and Restated Articles of

3.01 Incorporation of the Registrant filed with the

California Secretary of State on March 18
2004

Certificate of Amendment of Amended and

3.02 Restated Articles of Incorporation of the

Registrant filed with the California Secretary

of State on August 22 2005

3.03 Registrants Amended and Restated Bylaws

10 01 Registrants 2005 Equity Incentive Plan as

amended

Forms of Stock Option Agreements and Stock
10.02

Option Exercise Agreements under Registrants

2005 Equity Incentive Plan

10 03 Registrants 2005 Directors Stock Option Plan

as amended

Forms of Stock Option Grants and Stock
10.04

Option Exercise Agreements under Registrants

2005 Directors Stock Option Plan

10 05
Registrants 2005 Employee Stock Purchase

Plan as amended

Forms of Enrollment Form and Subscription
10.06

Agreement under Registrants 2005 Employee

Stock Purchase Plan

Form File No Filing Date Exhibit

8-K 000-28540 09/29/03 99.10

S-8 333-130601 12/22/05 9904

S-8 333-159931 06/12/09 99.03

S-8 333-1306O1 12/22/05 99.06

Filed

Herewith

Registrants 1996 Directors Stock Option Plan
10.07

as amended as of July 30 2003 and related

documents

S-8 333-107956 08/14/03 4.06

S4/A 333110444 02/02/04 2.20

8-K 000-28540 09/17/04 01

S-8 333-113871 03/24/04 4.01

8-K 000-28540 08/26/05 3.10

8-K 000-28540 03/02/07 3.01

S-8 333-174018 05/06/11 99.01

S8 333 130601 12/22/05 9902

S-8 333-174018 05/06/11 99.05
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Incorporated by Reference

Exhibit Filed

Number Exhibit Description Form File No Filing Date Exhibit Herewith

Registrants 1996 Employee Stock Purchase
10-K 000-28540 02/15/05 10.0210.08

Plan as amended as of August 17 2004 and

related documents

Registrants 1996 Equity Incentive Plan as

S-8 333-87922 05/09/02 4.0510.09 amended as of April 18 2002 and related

documents

Poet Holdings Inc Amended and Restated
S-8 333-113871 03/24/04 4.0510.10

1995 Stock Plan and Forms of Stock Option

Agreement and Exercise Notice thereunder

Poet Holdings Inc 1999 Director Option Plan

10.11 and Forms of Director Option Agreement and S-8 333-113871 03/24/04 4.06

Director Option Exercise Notice thereunder

Poet Holdings Inc 2001 Non Statutory Stock
10.12

Option Plan and Forms of Stock Option
S-8 333-113871 03/24/04 4.07

Agreement and Exercise Notice thereunder

Form of Letter from Registrant to option
10.13

holders of Poet Holdings Inc regarding
S-8 333-113871 03/24/04 99.01

assumption of options by Registrant

Form of Indemnity Agreement entered into by
10.14

Registrant with each of its directors and 10-K 000-28540 02/15/05 10.09

executive officers

10.15
Form of Amendment to Versant Corporation SB-2 07/16/96
Stock Option Agreement

10.16
Joint Employment Agreement and Managing

lO-Q 000-28540 09/09/09 10.03
Director Service Contract with CEO

10.17
Retention Incentive Agreement with Chief

lo-Q 000-28540 09/09/09 10.04
Financial Officer

Registration Rights Agreement dated

10.18 December 28 1998 between the Registrant and l0-KSB 000-28540 03/31/99 10.35

the parties listed on the Schedule of Investors

attached thereto

Supplement dated June 28 1999 to

10.19 Registration Rights Agreement among the 8-K 000-28540 07/13/99 10.04

Registrant and the parties listed on the

Schedule of Investors attached thereto

Office Building Lease dated March 23 2007

10.20 between Versant Corporation and CA- lO-Q 000-28540 6/13/07 10.01

Shorebreeze Limited Partnership

Separation Agreement between Thomas Huben
10.21 and Versant Gmbh dated as of December lOQ 000-28540 03/13/09 10.01

2008

First Amendment dated September 2009 to

10.22 Office Building Lease dated March 23 2007 l0-Q 000-28540 09/09/09 10.01

between Versant Corporation and CA
Shorebreeze Limited Partnership
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Incorporated by Reference

Exhibit Filed

Number Exhibit Description Form File No Filing Date Exhibit Herewith

English Summary of Office Building Lease
10.23

dated July 17 2009 between Versant Gmbh 10-Q 000-28540 09/09/09 10.02

and DIC DP Hamburg Halanreie Gmbh

Joint Transition and Separation Agreement

10.24
dated as of March 10 2011 between Versant

l0-Q 000-28540 06/14/11

Corporation and Versant GmbH and Jochen

Witte

21.01 Subsidiaries of the Registrant
10-K 000-28540 01/30/2012 21.01

23.01
Consent of Grant Thornton LLP Independent 10-K 000-28540 01/30/2012 23.01

Registered Public Accounting Firm

Certification of Chief Executive Officer

31.01 pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley

Act of 2002

Certification of Chief Financial Officer

31.02 pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley

Act of 2002

Certification of Chief Executive Officer

32.0 pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley

Act of 2002

Certification of Chief Financial Officer

32.02 pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley

Act of 2002

l0l.ins XBRL Instance Document 10-K 000-28540 1/30/2012 10l.ins

l0l.sch XBRL Schema Document 10-K 000-28540 1/30/2012 101.sch

lOl.cal XBRL Calculation Linkbase Document 10-K 000-28540 1/30/2012 101cal

l01.pre XBRL Presentation Linkbase Document 10-K 000-28540 1/30/2012 101.pre

l01.lab XBRL Label Linkbase Document 10-K 000-28540 1/30/2012 l01.lab

lOl.def XBRL Definition Linkbase Document 10-K 000-28540 1/30/2012 lOl.def

This exhibit is being furnished rather than filed and shall not be deemed incorporated by reference into any filing in

accordance with Item 601 of Regulation S-K

Management contract or compensatory plan

This exhibit is an English summary of foreign language document pursuant to Rule 306 of Regulation S-I

126



Appendix to Annual Report to Shareholders

Executive Officers Directors Corporate Information

Uday Bellary

Chief Financial Officer

Bernhard Woebker GreenVolts Inc Principal Offices

President Versant Corporation

Chief Executive Officer Anthony Bettencourt 255 Shoreline Drive Suite 450

President Chief Executive Officer Redwood City CA 94065

Coverity Inc 650 232-2400

Jerry Wong Website www.versant.com

Vice President Finance Robert Brammer

Chief Financial Officer Chief Executive Officer Independent Auditors

and Secretary Brammer Technology LLC Grant Thornton LLP

San Francisco California

William Henry Delevati

Paul McCullugh Independent Consultant Transfer Agent

Executive Vice President Computershare

Sales and Marketing Herbert May 480 Washington Boulevard

Independent Consultant Jersey City NJ 07310

Bernhard Woebker

President Chief Executive Officer

Versant Corporation

Availability of Annual Report on Form 10-K and 10-K/A

copy of the Companys Annual Report of Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended October 31 2011 filed on January 302012

as amended by the Form 10-K/A filed on February 28 2012 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission is

available to Versant shareholders free of charge upon written request to Secretary Versant Corporation 255 Shoreline

Drive Suite 450 RedwoQd City California 94065

This annual report contains forward-looking statements within the meaning ofSection 21E ofthe Securities Exchange Act of 934

and Section 7A of the Securities Act of 933 We caution investors thatforward-looking statements are only predictionsforecasts

or estimates are not guarantees or assurances ofourfuture performance and are subject to sign jfIcant risks and uncertainties Our

actual results and performance may differ materially from the results and performance anticipated by any forward-looking

statements due to these risks and uncertainties Some ofthe important risks andfactors that could cause our results andperformance

to differ from results or performance anticipated by this report are discussed in Item JA of this report Risk Factors which

you should read carefully We undertake no obligation to revise or update any forward-looking statement to reflect any future

events or circumstances or for any other reason


